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Importanat key figures

Important key figures
01/01-31/12/2008 01/01-31/12/2007
Revenue

1

Change

mEUR

583,0

266,5

118,8%

mEUR

735,0

576,0

27,6%

EBITDA

mEUR

72,5

63,7

13,8%

Net profit1

mEUR

36,2

47,4

-23,6%

in EUR

4,23

4,70

-10,0%

- diluted

in EUR

4,24

4,70

-9,8%

Cash flow from operating activities

mEUR

15,6

17,9

-12,8%

Cash flow from financing activities

imEUR

-1,2

5,8

-/-

Free cash flow

mEUR

14,4

23,6

-39,0%

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

Changes

1

Revenue (annualised)
1

Earnings per share1
- basic1
1

1

Total Assets

mEUR

584,7

331,7

76,3%

- thereof cash and cash equivalents

mEUR

72,6

38,9

86,6%

Liabilities1

mEUR

443,2

256,2

73,0%

mEUR

89,7

45,5

97,1%

mEUR

141,5

75,4

87,7%

in %

24,2

22,7

6,6%

3.179

2.800

13,5%

- thereof bank liabilities
2

Shareholders equity
2

Equity ratio

Number of employees on the reporting date

1
2

from continuing operations
Including minority interests
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Letter to shareholders

Letter to shareholders
Dear shareholders, employees and friends,
It would perhaps seem somewhat odd to describe the past financial year 2008 merely as “eventful”. What
started as the subprime crisis in 2007 developed over the course of the past year into a financial crisis before finally escalating into a long-lasting economic crisis that continues to dominate headlines around the
world today. The world around is rapidly changing.
With this in mind, we, as the members of the Management Board of AURELIUS, are pleased to be able to
convey positive news to you once more. AURELIUS can look back on a very successful year, and is continuing to enjoy a profitable path of growth. Our sales more than doubled year on year, from EUR 266.5 million to EUR 583.0 million. EBITDA from continuing operations improved from EUR 63.7 million to EUR 72.5
million. The proportion of earnings from operational business rose particularly significantly. While the
positive one-off effects of the negative difference amounts from the capital consolidation occurring in the
initial consolidation (“bargain purchase”) contributed to over 80 percent of EBITDA in 2007, the corresponding proportion of EBITDA fell to just around 18 percent in 2008, or EUR 13.4 million. In contrast, negative
one-off effects that resulted from existing restructuring expenditure and provisions for anticipated
restructuring expenditure of new Group subsidiaries amounted to EUR 13.0 million compared with EUR
11.6 million in the previous year.

Operational strength
The net profit was not able to match the levels achieved in the previous year. At EUR 36.2 million, this figure was around 24 percent below the previous year’s value of EUR 47.4 million. The reasons for this included
the high positive one-off effects in the previous year and the significantly worse result from discontinued
operations compared with the previous year. In 2007, while the acquisitions during the year of large companies such as the La Source Group and Wellman International meant that a higher bargain purchase was
posted in the same year, the scheduled depreciation was stated only on a pro rata basis.
Nevertheless, despite these special effects on the balance sheet, we have every right to remain proud of
the operational performance of the Group. This is also reflected in the individual financial statements of
AURELIUS AG. Net profit almost tripled, rising from EUR 6.8 million to EUR 19.4 million. At the same time,
the company had liquid assets amounting to EUR 21.8 million at its disposal. There are no financial liabilities.
As in the previous year, we would like you as a shareholder in AURELIUS to continue to profit from our company’s positive growth this year. At the Annual General Meeting to take place in Munich on 6 July 2009
the Management Board and Supervisory Board will therefore propose an increase in the dividend to EUR
0.50 per share. This means that we will pay out a total dividend of EUR 4.7 million to our shareholders.

Prominent acquisitions in 2008
The number of subsidiaries in our group also continued to grow. During the financial year 2008, we
conducted a total of six acquisitions. Alongside the fashion mail-order business Mode & Preis, the IT
services provider connectis, the premium beverages producer Berentzen and the teleshopping specialist RTL Shop (Channel21 from 2009), in December we purchased the largest British mail-order book
retailer, Book Club Associates, and a further traditional company in the form of Blaupunkt. Due to the
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The Management Board of AURELIUS AG (from left to right: Dr. Dirk Markus, Ulrich Radlmayr, Gert Purkert, Donatus Albrecht)

time delay between signing the deal and closing the transaction in the first quarter of 2009, the acquisitions of BCA and Blaupunkt will be included in the AURELIUS consolidated financial statements for
the first time in the financial year 2009.
Once again we successfully convinced major international corporations that we are the right partner
for complex corporate hive-offs. Arcandor, Sunrise, the RTL Group, Bertelsmann and Robert Bosch all
recognized the “good home” that AURELIUS can provide for their former subsidiaries.

Well prepared for 2009
Even though it must be assumed that the current very negative economic environment will persist into
2010, we feel well prepared for the challenges ahead of us. With equity of more than EUR 140 million and
over EUR 70 million in cash as at the balance sheet date, the AURELIUS Group has extremely sound financial foundations. The currently restrictive lending policies of the banks need hold no fear for AURELIUS,
since we can finance our acquisitions almost exclusively from our own funds.
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The current crisis represents considerable opportunities for us that we want to exploit to our advantage increasingly over the coming months. Numerous companies are now confronted with an increased
need for finance and are consequently considering the option of spinning off their non-core business.
As a reliable partner to medium-sized companies and international corporations, we can therefore offer
an attractive alternative source of finance and can profit from the rising demand for alternative financing options.

Join us!
At this point we would like to express our heartfelt thanks for the great commitment of our employees,
the trust demonstrated by our numerous business partners and not least the continuing confidence
shown by our shareholders, especially in what are difficult times on the stock exchange. Continue your
journey with us into a very promising future in 2009 – your confidence is what drives us!
Yours sincerely
The Management Board of AURELIUS AG
Munich, March 2009

Dr. Dirk Markus
(Vorsitzender)

Gert Purkert

Donatus Albrecht
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The Management Board
Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman
On completion of a degree in business administration and a PhD at St. Gallen, Dr. Markus worked for
McKinsey & Company for five years. His work focused on the planning and implementation of cost reduction and recapitalization programs and the implementation of new technologies. Subsequently, he founded the Mercateo AG and as a director was responsible for finance and corporate development. After the
successful sale of the company to E.on, Dr. Markus co-founded a first investment company listed at the
stock market. As member of the board liable for restructuring, he personally accompanied ten companies,
four of which he acted as responsible managing director. Dr. Markus is married and father of three small
children.
Gert Purkert
Following a degree in physics in Leipzig and Lausanne Mr. Purkert worked for McKinsey & Company and
gained experience in process improvement, cost-cutting programs and strategic reorientation. After this
he was co-founder of equinet AG in Frankfurt, an investment bank which today targets small and medium-sized German companies and employs about 120 professionals. As managing director of a subsidiary
he worked on equity investments and M&A transactions. He has participated in more than 15 transactions
and acted in two cases as the local Managing Director.

Ulrich Radlmayr
Ulrich Radlmayr studied law in Hamburg, Aix-en-Provence (France) and Munich. After his legal clerkship for the Free State of Bavaria he worked as attorney at law for P+P Pöllath + Partners for five years,
focussing on the areas of private equity and M&A. Thus he assisted a multitude of especially large volume buy-out transactions, private equity investments as well as investments in special situations of
well-known institutional investors. In 2006 he was co-founder of law firm AFR Aigner Fischer Radlmayr,
Munich. The firm is specialized on legal and fiscal transaction consulting during the purchase, sale,
restructuring and financing of companies.
Donatus Albrecht
After his studies in economics at Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität (LMU) in Munich Mr Alrecht worked
for the corporate development department of Deutsche Bahn and gained experience in process improvement, cost reductions programs as well as strategic refocusing. Subsequently, he changed his job
working in the finance business for Pricap Venture Partners AG (Thomas Mantzen Group), a venture
capital and private equity entity. Within the following six years he assisted more than 20 transactions
from seed financing to initial public offering as investment manager and authorized signatory.
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Report of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board fulfilled its advisory and control duties required by law and the company’s articles
of incorporation during the period under review. In meeting these obligations, it met four times to discuss in detail the economic situation and strategic development of the business and the Group companies. The Supervisory Board received comprehensive reports on planned acquisitions and a progress
report on the strategy implementation.
Principle topics of concern to the Supervisory Board in the financial year 2008
In the past financial year, AURELIUS AG acquired shareholdings in six companies in total. These comprised Mode & Preis, connectis, the Berentzen Group, RTL Shop (Channel21 from 2009), Blaupunkt and Book
Club Associates. The last two acquisitions were not fully completed by the year-end. The Supervisory
Board dealt intensively with the situation of each company and received ongoing reports from the
Management Board on developments in the acquisition process. The Supervisory Board also received
detailed information on the economic situation of the companies and desired conditions of sale in the
case of the sale of KWE Group to Kresta Group and in the case of the sale of a 15 percent share in
Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts (CDGP) to LaSer Cofinoga, a subsidiary of BNP-Paribas Group. The
decisions on acquisitions and disposals during 2008 were verified and supported by the Supervisory
Board. In addition, the business joined with other investors to acquire a stake in ARQUES Industries AG
of Starnberg. Before and after this process, the Supervisory Board concerned itself with the strategic
objectives of the investment and was briefed on an ongoing basis by the Management Board on the current state of discussions with the Management Board and Supervisory Board of ARQUES Industries AG.
The Supervisory Board supported the objective of the Management Board, which was to explore opportunities for closer cooperation between the two companies.
Organization and meetings of the Supervisory Board
During the financial year 2008, there were four ordinary meetings of the Supervisory Board, attended by
all members. No committees were formed due to the size of the supervisory board, which comprised
three members; all matters pertinent to the business were discussed at each meeting of the supervisory
board. Alongside the matters already noted, during the course of its meetings the Supervisory Board
dealt in particular with the topics listed below:
The focus of the meeting of 14 April was discussion of the annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements including the group management report of AURELIUS AG for the financial
year 2007 and the related audit. Moreover, the Supervisory Board was briefed on the status of preparations for the annual shareholders’ meeting.
At its meeting of 10 July the Supervisory Board undertook a review of the annual shareholders’ meeting,
the recent changes in the German Corporate Governance Code as last amended on 6 June 2008 the
impending sale of KWE Group and the current state of negotiations in relation to the Berentzen acquisition. Preparations for the capital increase to take place on 6 August 2008 were also a topic for discussion.
The meeting of 25 September discussed the current status of the realignment of the Group companies
and the official voluntary takeover bid submitted to the shareholders of Berentzen-Gruppe AG.
Furthermore, the Supervisory Board agreed a new declaration of conformity with the German Corporate
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The Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG (from left to right: Eugen Angster, Sven Fritsche, Dirk Roesing)

Governance Code that reflected the recent amendments. In its final meeting of the financial year 2008,
on 8 December the Supervisory Board received comprehensive information on the status of the ARQUES
transaction and on the degree to which budgetary planning objectives had been achieved. It also consulted with the Management Board on the current challenges and risks faced by the business and its shareholdings as a result of the global financial crisis. A detailed discussion of the topic of compliance within the AURELIUS Group also took place.
Cooperation between the Supervisory Board and the Management Board
As part of its advisory and control functions, the Supervisory Board was continuously kept informed in
detail and in a timely manner by the Management Board by means of oral and written reports and joint
meetings, in accordance with the statutory requirements. This reporting extended in particular to the
position of the business, business development and business policy. The Supervisory Board continued to
receive information on market developments and the Group companies even outside the regular cycle of
meetings. As part of the monthly reporting, the latest key financial data was discussed in detail and compared against budgetary planning and the previous year’s performance. The chairman of the Supervisory
Board was in constant contact with the chairman of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board
reviewed the principle planning documents and the documents of the financial statements, and confirmed their accuracy and suitability. The Supervisory Board examined and discussed all reports and documents that it received as required. There were no reservations in relation to the activities of the
Management Board.
The Supervisory Board concerned itself with general questions of business planning, in particular financial, investment and personnel planning. It was involved in all decisions that were of essential importance to the AURELIUS Group. The Supervisory Board approved all matters that were submitted to it by
the Management Board for agreement in accordance with the articles of incorporation or rules of proce-
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dure of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board has at all times been of the opinion that the
Management Board has conducted its business properly and has taken all requisite measures effectively and in a timely manner. This also applies to the appropriate measures relating to risk provisioning and
compliance. The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the Management Board has undertaken all the
measures incumbent on it according to section 91 (2) of the German Companies Act (AktG) in a suitable
form, and that the risk monitoring system required under the provisions is operating effectively.
Corporate Governance
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board discussed the recommendations and suggestions of
the German Corporate Governance Code on several occasions and issued a declaration of conformity in
accordance with section 161 AktG. This statement has been made permanently available to shareholders
on the website www.aureliusinvest.de. A complete transcript of the declaration of conformity is printed
in the Corporate Governance Report that forms part of the 2008 Annual Report. The Supervisory Board
conducts regular reviews of the efficiency of its activities.
Audit of the financial statements for the financial year 2008
The financial statements of AURELIUS AG and the consolidated financial statements for the financial
year 2008, including the accounting records and the management report including the consolidated
management report, have been audited by Deloitte & Touche GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,
Munich. This audit also considered the measures implemented by the Management Board in relation to
the early recognition of risks that could place the success and continuation of the business in jeopardy.
The auditor raised no reservations and certified this in an unqualified audit opinion.
The financial statements of AURELIUS AG prepared by the Management Board in accordance with the
German accounting principles are not required by law to be audited but have been audited on a voluntary basis by Deloitte & Touche GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, together with the
accounting records. The audit did not lead to any reservations. Therefore the financial statements of
AURELIUS AG as at 31 December 2008 have been issued with an unqualified audit opinion.
The consolidated financial statements and consolidated management report of AURELIUS AG for the
financial year 2008, prepared by the Management Board voluntarily in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), have been audited by Deloitte & Touche GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, together with the accounting records. From the point of view of AURELIUS the audit did not lead to any material reservations. Therefore, with the exception that individualized
details as required by IFRS 3 were not disclosed, the consolidated financial statements were issued with
an unqualified audit opinion.
The financial statements of AURELIUS AG, the consolidated financial statements and the management
report including the consolidated management report, as well as the audit reports of the auditor and the
proposal of the Management Board relating to the appropriation of profit, were submitted to the
Supervisory Board for its examination in a timely manner. The Supervisory Board examined in detail all
documents submitted to it in accordance with section 170 (1) and (2) AktG and the audit reports of the
auditor.
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The Supervisory Board agreed with the findings of the audit conducted by Deloitte & Touche GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich. In conclusion to its own examinations the Supervisory Board
found that it had no reservations, and it accordingly approved the financial statements and consolidated
financial statements for the financial year 2008. The financial statements are therefore adopted. The
Supervisory Board also approved the management report submitted by the Management Board.
The Management Board has proposed to pay a dividend of EUR 0.50 per share from the net profit of
AURELIUS AG of EUR 19,413,145.37. This corresponds to a distribution of EUR 4,661,125.004. The remaining
EUR 14,752,020.37 will be carried forward. The Supervisory Board has considered and approved this proposal.
During the meeting of the Supervisory Board of 27 March 2009 in which the financial statements were
approved and adopted and the consolidated financial statements were approved, representatives of the
auditor took part in the relevant agenda items and reported on the significant findings of their audit of
the financial statements and consolidated financial statements. In particular, the auditor’s representatives explained the net assets, financial position and the results of operations of AURELIUS AG and made
themselves available to the Supervisory Board for the purpose of providing additional information.
Thanks
The Supervisory Board would like to thank and show its recognition to the Management Board and all
employees for their work and commitment over the past financial year.
Munich, 27 March 2009

Dirk Roesing
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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The Supervisory Board
Dirk Roesing
Chairman
After studying business administration, Dirk Roesing began his working career in 1986 in the Group
Auditing and Treasury departments at Daimler Benz AG. From 1994 to 1996 he headed the Controlling
and M&A division at VOBIS AG, a company of the Metro Group. After that he worked as European
Finance Director and German CEO of the international Amer-Sport Group. From 1997 to 2003, Dirk
Roesing was CFO of telegate. Since 2003 he is CEO of SHS Viveon AG which is listed in the Prime
Standard of the Deutsche Börse.
Eugen M. Angster
Deputy Chairman
Eugen M. Angster holds a master’s degree in Geology from the University of Munich and an MBA from
the European University Geneva. He took over the leadership of the German Centre “Haus der
Deutschen Wirtschaft” in Shanghai in the early 1990s. Following this he was a member of senior management for several years with Deutsche Telekom AG, responsible for the Asian and Pacific division. Since
2001 he has been working on the restructuring of companies immediately prior to and during insolvency. As director of Interim International GmbH, he heads the restructuring of several mid-cap businesses
and is Chairman of the Board of Directors of BRSI (Bundesvereinigung Restrukturierung, Sanierung und
Interim Management) (German Restructuring Association).
Sven Fritsche
Attorney at law and tax consultant Sven Fritsche has been a partner at RP RICHTER & PARTNER since
June 2005. Prior to that, he was a partner at Peters, Schönberger & Partner GbR in Munich for many
years. His professional focus is on private equity and venture capital, he executes company acquisitions
and advises small and medium-sized companies in the field of M&A. Mr. Fritsche also has many years
of experience as a restructuring and corporate law consultant.
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Corporate Governance Report
Due to its listing on Open Market of the FWB Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse, which is not an organized or
regulated market as defined in section 2 (5) German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), AURELIUS AG is not
subject to the obligation to provide an annual statement on the extent to which the company adheres to
the recommendations of the “Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code”.
Nevertheless, the principles of sustainable and transparent company management form a key element of
the AURELIUS company culture. For this reason, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board share
the view that they have a self-imposed obligation to follow the recommendations of the German
Corporate Governance Code, as far as possible.
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG hereby voluntarily declare that they
have complied with the recommendations of the “Government Commission on the German Corporate
Governance Code” as last amended on 6 June 2008 with the following exceptions:
No. 3.8 paragraph 2
“If the company takes out a D&O policy for the Management Board and Supervisory Board , a suitable deductible shall be agreed.”
The D&O insurance policy for the Management Board and the Supervisory Board has no deductible. The
Management Board and Supervisory Board of AURELIUS only take important operational decisions after
detailed consultation. In this way, it can be ensured that decisions are accorded a high degree of careful
preparation. Therefore, there is no additional benefit to be gained from negotiation of a deductible for the
D&O policies.
No. 4.2.3 paragraph 2
“A cap shall be agreed by the Supervisory Board for exceptional, unforeseen developments.”
AURELIUS is a growth company and its share option plan also provides an additional incentive for the company’s employees. The company does not wish to stifle the above-average commitment of its employees
by reducing the extent to which they can participate in any exceptional rise in value of the company.
No. 5.1.2 paragraph 1
“The Supervisory Board [...] shall work with the Management Board to ensure long-term succession planning.”
Despite its commercial experience, the Management Board of AURELIUS is characterized by a comparably low average age. At the current time, the company does not believe such long-term planning would contribute any significant value.
No. 5.1.2 paragraph 2
“An age limit shall be established for members of the Management Board.”
The comparably low average age of the members of the Management Board coupled with the operational success of the company clearly indicate that age limits on the members of the Management Board
contribute no value per se to a company. The company therefore does not consider this recommendation
of the Code to be appropriate.
No. 5.3.1 et seq.
“Depending on the specific situation of the company and the number of its Supervisory Board members, the
Supervisory Board shall convene expert committees.”
The Supervisory Board of AURELIUS currently comprises three members. In view of this size, the formation of committees is not considered to be a sensible step.
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No. 5.4.6 paragraph 2
“The members of the Supervisory Board shall receive remuneration comprising a fixed and a performancerelated element.”
The company considers a fixed amount to be sufficient recompense for the expenditure incurred from
exercising a role on the Supervisory Board .
No. 7.1.2
“The consolidated financial statements shall be publicly accessible within 90 days of the end of the financial year; interim reports shall be publicly accessible within 45 days of the end of the reporting period.”
The fact that many of the subsidiaries of AURELIUS are undergoing a process of reorientation and that the
company is constantly involved in buying and selling holdings mean that preparation of the accounting
figures provided is often extremely complex. For this reason, the company is not yet able to guarantee
compliance with the stipulated periods of time. Nevertheless, the company is striving to continue to reduce the amount of time required for the publication of interim reports.
Declaration according to section 161 AktG
The current declaration on the recommendations of the “Government Commission on the German
Corporate Governance Code” is published regularly on the company’s website at www.aureliusinvest.de.
Deviations from the recommendations of the Government Commission as last amended on June 6, 2008,
were most recently disclosed and published voluntarily in the declaration of September 26, 2008.
Close cooperation between the Management Board and the Supervisory Board
The Management Board and Supervisory Board work closely together in the interests of the company. In
particular, the chairman of the Management Board and the chairman of the Supervisory Board are in
regular contact and consult with each other on the strategy, the business performance and the risk management of the company. In all cases, the chairman of the Management Board has informed the chairman
of the Supervisory Board immediately and comprehensively of all major events of significant importance
to the assessment of the company’s situation, planning and business performance, risk situation, risk
management and compliance, and to the management of the company. Deviations from plans and targets have been explained to the Supervisory Board on a case-by-case basis by the Management Board.
Moreover, the strategic orientation of the company is regularly fine-tuned in agreement with the
Supervisory Board . In the case of transactions that are of essential importance, especially those that have
a significant effect on the net assets, financial position or results of the company, the Supervisory Board
has specified reservations of consent in favour of the Supervisory Board .
There were no consultancy and/or other service or work agreements between members of the Supervisory
Board and the company during the year under review. No conflict of interest that requires immediate
disclosure to the Supervisory Board occurred with regard to members of the Management Board or the
Supervisory Board. Detailed information on the activity of the Supervisory Board and its cooperation with
the management report is included in the Report of the Supervisory Board of this annual report.
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Accounting and independent audit
The consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG and its subsidiaries and all interim reports are prepared according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as published by the
International Accounting Standards Board. The general shareholders’ meeting 2008 elected Deloitte &
Touche GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, as auditor for the financial year 2008. For the
audit of the financial statements, the Supervisory Board has complied with the rules of the German
Corporate Governance Code by obtaining, before nomination of the auditor, a declaration of the auditor
regarding the commercial, financial, personal and/or any other relations, that might give cause for concern
in relation to the auditor’s independence, between the auditor and its corporate bodies and audit team
leaders on the one side and the company and the members of the company's corporate bodies on the
other side.The declaration included a statement of the extent to which in the previous financial year other
services had been provided for the company, especially in the consultancy sector, or had been contractually agreed with the company for the following year.
Moreover, the Supervisory Board of the company has agreed with the auditor of the financial statements
that the chairman of the Supervisory Board shall be informed immediately of any potential reasons for
exclusion or conflict of interest that occur during the course of the audit, including in the event that these
are immediately resolved. Finally, it was agreed with the auditor that he would report without delay on all
of the conclusions and incidents established during the course of auditing the financial statements that
are of significance for the activities of the Supervisory Board, and that he would inform the Supervisory
Board or include the relevant facts in the audit report in the event that he, during the course of auditing
the financial statements, found any facts that would mean an inaccuracy in the declaration issued by the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board regarding the Code.
Remuneration of the Management Board
The Supervisory Board takes advice on the structure of the system of remuneration for the Management
Board and regularly examines the appropriateness of this system.The criteria governing the appropriateness of the remuneration includes in particular the responsibilities of the corresponding Management
Board member, his personal performance, the performance of the Management Board and the economic
situation, results and future outlook.
The fixed non-performance-related remuneration of the Management Board of AURELIUS AG in the financial year 2008 amounted to EUR 120 thousand each for Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert and EUR 155 thousand each for Donatus Albrecht and Ulrich Radlmayr. Alongside the fixed payment, two members of the
Management Board also received a performance-related variable pay component in the financial year
2008, which amounted to EUR 200 thousand in the case of Ulrich Radlmayr and EUR 40 thousand in the
case of Donatus Albrecht. The two members of the Management Board Donatus Albrecht and Ulrich
Radlmayr both participate in the AURELIUS share option plan (“SOP 2007”). For a detailed breakdown we
refer to the explanations given in item 5.6 “Share-based payments”. The fair value of the share options as
at 31 December 2008 amounts to EUR 644 thousand for Donatus Albrecht and to EUR 187 thousand for
Ulrich Radlmayr. Moreover, Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert hold a significant proportion of the shares in
AURELIUS AG and therefore benefit from rises in the company’s trading price should they sell their shares.
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Remuneration of the Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is determined by the shareholders’ meeting and is regulated
in the articles of association of AURELIUS AG. It is based on the economic position and success of the company. The responsibility of the individual members of the Supervisory Board does not have an effect on
the amount of remuneration. Remuneration of the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG in the financial year
amounted to EUR 10 thousand each for Dirk Roesing, Eugen M. Angster and Sven Fritsche, in the form of
a fixed fee. Moreover, the members of the Supervisory Board hold shares in AURELIUS AG and benefit from
rises in the company’s trading price. No other variable payments are currently made to the members of
the Supervisory Board .
Share ownership of the Supervisory Board and the Management Board
As at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2008 shares in AURELIUS AG were held by members of both
the Management Board and the Supervisory Board . Share ownership on the part of the individual members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board exceeding one percent of the shares issued by
the company is broken down below:

Share ownership of board members (direct and indirect)
shares held

proportion of share capital

3,081,364

33.1 %

Gert Purkert

770,014

8.3 %

Dirk Roesing

110,000

1.2 %

Dr. Dirk Markus

Share transactions conducted by the Supervisory Board and the Management Board
Since the shares in AURELIUS AG are listed on Open Market of the FWB Frankfurter Wertpapierbörse,
which is not an organized or regulated market according to section 2 (5) WpHG, the Management Board
and Supervisory Board are under no statutory obligation under section 15a WpHG to publicly disclose the
acquisition or sale of shares in AURELIUS AG. Nevertheless, the Management Board and Supervisory Board
have voluntarily undertaken to report transactions in accordance with section 15a WpHG.
Regular information about the company
In the interests of a transparent communication policy, AURELIUS publishes regular and timely press releases, notification of securities transactions in accordance with section 15a WpHG, annual and interim
reports, information on the shareholders’ meeting and a detailed financial calendar on the website of the
company at www.aureliusinvest.de. Moreover, interested parties may apply to the company’s Investor
Relations department in person for information and further more detailed explanations.
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AURELIUS shares
International capital markets began to increasingly feel the effects of the financial crisis over the course of 2008. While at the start of the year it was mostly only financial firms feeling the squeeze on funds
due to higher write-downs, by the end of 2008 there were already clear signs that the crisis was spreading to the real economy. Against this backdrop, virtually all of the world’s stock markets reported one
of their worst years for share prices since the end of World War 2. By the end of the year, the German
DAX index was down by 40.4 percent to 4,810 points. The SDAX, the index for German-listed companies
with low market capitalisation, fell by as much as 46.1 percent to 2,801 points.

Trends in the leading stock indexes and AURELIUS shares
31/12/2007

31/12/2008

Change

Dow Jones Industrial Average

13,265

8,776

-33.8%

Nikkei 225

15,308

8,860

-42.1%

DJ Euro Stoxx 50

4,401

2,444

-44.5%

Dax 30

8,076

4,810

-40.4%

MDax

9,865

5,602

-43.2%

SDax

5,192

2,801

-46.1%

AURELIUS AG

35,89

15,90

-55.7%

AURELIUS AG shares were unable to escape this adverse trend either. During the reporting period the
share price fell 55.7 percent to EUR 15.90 compared to EUR 35.89 at the end of 2007. Thus despite a generally positive press and business situation, the trend in AURELIUS shares was consequently negative.
The appreciable fall in price could well be attributed above all to the outstanding development in the
previous year: in 2007 AURELIUS shares recorded growth of 370.4 percent by year-end from a starting
price of 7.63. Compared with the share price at the end of 2008, the return over the two-year period is
still 44.4 percent p.a.
As a result of the adverse conditions on the stock markets, there was also a reduction observed in the
volume of trading in AURELIUS shares. At an average of 3,843 shares a day, nearly one and a half times
as many shares were traded on the XETRA electronic trading system in 2008 than in the previous year
(2007: 2,625 shares). However, if we add the trading turnover on the floor of the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange, the average volume of daily trades fell by 18.4 percent from 6,051 shares to 4,939 shares a
day.
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Development of AURELIUS shares in comparison to Dax, MDax and SDax
from 1 January 2007 to 31 December 2008

AURELIUS

Dax

MDax

SDax

To bolster the interest of national and international investors in AURELIUS, the company significantly
ramped up its investor relations work in 2008. At numerous roadshows in Frankfurt am Main, London,
Paris as well as Riyadh and Kuwait, AURELIUS proactively made contact with existing and new investors
and extended its international network. Furthermore, the company held presentations at a number of
capital market conferences and had individual meetings with numerous potential investors.
Proof of the profound trust that investors still have in the business model and management capabilities of AURELIUS became evident on 6 August 2008: despite a generally weak capital market environment, the company succeeded in placing 306,750 new shares with selected institutional investors as
part of a capital increase. The issue price of EUR 16.30 per share more or less corresponded to the average closing price for AURELIUS shares over the past five trading days. This transaction increased the
company’s share capital by EUR 306,750.00 to EUR 9,322,250.
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Key data for AURELIUS shares
WKN
ISIN
Ticker symbol
Stock exchange
Market segment
Share capital
Number and class of shares
IPO

AOJ K2A
DE000A0JK2A8
AR4
Xetra, Frankfurt, Berlin-Bremen, Hamburg, Munich, Stuttgart
Open Market
9,332,250 euro
9,332,250 non-par value bearer shares
26 June 2006
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MANAGEMENT REPORT OF AURELIUS AG
The business model
AURELIUS AG is a medium-sized industrial holding based in Munich, specialising in acquiring companies in turnaround and special situations. In this niche segment of the privat equity market it focuses
on companies and divisions of companies which are up for sale due to
•
•
•
•
•

a revision of core business fields,
disagreements at shareholder level,
unresolved succession problems,
personal events affecting the management level,
losses caused by internal or external factors.

Within the structure of the AURELIUS Group, the holding includes a total of 26 intermediate holdings.
These include the 13 operating groups as well as shelf companies for the integration of further acquisitions. The operating groups break down into a total of 79 subsidiaries and seven associated companies.
There are no profit and loss transfer agreements of any kind between the Holding Company and its
intermediate holdings.
The diversity and complexity of the problems that such exceptional circumstances or transitions create frequently result in sellers being overtaxed with the restructuring of the given company. What is
more, delays in making sales decisions can worsen the general earnings position even further.
AURELIUS is therefore regularly in a position to acquire these businesses at a price below their book
value, in some cases at negative purchase prices. Hence, the equity capital that exceeds the purchase
price and the cash funds realized by negative purchase price payments partly finances the initial losses
and the costs of the restructuring in the form of a restructuring contribution. Purchase prices which fall
short of the fair value of equity result in bargain purchase gains which are recognised through profit
and loss in accordance with IFRS 3.
Given the favourable purchase price and the fact that the companies are essentially financed by equity capital, AURELIUS is generally also not under pressure to sell. Once a subsidiary company regains its
competitiveness and enjoys stable operations, AURELIUS only considers selling the business on to interested investors if the latter are also prepared to pay an appropriate price, so AURELIUS generates income on the Group level from both the operating success of the subsidiary companies as well as from
their re-sale.
In selecting its targets AURELIUS does not restrict itself to specific industries. The company prefers to
acquire mid-cap businesses with sales revenues of EUR 20 million to roughly EUR 500 million. In financial year 2008 AURELIUS consolidated three companies fully for the first time, while another two companies were included in the AURELIUS consolidated financial statements at equity. A fully consolidated
Group of companies was deconsolidated during the reporting period. Part of an associated company
was sold. Additional acquisitions were made at the beginning of the new financial year 2009.
When identifying suitable acquisition targets AURELIUS is able to rely on a broad network of decisionmakers from corporate groups as well as M&A consultants and investment banks. These acquisition
specialists identify approximately 600 to 700 companies every year, of which around 15 percent are
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subjected to a detailed evaluation. AURELIUS conducts this due-diligence process by using internal and
external specialists from the legal, fiscal and financial fields. This ensures that the due diligences are
carried out quickly and efficiently, and are of a consistently high quality.
At all stages, AURELIUS follows a policy of relying almost exclusively on the skills and expertise of its
own personnel: from the acquisition, through the process of restructuring to the negotiations on the
final sale. This accelerates necessary decisions and affords AURELIUS a competitive advantage both in
the pre-selection of appealing target companies as well as in operating management. It is therefore
particularly important to motivate new staff for our company and continue to drive the development
of internal expertise on a constant basis.
The restructuring of an investment company is headed up by an interim manager who is supported by
the "AURELIUS Task Force". This comprises specialists from various fields such as procurement and sales,
contracting, production and many other areas. To ensure that the “interim” management put in place
by AURELIUS is as committed as possible, the managers generally also hold a financial stake in the subsidiary for which they assume responsibility. This allows the management to identify strongly with the
company they are managing and enhances the financial incentive to restructure the firm successfully
in the long run. After a company has been successfully restructured the “interim” management deployed by AURELIUS gradually hands over operational responsibility to a new management team, or back
to the previous management, and steps back from the firm.
Depending on the state of the investment company at the outset, the restructuring process generally lasts
for a period of 12 to 24 months. However, AURELIUS does not pursue a strategy of re-selling its investments
as quickly as possible; instead it plans to keep acquired companies as part of the group in the medium to
long term. On average this means a period of four to eight years, during which AURELIUS provides the subsidiaries with a "Good Home".
Depending on the specific situation of the business, various restructuring measures are introduced and
implemented shortly after the acquisition.
These include:
• analysis of existing and, in many cases, the introduction of modern EDP systems,
• development of new sales and marketing concepts,
• set up of new management structures,
• negotiations with banks and financing partners on the restructuring of financing,
• establishment of new supplier relationships and settlement of old liabilities,
• redundancy plans, agreements with works councils and trade unions,
• improvements in working capital,
• restructuring of production processes,
• replacement of intra-group relationships,
• streamlining of product portfolio,
• targeted debt collection and/or sale of old receivables.
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3-phase model for sustainable value enhancement

1 ACQUISITION

2 RESTRUCTURING

Ample supply of target
companies

■

Task Force of more than 20
restructuring managers

■ Bank lending restitutions (“Basel II”)
■ Succession problems of family

■

Focus on key functional areas
such as
- negotiating / purchasing
- process optimization
- sales stimulation

businesses
■ Large Caps focusing on core
competencies
■ purchase at rock bottom

as well as generell restructuring

3 SALE

Strong exit market due to
continuing strong demand
■ from strategic investors wanting

their core businesses to grow
from financial buyers with
cheap leverage

By applying this approach, AURELIUS sets itself apart from companies that follow the "classic
approach" of the private equity sector. The acquisition targets of such companies generally record sales
revenue of more than one billion euro. The massive sums of investment required to purchase such companies are mostly financed by private equity investors from loan capital, and only to a very small extent
from equity capital. In order to minimise the major financial burden caused by this "leveraging" as
quickly as possible, financial resources are usually withdrawn from the acquisition target and the earnings power is maximised by successful short-term cost-cutting measures. Close cooperation with and
the active support of the management are disregarded just as much as the long-term impacts of the
measures introduced to maximise profits. AURELIUS rises clearly above this business model:
As an industrial holding, AURELIUS focuses on the future market success of its subsidiary companies.
Given the state the businesses initially find themselves in and the related problems, it is generally inevitable that cost-cutting measures have to be deployed. However, as no loan capital is used there are
no additional financial burdens for the acquired company to cope with. Once the restructuring process
has been successfully completed, AURELIUS is not under pressure to build on short-term achievements
to generate financial reflux. By successfully repositioning the company and investing in its competitiveness, the mid-term investment horizon promises a steady and stable flow of income from operating
business.
The Group's planning and controlling processes, which are based on a system of profit/loss and cash
flow-oriented key performance indicators, are therefore also focused on the generation of positive cash
flows. The weekly and monthly reports for the individual subsidiaries thus present the progress of the
restructuring process in a manner that can be readily followed.
Depending on the industry, the demand for restructured companies with stronger revenue flows is subject to their condition and general economic trends. On the one hand it is strategic investors which
express an interest in acquiring the businesses, generally competitors from the same or related sectors.
A common special trait in this groupof these investors is that they are willing to invest regardless of
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fluctuations in economic activity. On the other hand, growing interest is also expressed by financial
investors who, betting on the successes of previous restructuring measures, suspect there is further
earnings and growth potential in a company, or who pursue so-called "buy & build" strategies.
AURELIUS' business model works under both weak and strong market conditions. Under weak market
conditions there tend to be more businesses in crisis and so it is generally easier to make acquisitions
under better conditions. However, the restructuring of the acquired company must then also be carried
out in a more difficult environment, which is more costly. Nonetheless, this additional expense can be
minimised thanks to the many years of experience contributed by the Management.
In a benign market environment there are fewer businesses in crisis, weaknesses are easier to cover up
and sales prices on the market tend to be good. The restructuring itself is much easier in times of an
economic upswing since sales and profits are boosted by economic trends and the demand for wellpositioned businesses grows.
From the perspective of the Management Board, In the near future, the supply of companies on the
market in special situations will tend to rise in the near future. Significant factors leading to the spinoff of divisions from groups and to the sale of medium-sized businesses currently include:
•
•
•

the growing focus of large companies on their core business areas,
the tight liquidity conditions of many medium-sized companies, especially given the very restricted
lending policies being applied by banks at present,
the increasing number of unresolved succession problems as a result of demographic changes
trends throughout Europe.

The ongoing financial crisis and the economic downturn expected as a result increase the pressure on
shareholders to sell. Conditions on the market are currently being strongly influenced by the first two
factors outlined above.
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Disclosures according to the German Takeover Guideline Implementation Act
The disclosures required in accordance with section 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) are
explained in detail below:
The share capital of AURELIUS AG comprises 9,322,250 no-par bearer shares each having a notional
share of the share capital equal to EUR 1.00 per share. There are no limitations on voting rights or share
transfers under the law or the Articles of Association. The Management Board is not aware of any other
agreements between shareholders.
The Company is aware of the following direct or indirect equity investments in effect as of the reporting date and conferring voting rights of more than 10 percent of the share capital: Dr. Dirk Markus
directly and indirectly holds 3,081,364 individual shares or 33.1 percent of the voting rights of AURELIUS
AG.
There are no shares with special rights conferring authority to exercise control. There are no special
rules governing the exercise of shareholder rights by shareholders that are employees of AURELIUS AG.
According to section 5 paragraph 1 of the Articles of Association, the Management Board is composed
of at least one member. The number of members is determined by the Supervisory Board. If there are
several members, the Supervisory Board can appoint a Chairman of the Management Board and a
Deputy Chair of the Management Board. The Supervisory Board has the power to revoke an appointment as member of the Management Board and the Appointment as Chairman of the Management
Board for cause. The Articles of Association include no further restrictive provisions with respect to the
recall of Management Board members vis-à-vis the provisions under sections 84 and 85 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and section 31 of the German Labor-Management Co-determination Act
(MitbestG). Changes to the Articles of Association are adopted by the Annual General Meeting in accordance with section 119 (1) no. 5 AktG.
The Annual General Meeting of 10 July 2008 authorized the Management Board, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital on one or several occasions in the period up
until 9 July 2013 by a total of up to EUR 4,507,750.00 by issuing up to 4,507,750 new no-par shares
having a notional share of the share capital of EUR 1.00 in exchange for a cash or an in-kind capital contribution (Authorized Capital 2008/I)
The Annual General Meeting of 10 July 2008 authorized the Management Board to acquire treasury
shares up to ten percent of the current share capital by or before the end of 9 January 2010. The authorization may be exercised by the Company or by third parties for the account of the Company, in total
or in partial amounts, on one or several occasions, in pursuit of one or several purposes. At the election
of the Management Board, the purchase shall be transacted on the stock exchange or by means of a
public tender offer to all of the Company’s shareholders.
The Management Board is further authorized to transact the disposal of the acquired treasury shares
in a manner other than via the stock exchange or by means of a tender offer to all shareholders if the
acquired treasury shares are disposed of at a price that is not materially lower than the price of the
Company shares quoted on the stock exchange at the time of the disposal. To that extent, the sharehol-
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ders’ subscription rights are excluded. However, this authorization shall only be in effect with the proviso that the shares sold subject to the exclusion of the subscription rights according to section 186 (3)
sentence 4 AktG do not, in total, exceed ten percent of the share capital on the date on which the resolution is adopted or – if the latter amount is lower – the share capital existing on the issue date of the
new shares. The maximum amount of ten percent of the share capital is reduced by the pro-rata amount of the share capital attributable to any shares having been issued within the framework of a capital increase subject to exclusion of subscription rights in accordance with section 186 (3) sentence 4
AktG during the term of this authorization.
The Management Board is further authorized to transact the disposal of the acquired treasury shares
in a manner other than via the stock exchange or by means of a tender offer to all shareholders to the
extent that this is done against an in-kind capital contribution for the purpose of business combinations or the acquisition of companies or parts of companies. To that extent, the shareholders’ subscription rights are excluded.
The Management Board is further authorized to use the acquired treasury shares to service stock options granted to selected members of the Management Board, to selected members of the management
boards of companies affiliated with the Company and selected employees of the Company and of its
affiliates.
The shares may also be used to satisfy conversion rights from convertible bonds, convertible loans or
warrants issued by the Company or member entities of the Company’s corporate group. To that extent,
the shareholders’ subscription rights are excluded.
The Management Board is further authorized to cancel part of all the purchased treasury shares without additional resolutions by the Annual General Meeting. They may also be cancelled by a simplified
procedure without capital reduction by adjustment of the pro-rated notional share of the Company’s
share capital allocated to the remaining shares with no par value. The cancellation may be restricted to
a part of the acquired shares. The authorization may be exercised on multiple occasions. If the cancellation is executed by the simplified procedure, the Management Board is authorized to adjust the number of shares with no par value in the Articles of Association.
The above authorizations to dispose of or cancel treasury shares may be used in whole or in part, on
one or several occasions, individually or in combination.
There are no material agreements to which the Company is a party that are contingent upon a change
of control in consequence of a takeover offer. There are no disclosures to that effect, nor with respect to
agreements concerning compensation entered into by and between the Company and members of the
Management Board or employees in the event of a takeover offer, since such agreements also do not
exist.
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Overall general economic conditions and industry
environment
Financial crisis extends into an economic crisis in 2008.
The global financial crisis, already showing initial perceivable effects on the stock exchanges in 2007, also
dominated the capital markets throughout 2008 and spread to the real economy in the second half of the
year. In the first quarter of 2008 the German economy continued to grow by 1.5 percent compared with
the preceding quarter, and while the first symptoms of downward trends appeared on the share markets,
the commodity markets kept booming until early June. The repeatedly arising concern of pronounced
inflation led the ECB to even raise interest rates yet again in summer.
With the takeover of the Bear Stearns investment bank and simultaneous risk covering by the US administration and Federal Reserve Bank it was however already clear in March that the crisis would have a far
greater impact than originally expected. In May the US administration was forced to take over the state
supervised US mortgage financing houses Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. In September the investment
bank Lehman Brothers filed for protection under Chapter 11 and shortly afterwards the former largest US
insurance AIG could only be rescued with massive state aid. In early October the German federal government declared a deposit guarantee for all private saving deposits and passed a bill on financial market stabilisation - with the crisis already knocking at Germany’s door.
The result was a global slowdown in economic growth followed by a clear collapse at the end of the year.
Growth in North America dropped from 2.1 percent in 2007 to 1.2 percent, and in Western Europe it dropped from 2.8 to 1.1 percent. Asia and Eastern Europe also registered a clear cooling of growth. A significant
economic slump across all economic regions is to be expected in 2009 attributable to the aggravating
impacts of the worldwide financial and economic crisis. Quantitative statements on the extent of this
trend are currently being revised into the red week after week.
At the beginning of 2008, the US dollar was at EUR/USD 1.47 and continued its downward trend to
EUR/USD 1.60 in mid 2008. In July, however, the trend clearly changed and the dollar gained 30 percent,
reaching EUR/USD 1.23 in October, the highest value for several years. The crude oil price followed this
trend, starting the year at round USD 100 per barrel and climbing to its highest ever price of nearly USD
150, then slumping heavily back to nearly USD 40 per barrel in December.
Financing opportunities drastically impaired for holding companies
The economic crisis also significantly affected the development of German holding companies. According
to the annual statistics published by the BVK (Association of German Capital Holding Companies) for
2008, the number of companies registered in the association as members increased, but so did the capital managed by them and reached EUR 35.1 billion (2007: EUR 31.9 billion). The inflow of new capital from
fund raising only reached a volume of EUR 1.9 billion and showed a massive decline of two thirds compared with the record value of EUR 5.7 billion in the previous year.
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The upward trend observed since 2004 was therefore at an end. This is on one hand attributable to the
insecure economic situation, and on the other, many companies were able to found new funds between
2005 and 2007 and only had low new capital requirements.
Investments by German holding companies were around 14 percent below the level of the preceding year
at a total of EUR 6,393 million. After the financing stages 75.6 percent (EUR 4,826 million) of the 2008
investments flowed into buyouts; 13.7 percent (EUR 877 million) were spent on financing expansions; 6.8
percent (EUR 439 million) were invested in venture capital, and 3.9 percent (EUR 251 million) were used in
total for turnaround financing and replacement capital.
The volume of investment sales (exits) of holding companies registered in Germany reduced by nearly 50
percent in comparison with the previous year from EUR 2,909 million to EUR 1,577 million, the major reasons being the capital market situation dramatically intensifying in the course of the year and reserved
buying in the M&A market. The number of fully or partially sold enterprises correspondingly dropped to
575 from 697 in the previous year.
In terms of exit volume, 35 percent (EUR 545 million) of sales were realised as trade sales. Sales of holding
companies accounted for around 30 percent (EUR 467 million), whereas sales in the form of IPOs and share
sales only accounted for 9 percent (EUR 140 million) of the total volume.
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Reports on the holdings
The following notes reflect the developments in the individual subsidiaries. According to the requirements of IFRS 8, the individual companies are allocated to the segments "Services & Solutions" (S&S),
“Industrial Production” (IP) and “Retail & Consumer Products” (RCP). Discontinued operations are identified as such (DCO).

DFA-Transport
und Logistik GmbH

DFA – Transport und Logistik GmbH (S&S)
The special goods logistics company DFA – Transport und Logistik has many years’ experience in providing construction logistics services. Alongside activities in supplying and dismantling construction
sites in the fields of civil engineering and mining, demolition and transport and disposal of low-level
radioactive waste are among the company’s key competences. The company is involved in major projects both in Germany and across Europe.
Current Developments
DFA – Transport und Logistik has been part of the AURELIUS Group since July 2006. The reorganization
of the company has now been drawn to a successful close, and a growth phase has commenced. As a
logistics specialist, DFA – Transport und Logistik has a modern automobile fleet, comprising a total of
276 specialist vehicles. For this reason, fuel costs represent a significant item in the company’s costs.
During the past year, company performance was negatively affected by the steep rise in the price of diesel, in particular during the first half of the year.
Future growth is focused on the international expansion of the business. In this process, DFA –
Transport und Logistik is concentrating on Eastern Europe and Austria. The company has opened a new
branch in Poland. It is expected that the Polish government will publish a range of tenders for major
state construction projects in the coming years, and DFA – Transport und Logistik is well positioned to
benefit in this area thanks to its good track record. In the run-up to the European Football
Championship 2012, which will be played in Poland and Ukraine, the Polish government is planning
massive projects including the expansion of its motorway network by around an additional 2,000 kilometers.
In addition, the company made preparations to acquire a 50 percent share in a Czech transport company. The new venture, which will operate under the name D & S - Logistik Bohemia, expects significantly increased demand in the Czech Republic, particularly in the area of infrastructure expansion projects. In many countries of Eastern Europe, infrastructure expansion is being supported by funding from
the European Union.
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Richard Scherpe Group (IP)
Richard Scherpe Group is a printing service provider specializing in the production of tags, labels and
forms. The company is a single-source provider, covering the entire process chain from receiving data
via IT interfaces, planning and supervising printing processes right down to taking care of the logistics
for orders it has processed.
Current Developments
As a print services provider, Richard Scherpe Group is operating in a considerably highly competitive
market segment. Following the completion of the major reorganizational measures, some smaller
measures to adapt the company’s structure to the current market situation were undertaken during
the year under review. Around the middle of the year, Richard Scherpe Group sold two commercial properties at its Norderstedt and Düren sites using a sale-and-lease-back model.
The worsening of the economic conditions in Germany over the course of 2008 also had tangible effects on demand in the print sector, which is sensitive to economic cycles. Richard Scherpe Group reacted
to this accordingly, introducing cost-cutting measures.
The company has further expanded its position as a leading provider in the area of downstream services, such as logistics, distribution and billing for groups/organizations with decentralized structures.
The company is actively encouraging this integrated approach to its service provision by implementing
targeted measures in staff development. The Norderstedt site is leading the way in this respect. The
service-oriented approach adopted by the company improves its opportunities to acquire market share
on its own merits in a market that is currently undergoing a phase of consolidation.
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GHOTEL Group (S&S)
GHOTEL Group operates hotels and apartment buildings in central locations in major German cities
such as Hamburg, Hanover, Frankfurt, Stuttgart and Munich. With its modern business and leisure
hotels spanning a total of 16 locations, GHOTEL Group provides a relaxing atmosphere, high-class conference rooms and contemporary living solutions such as short-term accommodation. GHOTEL primarily targets travelers who are looking for value for money in the mid-class price segment and a high
quality of service.
Current Developments
GHOTEL Group has now completed its realignment process, and is on a profitable growth course.
During the second quarter, the company exercised its option to extend the lease agreements for its
Landwehrstraße and Leonrodstraße sites in Munich. This has allowed GHOTEL Group to secure its firstclass locations at the currently attractive market conditions through until 2019, while also increasing
the Group's existing long-term planning security.
Based on the positive performance, the former owner of the hotel chain, Deutsche Post, agreed to sell
its final two apartment buildings to GHOTEL Group on 1 October. Moreover, the company is currently
evaluating additional new sites for hotels to contribute to the Group’s future growth.
At the start of the year the company was already involved in takeover negotiations for apartment
blocks at a further four locations, including Berlin and Frankfurt am Main. The company expects to
bring the negotiations to a successful conclusion during the first six months of 2009.
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Schabmüller Group (IP)
As a leading international manufacturer of electric drive systems, Schabmüller Group is primarily focused on the development, production and sale of electric AC and DC motors. The company’s products are
used in fork-lifts and yachts, for example, as well as in generators and components for hybrid systems.
Schabmüller Group develops its innovative solutions according to customer-specific requirements for
end-to-end systems, comprising motors, gearboxes, steering systems and control electronics.
Current Developments
In 2008, Schabmüller Group signed a cooperation agreement on the proposed development of new
technologies for direct drive and hybrid systems. The Group is currently working on the detailed design
of the drive systems, while its development partners are undertaking the basic research. The prototype
phase in a major, future-oriented project on hybrid technology for construction machinery has been
brought to a successful conclusion.
The company has also been able to acquire further orders and customers for its AC motors.
Schabmüller Group is focusing increasingly on opportunities for cooperation in development, in order
to secure its future growth prospects. In this respect, Schabmüller Group has been awarded a contract
from an international manufacturer of agricultural machinery to develop a near-production prototype
motor.
As expected, the proportion of sales contributed by the newly developed generation of AC motors had
already increased to over ten percent by the end of the year. At the same time, the introduction of the
new technology also resulted in a successful expansion of the customer pool with the addition of
several major customers.
In order to further straighten its AC division, Schabmüller Group purchased the AC motor business of
Sauer Danfoss at the beginning of December. As part of the takeover, production will move from the
Danish site in Odense to the two current sites in Berching and Asch. Schabmüller Group’s sales will rise
significantly with this acquisition. In addition, the production capacity at Berching and Asch (Czech
Republic) will double to over 200,000 electric motors per year. In the coming year, AC motor technology
will generate around half the total revenues.
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La Source Group (formerly Quelle France) (RCP)
La Source Group is active in two fields of business. Through La Source the company is the fourth largest
mail-order company in France, while the banking arm, Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts (CDGP), is
active in the high-margin consumer loans market. The La Source catalog comprises more than 40,000
items in the areas of clothing, household goods, health and cosmetics. The company mainly focuses on
fashion and home textiles.
Current Developments
In contrast to sentiment among German consumers, a general reticence on the part of consumers has
been tangible in the French market since the beginning of 2008. Nevertheless, following an overhaul
of its e-commerce strategy and an emphasis on web and e-mail marketing, the company has succeeded in stabilizing its hitherto falling sales performance, despite a negative market environment.
A bottom-up revision of the product range also contributed, meeting with a positive reaction among
the company’s customers. Demand during the traditional summer and winter end-of-season sales at La
Source was higher than expected. The company’s competitors have also recognized that it has embarked on a course that promises success, and are currently attempting to implement similar structures.
In the new La Source Spring/Summer catalog, the company will further increase the emphasis on the
La Source brand. The Quelle brand will move further into the background in the new logo. The company
believes this will further increase its independence and remove the link between it and the German
Quelle-Versand – its former parent company – in its public appearance.
CDGP has continued to put in a positive performance in its consumer lending business. The business
has successfully acquired further partners outside the La Source Group for participation in its store card
scheme, enabling CDGP customers to use this cash-free payment method at the stores in question. This
is further increasing the card’s frequency of use, raising its attractiveness to new customers.
Despite the financial crisis, CDGP therefore remains an attractive partner for traditional banking institutions. At the beginning of October, following targeted negotiations during the third quarter, AURELIUS
therefore sold a share of 15 percent in the business to LaSer Cofinoga, a subsidiary of BNP Paribas Group,
for around EUR 12.3 million. This has reduced the AURELIUS shareholding in CDGP to 35 percent.
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Schleicher Electronic (IP)
Schleicher Electronic develops and produces highly efficient control systems for machine manufacturing and plant engineering. The company combines the functions for operation, movement and calculation into one single controlling system. In cooperation with its clients, Schleicher Electronic develops
custom solutions ranging from single components to complex systems. The company’s customer portfolio includes international machinery constructors, from medium-sized German based firms through
to major international corporations.
Current Developments
The operative realignment of Schleicher Electronic has now been largely completed. In spite of negative trends within the machine construction sector and, consequently, increasing pressure being exerted
on margins by customers, the company has reported gratifying sales and results. The focusing of the
company’s marketing activities on new markets and an expansion of its product range have contributed significantly to these results. Further cost savings were achieved by outsourcing the IT department.
Schleicher is planning the sale of its commercial property at its main site in Spandau, Berlin. In selecting a new site, the company is focusing on an optimal layout of the available space in accordance with
the needs of its production and warehousing activities. At the same time, a new working hours timetable was implemented. The introduction of a 38-hour week as well as flexible weekly working hours
makes it easier for the company to adapt its staff requirements to current production capacities. At the
same time, a performance-related salary component was introduced. The IG Metall trade union gave its
complete consent to the changes.
Business development is focused on international expansion within Europe. During the fourth quarter,
Schleicher Electronic concluded sales cooperation agreements with ten leading plant engineering
groups and medium-sized providers to put in place the optimum conditions for further growth. The
negative performance of business with existing customers in Germany, caused mainly by the economic
downturn, has already been offset by growth abroad.
Furthermore, the company is increasingly transforming itself from being a product supplier for control
systems into a systems integrator for complex solutions. Now Schleicher Electronic is designing more
and more systems that combine drive trains, motors and user interfaces as well as control systems.
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Wellman International (IP)
Wellman International is the market leader in the production of polyester fibers as well as Europe’s largest recycler of used PET bottles. Overall, the company recycles roughly ten percent of all of Europe’s
collected PET containers. About 80 percent of the recycled granulate from PET is processed into technical polyester fibers. The remaining 20 percent is sold to the packaging industry where demand is soaring.
Current Developments
During the first half of 2008, the company strengthened its sales structures in terms of staffing and
improved their quality, especially in Germany. With the technical expertise of its sales force, Wellman
International will be able to adopt a more solution-based approach to its customers’ requirements in
the future (solution-based selling). The company has obtained the services of recognized specialists in
its sector for this purpose.
In its polyester fibers business, Wellman International successfully implemented sustainable price
increases of around 5 percent in the market during the third quarter. At the same time, the company
concluded long-term agreements for around 60 percent of the annual requirement for PET bottles.
Wellman International successfully secured a three-year credit line of EUR 38 million from a subsidiary
of Bank of Ireland in September. This gives the company the long-term backing it needs for its international expansion plans.
The global fall in the prices of raw materials had a negative effect on the company’s performance in the
fourth quarter. While the company was able to keep the prices of its own products at a largely unchanged high level, it is anticipated that the market will demand price reductions in 2009.
The worsening credit crisis is causing companies in the raw materials sector to be subject to increasingly restrictive conditions enforced by credit insurers. Irrespective of the situation of one or two companies, it is impossible to obtain insurance for customer receivables across the entire sector at the
moment. As a consequence, payment terms in the sector have fallen, causing the financing of current
assets to become more expensive in the short term. Nevertheless, Wellman International currently has
sufficient credit lines available to it.
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Einhorn Mode Manufaktur (RCP)
Einhorn Mode Manufaktur is a leading provider of high-quality men’s shirts. The company’s products
are characterized by their high levels of quality, technical innovation in fabric and unmistakable design
featuring stylish details. In addition to its Einhorn brand-name products, the company also produces
trademark products for other well-known brands such as Tommy Hilfiger.
Current Developments
Expansion of the key-account management structures has been continued in 2008. Contracts were signed with major customers during the second quarter, adding renowned men's outfitters such as Peek
& Cloppenburg and Hirmer to the portfolio. This marks an important milestone in the company’s development.
In the course of focusing on high-margin product areas, Einhorn Mode Manufaktur decided to close its
women’s clothing division following delivery of the autumn/winter collection. The company will now
position itself in the market exclusively as a manufacturer of high-quality men’s shirts. Moreover, it
achieved a significant improvement in the structure of its current assets. Inventories were further reduced and accounts receivable from deliveries have been reduced on a sustainable basis. In reaction to the
supply bottlenecks experienced at the start of the year, a change in management personnel was initiated in the logistics division. As a consequence, the delivery rate of the shirt manufacturer attained
almost 100 percent.
Einhorn Mode Manufaktur is currently developing a new sales concept, to help reduce inventories even
further. This concept includes such measures as a repositioning of the Factory Outlets.
Significant savings were made by outsourcing the raw materials warehousing. By locating the
warehousing on-site at the corresponding contract manufacturer’s operations in Eastern Europe, the
company has achieved a considerable reduction in production-related logistics costs.
Einhorn Mode Manufaktur initiated legal proceedings against another European textiles producer due
to a trademark infringement. The company infringed trademark rights through its unauthorized use of
the Einhorn logo in its own company logo. Munich Regional Court decided in favor of Einhorn Mode
Manufaktur at the beginning of 2009, and awarded the company compensation.
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Westfalia Van Conversion (IP)
As Germany’s market leader Westfalia Van Conversion produces high quality camper vans for recreational purposes on a contract basis with prestigious automotive manufacturers. The vehicles are based on
existing models of vans, which are converted into camper vans. The company has more than 50 years
experience in the market and in 2007 Westfalia Van Conversion started the production of camper vans
under its own name as well as continuing contracted work.
Current Developments
The sales structure of Westfalia Van Conversion was thoroughly overhauled during the course of the
year. Sales expansion focused on the French, Italian, Polish and Russian markets, in addition to Germany.
In the second quarter, to strengthen its existing sales network Westfalia Van Conversion held its first
ever international dealers conference. Alongside an introduction to new products and sales promotions, the company also presented the new corporate identity of Westfalia Van Conversion. The corporate identity, including the company logo and website, have been thoroughly revamped and freshened
up.
In June the company’s desire to set new standards in design with its new vehicles was rewarded.
Westfalia was awarded the coveted, internationally recognized Red Dot Design Award for its “WestVan”
model.
During the second half of the year, the recessionary conditions in Germany and many parts of Europe
remained the main topic for discussion in the camper van market. In the third quarter, the number of
new registrations fell by 15 percent in Germany alone, year-on-year. The resulting production over-capacity generated greater price pressure on the market. Consequently, the first of Westfalia Van
Conversion’s competitors found they were no longer able to compete in the tense market environment
and were unable to meet their debts.
The sluggish state of demand remains very tangible for Westfalia Van Conversion. The company is trying to counteract this through greater marketing and press work, as well as a presence at international
trade fairs such as recently in Dusseldorf, Paris and Rimini. In order to promote sales further, the company has also started up a consumer financing program.
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Mode & Preis
Mode & Preis is a leading catalog-based mail-order company focusing on value-for-money clothing for
women, men and children, in Germany and through its subsidiaries in Slovakia, the Czech Republic and
Switzerland. Its catalog also includes products for the home and garden. The company has a very loyal
customer base in Germany and well established relations with its suppliers.
Current Developments
Following the purchase of a shareholding in the mail-order specialists in May 2008, the first stages in
the company's strategic realignment were initiated immediately. A far-reaching cooperation agreement was concluded as part of further expansion into Eastern Europe. From 2009, Mode & Preis will
benefit from further potential for growth in one of the world’s largest sales regions.
In addition, the company’s internal structures have been optimized. In addition to alterations in staffing, changes in previous service providers such as the call-center operator and logistics partner have
brought about savings of more than EUR 1 million per year.
Mode & Preis’ procurement structures have also been overhauled. As well as reducing the number of
contracted partners in the course of a supplier consolidation process, core departments such as procurement have undergone staff changes. On the sales side, the company’s e-commerce business has been
driven forward. From 2009 the sale of goods via the Internet should be the main growth driver for
Mode & Preis. The presentation of the traditional product catalog has also been redesigned. As of 2009,
Mode & Preis will appear with a new logo, and will also target younger customers.
As a mail-order specialist in the low-price segment, Mode & Preis is one of the winners of the economic downturn. Consumers’ increased sensitivity to price has meant that the number of first-time
orders rose in the fourth quarter, significantly expanding the active customer base. It is anticipated that
this trend will persist well into 2009.
In order to continue to offer goods at an attractive price level, the company is constantly revising its
supplier structures. At the end of the year, Mode & Preis was involved in advanced negotiations with
large Asian textiles producers and was meeting with interest among potential new business partners.
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connectis (S&S)
The Swiss systems integrator connectis (formerly Sunrise Business Communications) offers its clients
solutions for secure networks and applications in the voice, data and video communication sector. The
company can plan, realize, maintain and operate system solutions from a single source and is an official partner to Cisco Systems and Nortel Networks. With around 200 experts spread over a total of seven
sites, connectis is active throughout Switzerland.
Current Developments
Following the takeover of the company from the Swiss telecommunications firm Sunrise in June 2008,
the first steps towards positioning the business as an independent company have been taken. These
included the official renaming of the company from “sunrise business communications” to today’s
“connectis” at the start of the third quarter.
Long-lasting customer relations and the quality of service provided by the company meant that
connectis was able to retain an unaltered high level of orders following its spin-off from the Sunrise
Group. The further expansion of connectis has therefore continued with an unchanged workforce. With
major customers such as UBS, Rolex, Swatch and various Swiss public institutions, connectis already
occupies a good market position for future growth, and is continually expanding its customer base.
During the second half of 2008, the company concentrated mainly on expanding and bringing greater
flexibility to its own internal structures, such as those in IT, accounting, purchasing and sales. The commercial dunning system was modernized in order to improvement management of accounts receivable. In addition, an extension to payment terms was negotiated with the largest suppliers. An unprofitable site in St. Gallen was closed, and the office space consolidated. The vehicle pool has been reduced
by around 20 percent, with partial outsourcing also bringing more flexibility to this area.
Over the coming five years, connectis plans to expand its own market share in Switzerland significantly. Currently the company has a market share of around 14 percent, and is the second-largest provider
in the market. Its aim is to increase this share to around 25 percent by 2014.
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Berentzen Group (RCP)
Berentzen Group is well-established as a premium beverage manufacturer in the German market with
brands such as Puschkin Vodka, Doornkaat, Bommerlunder and the flagship brand Berentzen. For
almost 250 years the Berentzen name has been synonymous with fine distilled drinks and exceptional
taste. As the largest German licensee of Pepsi Cola and producer of health-related and refreshment
beverages, Berentzen is also thriving in the non-alcoholic beverage market. The company also sells its
core Berentzen and Puschkin brands on international markets.
Current Developments
Following the acquisition of the company with effect from 1 September, the focus of measures in the
first weeks of new ownership has been on an detailed audit of cost structures and the Berentzen
Group's budget planning.
As part of the process of identifying unprofitable sales, the company overhauled its brand business.
Contracts with partners that reported a negative margin were terminated immediately as a result.
At the beginning of December, Berentzen Group published details of the next stages of its realignment.
Due to the large deficit in its initial situation, the company was forced to make deep-reaching cuts. In
order to counteract the considerable over-capacity in production, the company closed its production
facility in Haselünne. The move to the Minden site will lead to a significant improvement in production
capacity utilization.
At the same time, the company also overhauled its sales structures. Industry specialists have been
recruited to fill important positions within the sales structure, and field sales has been outsourced. The
brand portfolio has been streamlined and from the coming year the company will concentrate on highmargin products which should improve results.
The measures that have been undertaken had a negative effect on the Berentzen Group in 2008 of around EUR 15 million. However, from 2010 the structural changes will lead to savings of around EUR 10
million per year. It is expected that the first positive effects will appear as early as 2009.
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RTL Shop / Channel21
The mail-order specialist RTL Shop markets and sells a wide assortment of goods, ranging from consumer electronics and household goods to cosmetics and fashion through its dedicated TV-shopping
channel and the Internet. After QVC and HSE24, the company is the third largest home shopping network in the German-speaking nations. Founded in 2001 as RTL Shop, the broadcaster can now be received on satellite and cable TV by around 35 million households throughout Germany. At the beginning
of 2009, the broadcaster changed its name to Channel21. Today, around 4 million customers use the
comfortable service from home, and order products from the company's diverse range.
Current Developments
Following the investment in RTL Shop on 1 September, measures initially concentrated on fleshing out
the detail of reorganization plan for the mail-order specialist, which was running a deficit. There was
particular emphasis on a careful analysis of cost structures, an overhaul of the budget planning process
and identification of the core problems in the company’s business model.
In a move to improve the cost structure with immediate effect, RTL Shop terminated consulting agreements. At the same time, proactive marketing of the transmission period during which the company
does not broadcast live shows (10pm to 10am) allowed the company to generate new revenues.
Moreover, the RTL Shop production company, which was already familiar with all production processes,
was taken over from the RTL Deutschland Group. In addition to the increase in expertise, this step has
also contributed to reducing the costs of production.
The company’s Internet activities have also been stepped up considerably. The web shop has been overhauled and a program of search engine optimization has started. Furthermore the marketing of the
web presence has been reinforced by an affiliate program and newsletters. These improvements contributed to a 10 percent sales increase in just the first few months. The company anticipates that sales
from online business will continue to rise considerably for the rest of 2009.
During the fourth quarter, improvements were made to the company’s internal structures. Unused office space and warehousing at the company’s premises have been cleared and made available for leasing. The structure of the company’s current assets has been improved. The goods warehouse was reduced in size by around 10 percent. The company implemented a comprehensive media campaign in the
run-up to the renaming of the channel as Channel21 at the turn of the year. With its new claim “Mit
besten Empfehlungen” (With the best recommendations), Channel21 is able to increase viewer loyalty
with the new brand and is also successfully distancing itself from the corporate identity of its former
parent company, RTL Deutschland.
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KWE Group (DCO)
KWE Group is the leading steel construction service provider for the chemical and petrochemical industry in Germany. The company also supplies the pharmaceuticals industry and power utilities.
The services offered by KWE Group include maintaining and servicing existing steel constructions as
well as designing and building different types of steel construction projects. Alongside industrial projects, the group also handles architecturally more demanding projects, such as in the context of amusement parks.
Current Developments
During the second quarter, after the successful operational realignment of KWE Group, AURELIUS opened negotiations on the sale of its shareholding with a strategic investor. The transaction was then successfully concluded during the third quarter of 2008. The buyer was the Austrian Kresta Group, which
is an industrial plant constructor that offers end-to-end services, from engineering via manufacturing,
assembly and insulation through to commissioning.
Despite the negative capital market environment, AURELIUS was able to prove its business model with
the first sale of a company following the completion of the realignment measures.
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KTDaythea (DCO)
KTDaythea (formerly SAG Kommunikationstechnik) is a nationwide infrastructure service provider specializing in planning, constructing and servicing cellular telephony masts as well as other constructions
and equipment in the telecommunications technology sector.
Current Developments
Over the course of the year, the realignment of KTDaythea, which was progressing well, suddenly stalled
in the second half of the year. The weakening of the German economy had a tangible impact as the company's sales worsened. In view of the intensification of the liquidity situation the first signs that further
financing would be required were already appearing at the beginning of the year. Following failed financing negotiations in the first quarter of 2009, the company was forced to apply for insolvency proceedings to be opened in February.
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Pohland Herrenkleidung (DCO)
Pohland Herrenkleidung operates 13 high-end menswear stores in Bremen, Hesse, Lower Saxony, North
Rhine-Westphalia and Rhineland-Palatinate. The company provides its discerning clientele with a highquality range of leisure fashion, business clothing and formal eveningwear. The mid-to-high price product range includes brands such as Boss, Joop, Polo Ralph Lauren and Armani.
Current Developments
The economic downturn in the second half of the year was especially noticeable in the textiles retail
business. While Pohland Herrenkleidung took measures at an early stage to further reduce its costs and
adjust to a market in recession, the company had to cope with significant falls in sales, especially in the
fourth quarter, which placed massive pressure on liquidity.
Moreover, contractual obligations originating from the period before the company was taken over by
AURELIUS forced Pohland Herrenkleidung to fulfill new rental agreements in unattractive locations by
opening new stores. This worsened the already difficult situation experienced by the company.
The burdens that emerged in the second half of the year led to AURELIUS selling its shareholding in
Pohland Herrenkleidung as part of a management buy-out during the first quarter of 2009.
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The AURELIUS Group continued its successful business operations in fiscal year 2008 and continued to
grow in a profitable manner. The operating strength of the company was demonstrated both in terms of
sales and earnings. The Group has also reached a new level based on the number of subsidiary firms with
the purchase of six businesses and the sale of only one. A crucial factor in relation to the first-time consolidation and inclusion of a subsidiary company is the closing of the transaction, as only then is full control
acquired over the company in question. For two of the six acquisitions made in the course of 2008 control
was obtained only in 2009. Of the acquisitions made in 2007, control over one company was not obtained
until 2008.
KTDaythea, connectis and the Berentzen Group were all included in the consolidated financial statements
in fiscal year 2008 for the first time as fully-consolidated subsidiaries. The investments in Mode & Preis
and RTL Shop (Channel21 from 2009) were included for the first time in the consolidated financial statements at equity. As a result of the insolvency proceedings instituted in February 2009, KTDaythea was
listed under discontinued operations.
In July AURELIUS disposed of KWE Group to a strategic investor, the Austrian Kresta Group. The disposal of
KWE Group led to the deconsolidation of the company. At the beginning of October AURELIUS also reduced its investment in Bank Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts (CDGP), which is part of La Source Group.
After selling a stake of 15 percent to LaSer Cofinoga for approximately EUR 12.3 million, which is a subsidiary of the BNP-Paribas Group, the AURELIUS holding in CDGP fell to 35 percent.

Revenue and earnings
REVENUE increased to EUR 583.0 million in comparison to EUR 266.5 million in the previous year (+118.8%).
The marked increase in revenue was mainly the result of acquiring Berentzen Group. The revenues and
earnings of subsidiaries acquired during the year will only be reflected in the consolidated financial statements from the date of the first-time consolidation, and consequently are only taken into account on a pro
rata basis. Calculated for the year as a whole, the annualised consolidated revenues for the AURELIUS
Group total EUR 735 million compared to EUR 576 million in the previous year (+27.6%).
EUR 77.9 million of the sales revenue was attributable to the Services & Solutions segment (S&S), EUR
216.5 million to Industrial Production (IP) and EUR 287.8 million to Retail & Consumer Products (RCP).
Discontinued operations generated sales revenue of EUR 98.7 million.
It was clear overall that the darkening economic clouds in Germany and in Europe were reflected in customers generally being more sensitive to prices. This applied to subsidiary companies in particular, whose
sales are directly linked to the development of the retail trade.
OTHER OPERATING INCOME rose to EUR 93.9 million from EUR 72.2 million in the previous year (+30.1%).
Amongst other things, this includes income from the recognition of bargain purchase gains derived from
the acquisition of Berentzen Group and amounting to EUR 13.4 million.
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The disposal of financial assets also contributed EUR 22.4 million, while the reversal of provisions generated revenue of EUR 12.6 million.
SHARE OF PROFIT OF ASSOCIATES rose sharply to EUR 7.2 million in comparison to the previous year's figure of EUR 1.0 million (+620.0%). One-off effects from the first-time consolidation of Mode & Preis and RTL
Shop GmbH (Channel21 since 2009) in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG totalled EUR
4.9 million. The previous year’s revenue stemmed solely from Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts.
COST OF MATERIALS increased from EUR 129.1 million in the previous year to EUR 302.9 million (+134.6%).
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES amounted to EUR 187.3 million after EUR 89.7 million in the previous year
(+108.8%). This included EUR 82.8 million in marketing costs and commissions and EUR 35.4 million in
freight and transport costs. Building expenses totalling EUR 17.3 million comprise rental expenses from
operating leases as cash items amounting to EUR 13,1 million.
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) rose from EUR 63.7 million in the
previous year to EUR 72.5 million (+13.8%).
Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets and property, plant, equipment totalled EUR 20.4 million in 2008.The explanation for the marked increase compared to the previous year is the ordinary depreciation on the non-current assets of La Source Group and Wellman International, as well as the ordinary
depreciation on the assets of Berentzen Group acquired during the year. Both of the companies acquired
in 2007 were included in the consolidated financial statements for the first time during the second half of
2007, and therefore their depreciation and amortisation were recognised pro rata in the consolidated
financial statements for fiscal year 2007. Depreciation totalling EUR 4.1 million was also recorded on financial assets. This largely relates to holdings in ARQUES Industries AG and Investunity AG, which due to permanent impairment were marked down to their fair value as of 31 December 2008.
In light of the increased write-downs and the higher interest expenditure, earnings before taxes (EBT) fell
to EUR 44.1 million compared to EUR 55.1 million in the previous year (-20.0%). After taking taxes on income, discontinued operations and minority shares into account, AURELIUS generated a NET PROFIT of EUR
36.2 million in the 2008 financial year compared to a figure of EUR 47.4 million in the previous year (23.6%). This corresponds to basic net income per share from continuing operations of EUR 4.23 after EUR
4.70 in the previous year.
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Net assets and financial position
The acquisitions made in 2008 are reflected in the significant rise of TOTAL ASSETS at AURELIUS. They
increased to EUR 584.7 million in contrast to EUR 331.7 million in the previous year (+76.3%).
NON-CURRENT ASSETS amounting to EUR 189.2 million (previous year: EUR 114.3 million) were largely
affected by the sharp increase in intangible assets to EUR 49.8 million in comparison to EUR 14.4 million
in the previous year (+245.8%). The growth is predominantly attributable to the capitalisation of trademarks and customer bases during the first-time consolidation of the newly acquired Berentzen Group.
Financial assets mainly include the interests in Mode & Preis, RTL Shop (Channel21 from 2009) and CDGP
which were consolidated at equity. In view of the contributions to earnings made by associated companies, financial assets in the financial year rose to EUR 23.8 million compared to a figure of EUR 20.5 million
in the previous year (+16.1%). CURRENT ASSETS increased to EUR 395.5 million (previous year: EUR 217.4 million). In this context there was slightly higher than average growth in cash and cash equivalents which
amounted to EUR 72.6 million in comparison to EUR 38.9 million at the end of the previous year (+86.6%).
Assets held for sale grew far more strongly than the average to total EUR 45.0 million in comparison to
EUR 7.1 million in the previous year (+533.8 %). This is largely the result of recognising KTDaythea and
Pohland Herrenkleidung as discontinued operations.
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY at AURELIUS rose to EUR 141.5 million in 2008 (previous year: EUR 75.4 million). In
addition to the positive trends in earnings, this growth was also facilitated by the capital increase in
August to EUR 9.3 million. The capital reserve increased to EUR 13.9 million in comparison to EUR 8.9 million in the previous year (+56.2%). Minority interests in equity recorded dynamic growth to total EUR 37.4
million compared with EUR 9.3 million on the 2007 reporting date (+302.2%).This increase is almost exclusively attributable to the acquisition of Berentzen Group. Accordingly, the equity ratio stands at 24.2 percent compared to 22.7 percent in the previous year.
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES increased to EUR 100.8 million (previous year: EUR 90.1 million). The rise in pension obligations to EUR 22.8 million compared to EUR 12.9 million in the previous year (+76.7%) is mostly
due to the first-time consolidation of Berentzen Group. The marked reduction in provisions from EUR 17.7
million in 2007 to EUR 6.9 million in 2008 (-61.0%) is principally thanks to the reversal of provisions at La
Source Group. The one-off restructuring expenses originally planned turned out lower than previously
expected. Non-current financial liabilities fell from EUR 27.5 million in the previous year to EUR 21.9 million (-20.4%).
CURRENT LIABILITIES rose strongly to EUR 342.4 million (previous year: EUR 166.1 million). Current financial liabilities increased from EUR 18.0 million to EUR 67.8 million in the 2008 financial year. The main items
in this respect are the pre-financing liabilities from tax of liqours of Berentzen Group as well as the investment required to finance growth at Wellman International.
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Cash flow
The CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES fell to EUR 15.6 million in 2008 compared with EUR 17.9 million in the previous year (-12.8%). The CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES dropped to EUR -1.2 million after EUR 5.8 million in the previous year.The FREE CASH FLOW amounted to EUR 14.4 million and therefore also fell short of the previous year's figure of EUR 23.6 million (-39.0%). This is largely due to the fact
that higher cash reserves were acquired in the 2007 financial year than in 2008, and that by acquiring
Berentzen Group and connectis, companies were purchased which, compared with the previous year,
demanded a higher purchase price in accordance with their market position. The CASH FLOW FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES came in at EUR 21.1 million, significantly above the previous year's level of EUR 7.1
million (+ 197.2%) thanks among other things to the increase in capital.
Planning and control processes at AURELIUS focus on generating positive cash flows. This is why the cash
flow is a key control parameter for the Group in the weekly and monthly reports of the subsidiary companies.

Employees
The three acquisitions consolidated for the first time also led to a significant increase in the HEADCOUNT
at the company. As of the reporting date on 31 December 2008, the AURELIUS Group employed a total of
3,179 full-time staff compared to 2,800 in the previous year (+13.5%). Consequently, in 2008 the group
employed an average of 3,160 staff compared to 1,769 in 2007. STAFFING EXPENSES recorded a corresponding increase to EUR 118.8 million after standing at EUR 56.1 million in the previous year (+111.8%).

Remuneration
The fixed pay of the Management Board at AURELIUS AG in fiscal 2008, which is not success-based,
amounts to EUR 120 thousand for both Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert, and to EUR 155 thousand each
for Donatus Albrecht and Ulrich Radlmayr. In addition to their fixed salaries, two Board members also
receive success-based remuneration, which in fiscal 2008 totalled EUR 200 thousand for Ulrich
Radlmayr and EUR 40 thousand for Donatus Albrecht. Both Board members, Donatus Albrecht and
Ulrich Radlmayr, participate in the AURELIUS stock option plan (“SOP 2007”). For more details please
refer to section 5.6 of the notes. The fair value of the stock options for Donatus Albrecht totalled EUR
644 thousand as of 31 December 2008 and EUR 187 thousand for Ulrich Radlmayr. Moreover, Dr. Dirk
Markus and Gert Purkert hold a significant number of shares in AURELIUS AG and participate in price
gains.
The members of the Supervisory Board received fixed remuneration in fiscal 2008 totalling EUR 30
thousand, which was split evenly between the three members. No advances or loans were extended to
anyone in the statutory bodies at the parent and subsidiary companies of AURELIUS AG, nor were any
guarantees or sureties assumed on their behalf
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Report on subsequent events
Significant events after the balance sheet date
On 18 December 2008 AURELIUS announced it had entered into an agreement to purchase the largest
mail order bookseller in the UK, Book Club Associates (BCA), from Bertelsmann AG. This transaction was
closed in January 2009. In addition to being a traditional book club with a general profile, BCA also has six
specialised book clubs which are aimed at various target groups. The client base of the company currently amounts to around 700,000 members. In financial year 2008 the sales revenue of BCA was well into the
double-digit millions and generated solely from its club model.
On 19 December 2008, AURELIUS signed contracts to purchase the trade and components business from
the Car Multimedia division of Robert Bosch GmbH, which operates in the market under the brand name
of "Blaupunkt". The deal was closed in March 2009. It is intended that the trade and components business will be managed as an independent company under the well-established and traditional brand of
Blaupunkt, and it will be positioned as a specialist in the field of "car infotainment". In addition to car radios and car hi-fi components, the Blaupunkt product range also comprises advanced navigation devices. In
the past financial year this division generated sales revenues of approximately EUR 200 million.
On 13 January AURELIUS announced the acquisition of Thales Information Systems GmbH, one of
Germany's leading IT service providers for SAP systems and customised solutions, from its French parent
company Thales. The deal was closed in January 2009. With more than 250 staff and well in excess of a
hundred successful SAP projects behind them, Thales Information Systems is one of the premium system
integrators in the SAP sector in Germany. In financial year 2008 the company generated consolidated revenues of around EUR 50 million. Reputable German and international companies from the manufacturing
and automotive sectors as well as finance, utilities and transportation rely on the expertise of Thales
Information Systems GmbH.
AURELIUS released details of yet another acquisition on 21 January, this time LD Didactic Group which was
purchased with a consortium of investors. AURELIUS acquired a 20 percent stake in the company as of 1
January 2009. Once anti-trust approval was granted on 28 February the remaining 80 percent of shares
were purchased in March 2009. The core competencies of the LD Didactic Group lie above all in the development, production and sale of laboratory furniture and systems as well as specialist literature in the field
of the natural sciences and technology. In financial year 2008 LD Didactic Group generated sales revenue
of roughly EUR 40 million and so making a negative contribution to earnings.
On 5 February AURELIUS announced the temporary suspension of collaboration talks with ARQUES
Industries AG regarding a possible merger of their activities. After the break-up of the consortium of investors, AURELIUS revealed on 6 February that it’s voting right in ARQUES Industries AG had fallen below the
thresholds of both five percent and three percent.
On 13 February 2009, KTDaythea Kommunikationstechnik GmbH filed an application at the county court
of Charlottenburg for the institution of insolvency proceedings.The administrator has revealed that business operations can be sustained at least until 30 April 2009. The insolvency is the result of failed negotiations regarding financing alternatives involving all interested parties. KTDaythea Kommunikationstechnik
GmbH is included in the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS AG as a discontinued operation in
accordance with IFRS 5.
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Also on 13 February, AURELIUS announced that the intensifying economic crisis over the last few months
had led to a sharp downturn in sales at Pohland Herrenkleidung, which eroded the successes achieved in
restructuring. On 27 February the company was sold as part of a management buy-out to men’s-fashion
& lifestyle GmbH, Cologne, a business owned by the Pohland management team. The team boasts many
years of experience in the retail trade of textile products and plans to continue the restructuring of the
company under the framework of an insolvency procedure.
On 25 February AURELIUS purchased the remaining 30 percent of the shares in Wellman International.This
made the company a wholly owned subsidiary of the AURELIUS Group.

Report on expected developments
Considering forecasts from leading market research institutes and investment banks, AURELIUS expects
economic development to be significantly affected in 2009 and 2010 by the impacts of the present economic crisis. AURELIUS assumes this situation will bear both risks and opportunities.
Despite the potential risks of a weak economy already extensively outlined in the risk report, the enterprise intends to benefit from the current market environment. The solid foundation comprised of equity and
financial resources should serve AURELIUS as the basis for participation in the market as an attractive investor during the current financial year. We also intend to position our company as an attractive partner for
all those enterprises requiring alternative financing sources in 2009 and aim at a total of seven to nine
acquisitions.
In the current financial year 2009 AURELIUS expects to again produce increased group turnover and group
results. The unpredictability of business trends in the current economic environment does not however
allow any detailed planning before the second half of 2009.The Management Board is planning to recommend a dividend of 0.50 EUR per share at the upcoming Annual General Meeting of AURELIUS AG currently scheduled for 6 July 2009 in Munich.

51

AURELIUS Annual Report 2008

Risk report

Risk report
Management of opportunities and risks
The key goals of AURELIUS include sustainable and profitable growth coupled with a steady increase in
enterprise value. When identifying attractive acquisition targets and when restructuring subsidiary
companies AURELIUS strives to achieve a balance between risks and opportunities. For this reason,
AURELIUS only assumes business risks when these are accompanied by the comparatively higher likelihood of an increase in value. At the same time, potential risks are mitigated to a clearly defined level
at an early stage so that the maximum risk stemming from individual decisions can be recognised and
controlled at any time.
The decisions made by management are based on a multi-tier risk management system to facilitate
the early detection of possible risks. At AURELIUS, the identification of business risks begins at the start
of the acquisition process. After selecting attractive acquisition targets, potential risks of a business
buy-out are analysed as part of a detailed due-diligence procedure. A team of internal specialists filters
the individual risks from all the fields of operating activity at the acquisition target, before using set
procedures to calculate the maximum overall risk of the underlying transaction. With knowledge of
this overall risk, AURELIUS computes a maximum purchase price as the basis for submitting a proposal
to the seller. This already reflects an appropriate risk premium.
In order to limit the maximum extent of specific risks even further, AURELIUS applies a holding structure in which the operating risks of each individual subsidiary company are grouped into legally independent interim companies. This ensures that the sum total of all risks that may arise cannot exceed
the maximum risk previously determined. This generally corresponds to the purchase price paid, less
any revenue flows from the operating activity of the company while it is held in the portfolio.
In 2008 AURELIUS introduced some additional levels to the risk management system which were designed to minimise the probability of individual risks occurring even more. The internal reporting system
was optimised further. By means of weekly and monthly reports from all subsidiary companies the
Management Board receives a detailed evaluation of key figures and indicators on the current situation of the given company. In this context, the cash flow is accorded an important role as a planning and
management tool, and accordingly, in the course of risk management. This way, current developments
at the subsidiary companies can be tracked and assessed in a timely fashion.
The expansion of the management hierarchy with the position of vice president as an intermediate
level between directors and middle management enables an even quicker reaction to changed conditions on the market. The newly introduced level maintains even closer contact with the interim managers at the subsidiary companies and is thus even quicker in identifying potential risks. During regular
meetings with the Management Board of the company, the vice presidents report on the current position of the subsidiaries and provide specific proposals for decisions.
The risk management system was also strengthened by the establishment of an internal audit department. It constantly checks, evaluates and optimises the effectiveness of internal control systems along
with management and monitoring processes. Compliance with internal guidelines is therefore checked
locally at the respective subsidiary companies, and specific steps are elaborated together with the interim management to implement them.
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Significant individual risks
Significant risk areas and individual risks can be deduced from all of the risks identified during the risk
management procedure; these are outlined below. Corresponding opportunities are described in the
forecast report.

Environment and sector risks
Economic changes
The general economic situation and economic trends in the markets in which AURELIUS operates influences the development of business at AURELIUS. A positive impact of a downturn in economic activity
is that there may be more companies or parts of companies available for sale. A parallel reduction in
the number of interested buyers does tend to result in lower purchase prices. However, it is generally
more difficult to restructure companies under such a scenario. Due to depressed valuations, a downturn in economic activity is also reflected in the sales prices that can be achieved, leading to significant
discounts.
Industry changes
In selecting suitable acquisition targets AURELIUS does not focus on certain industries. The paramount
criteria when selecting a company are rather the chances of turning it around and its future prospects.
In spite of the careful selection process there is a risk for all subsidiary companies that the restructuring attempts will falter, which in extreme cases can result in insolvency for the acquired firm. However,
AURELIUS endeavours to minimise the risks associated with the economic developments of individual
companies, industries and regions in the investment portfolio through diversification.
Interest rate changes
AURELIUS intends to invest disposable financial assets on the capital markets during its normal business operations. Fluctuations in interest rates can lead to a fall in the value of the financial assets of the
company which would then have a negative effect on earnings. Furthermore, the company is exposed
to the risk that it may not be able to convert financial assets consisting of minority holdings into liquid
assets should this become necessary, and therefore liquidating such financial assets could result in losses. On the other hand, the level and fluctuation of interest rates can also influence AURELIUS' financing costs. This risk depends on the extent to which general financing requirements have to be covered externally, on the prevailing interest rate and on the fixed terms of any loans. Rising interest rates
also increase the financing cost of the investment companies, which can adversely influence the
restructuring, the ability to pay dividends and also sales opportunities. The planned introduction of a
central cash management system is designed to counter and largely minimise these risks in future.
Currency and exchange rates
Foreign currency and exchange rate risks can arise, for example, if investment companies are purchased from foreign shareholders and paid in foreign currency, if investment companies conduct foreign
operations, or if investment companies hold foreign subsidiaries. The vast majority of AURELIUS' sales,
earnings and expenses are currently generated in the euro area. The company is therefore relatively
independent of movements in exchange rates and in the course of the past financial year 2008 was
only exposed to minimal exchange rate risks. To demonstrate market risks a sensitivity analysis was
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conducted on the basis of IFRS 7. In this context, all foreign currencies used by the AURELIUS Group constitute variables whose corresponding risk can be adequately assessed in this way.

Corporate strategy risks
Changes in competition
Thanks to its long-standing network of contacts with merger brokers, groups or other potential sellers,
AURELIUS is regularly involved in acquisition opportunities and sometimes profits from low purchase
prices. Increased interest in investing in a corporate target can result in greater competition for the
business that is up for sale, which leads to an increase in the average purchase price payable. This
lowers the return prospects of the investment concerned and increases the financial risks in the event
of insolvency. However, the Group benefits from a crucial competitive advantage stemming from the
positive experience that AURELIUS boasts from restructuring companies in the past, as well as the
many years of management expertise in dealing with companies that find themselves in special situations.
Losses due to bad debt
In the current market environment trade credit insurers are partially or even fully withdrawing from
current commitments, possibly leading to increased liquidity demands for some subsidiaries.
Simultaneously the risk of increased losses due to bad debt because trade credits cannot be insured.
AURELIUS is attempting to counter these risks by means of receivables management aligned to the
given market situation.

Output risks
Risks derived from the acquisition process
Acquiring investments generally involves a not insignificant business risk. It cannot be ruled out that
risks have not been missed or misinterpreted. In particular, risks relate to the misinterpretation of the
future prospects of a business or its potential for restructuring, or the fact that liabilities, obligations or
other encumbrances of the investment were not known or identifiable at the time of the purchase,
despite careful examination. A misinterpretation of the attainable market position, the earnings potential, the profitability, growth opportunities or other key factors of success has implications for the
return of the investment. The company's profitability could also suffer from impairment losses on
purchased goodwill or other assets. On the other hand it is these very businesses in special situations
which possess substantial and often undiscovered and unused earnings potential.
Effective controlling of investment companies
A major step in restructuring an acquired investment company is implementing an effective controlling system which can provide the new management with crucial information to improve the cost and
earnings position. If the respective management team does not succeed in installing such a system
promptly, this can endanger the success of the restructuring. The interim management of the investment companies provides the AURELIUS directors with early information on adverse developments in
the investment companies, so that countermeasures can be taken in time. However, there is still a risk
that the information supplied is delayed, late or incomplete regarding developments and events at the
investment company. This means that measures can possibly not be taken, or only taken at some delay,
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which under certain circumstances could adversely affect the development of the investment company
or even put the value of the investment at risk.
Risk of failed restructuring
AURELIUS aims to restructure an investment company as quickly as possible in order to keep the postacquisition operating losses as low as possible, and then in the medium-term to generate income in the
form of dividends and profits from the sale of the company. It is not inconceivable for the restructuring
attempts and the managers deployed at the investment company to fail. There are numerous reasons
why the operations of an investment company might fail to turn a profit, which ultimately can mean
insolvency for the company. In this case AURELIUS would lose the funds (including incidentals) it invested to purchase the investment company, to run it and possibly finance it. However, any such loss is
often reduced by the restructuring contribution made by the seller, which is reflected in the difference
between the book value and the purchase price of the investment. Furthermore, as a matter of principle AURELIUS does not set up any profit and loss or cash pooling agreements with the subsidiaries. For
this reason, the effects on the respective subsidiary of any failed restructuring are limited.
Selling investment companies
The company can realise profits on the sale of an investment company to private, institutional or industrial investors or by means of an IPO-. However, AURELIUS can provide no guarantee as to whether the
sale will be made at a profit or at what rate of return. Both the economic climate and the state of the
capital markets in particular, but also unforeseen factors, can have a significant effect on the sales proceeds. In times of an adverse economic and/or industry environment and/or weak financial markets, a
sale may not be possible to achieve at all, or only at a great discount. Even if the investment company
fares well there is still a risk that a reasonable price will not be attained due to the poor conditions in
the economy, industry and/or the capital markets. In contrast, a booming economy can exert a benign
influence on the earnings of the investment company and as such affect the future sales price.
Personnel requirements
A key factor for the future success of AURELIUS is the considerable experience of the members of the
management team. The planned growth of AURELIUS is however also dependent on the company
having access, if required, to adequate personnel for acquisitions, restructuring and the operating
management of the investment companies. It is the restructuring of businesses in crisis that places the
greatest demands on the manager or managers responsible. It is vital for the success of the business
model to have qualified internal or external personnel with industry-specific experience and sound
management skills. However, with its good reputation, experience and a coherent concept, AURELIUS
has great opportunities to harness the best resources on the market.
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Consolidated income statement
of AURELIUS AG, Munich for the financial year
from 1 January to 31 December 2008
in EUR thousand

Notes

1/1-31/12/
2008

1/1-31/12/
2007

3.1

583,014

266,469

-2,635

-1,037

Continuing operations
1. Revenue
2. Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
3. Other operating income

3.2

93,909

72,183

4 Share of profit of associates

3.3

7,208

1,013

5. Cost of materials

3.4

-302,868

-129,078

6. Personnel expenses

3.5

-118,776

-56,137

7. Other operating expenses

3.6

-187,306

-89,747

72,546

63,666

-20,369

-7,414

52,177

56,252

8. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)
9. Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets
and of property, plant and equipment
10. Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
11. Depreciation on financial assets

3.7

-4,135

-173

12. Other interest and similar income

3.7

1,491

831

13. Interest and similar expenses

3.7

-5,404

-1,810

44,129

55,100

14. Earnings before taxes (EBT)
15. Income taxes

3.8

16. Net profit from continuing operations

-10,831

-4,306

33,298

50,794

-2,450

6,348

30,848

57,142

Discontinued operations
17. Result from discontinued operations

3.11

Net profit
18. Net profit before minority interests
19. Net profit attributable to minority interests

3.9

20.Net profit
Earnings per share

5,385

-9,733

36,233

47,409

3.10

- basic in EUR
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Total of continuing and discontinued operations

4.23

4.70

-0.27

0.73

3.96

5.43

- diluted in EUR
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Total of continuing and discontinued operations
* The income statement for the previous year has been adjusted for comparison purposes
in respect of the companies listed during the year under review as per IFRS 5.
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Consolidated balance sheet
of AURELIUS AG, Munich, as of 31 December 2008
Assets
in EUR thousand

Notes

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

4.1

49,845

14,405

Property, plant and equipment

4.2

106,285

73,710

Financial assets

4.3

23,834

20,450

Deferred tax assets

4.16

9,241

5,715

189,205

114,280

4.4

119,551

87,629

Trade receivables

4.5

101,001

51,237

Tax assets

4.6

5,103

3,760

Other assets

4.7

52,289

28,781

Cash and cash equivalents

4.8

72,562

38,949

Assets classified as held for sale

4.9

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories

44,957

7,053

Total current assets

395,463

217,409

Total assets

584,668

331,689
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Consolidated balance sheet
of AURELIUS AG, Munich, as of 31 December 2008
Liabilities
in EUR thousand

Notes

Shareholders’ equity

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

9,314

9,015

13,882

8,878

272

-/-

4.10

Subscribed capital
Capital reserves
Other equity
Consolidated net retained earnings
Total equity attributable to shareholders of AURELIUS AG
Minority interests
Total shareholders’ equity

80,629

48,266

104,097

66,159

37,362

9,285

141,459

75,444

Non-current liabilities
Pensions obligations

4.11

22,779

12,850

Provisions

4.12

6,931

17,744

Financial liabilities

4.13

21,935

27,482

Other liabilities

4.14

31,284

22,263

Deferred tax liabilities

4.16

17,893

9,770

100,822

90,109

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Provisions

4.12

15,925

16,156

Financial liabilities

4.17

67,761

18,016

Trade payables

4.18

119,233

87,565

Liabilities from percentage of completion

4.19

8,247

1,506

2,629

1,941

Tax liabilities
Liabilities from tax on liquors

4.20

28,288

-/-

Other liabilities

4.21

67,490

40,952

Liabilities classified as held for sale

4.9

32,814

-/-

342,387

166,136

584,668

331,689

Total current liabilities
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities
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of AURELIUS AG, Munich, for the financial year
from 1 January to 31 December 2008
in EUR thousand
Earnings before taxes (EBT)

1/1-31/12/2008

1/1-31/12/2007*

44,129

55,100

Result from discontinued operations

-2,450

6,348

Bargain purchase

-13,382

-59,286

Amortisation and depreciation of non-current assets

24,505

7,980

Change in pension provisions and other reserves

-14,655

-49

Profit (-) / loss (+) from the sale of assets

-535

-362

-24,238

-1,954

Profit (-) / loss (+) from foreign currency translation

706

-/-

Issue of stock options

695

23

-7,208

-1,013

3,913

1,074

Interest received

2,688

1,078

Interest paid

-6,140

-2,159

Income taxes

-4,698

-2,320

3,330

4,460

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories

12,029

18,528

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in trade receivables and other assets

-10,130

5,210

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables and other liabilities

-2,867

-11,465

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other balance sheet items

13,260

1,152

Net cash flow from operating activities

15,622

17,885

Profit (-) / loss (+) from the sale of financial assets

Share of profit of associates
Net interest

Gross cash flow

Change in Working Capital
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Consolidated cash flow statement
of AURELIUS AG, Munich, for the financial year
from 1 January to 31 December 2008
in EUR thousand

1/1-31/12/2008

1/1-31/12/2007

-25,461

-5,821

Cash acquired on the acquisition of affiliates

11,083

18,619

Income from the sale of affiliates

32,993

1,955

Cash sold in the sale of affiliates

-2,602

-/-

5,134

3,566

-22,359

-12,562

-1,212

5,757

14,410

23,642

Allocation of current financial liabilities

45,606

11,377

Allocation of non-current financial liabilities

-27,769

-12,379

4,737

8,112

Cash paid for the acquisition of affiliates

Cash acquired from the sale of non-current assets
Cash paid for investments in non-current assets
Cash flow from investment activity

Free cash flow

Capital increase of AURELIUS AG
Acquisition of own shares
Dividend AURELIUS AG
Cash flow from financing activity

Payments to minority shareholders
Other changes due to foreign currency fluctuations
and change in scope of consolidation

-129

-/-

-1.352

-/-

21,093

7,110

-399

-/-

-1,491

-/-

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

38,949

8,197

Change in cash and cash equivalents

35,503

30,752

Cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations at end of period

72,562

38,949

* The cash flow statement for the previous year has been adjusted for comparison
purposes in respect of the companies listed during the year under review as per IFRS 5.
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Statement
Bericht ausof
den
changes
Beteiligungen
in equity
of AURELIUS AG, Munich, for the financial year
from 1 January to 31 December 2008
in EUR thousand

Subscribed
Capital

Capital
reserves

Consolidated
net retained
earnings

Other equity

Minority
interests

Shareholders’
equity

9,015

8,878

48,266

-/-

9,285

75,444

Capital increase

307

4,430

-/-

-/-

-/-

4,737

Stock option plan

-/-

695

-/-

-/-

-/-

695

Dividend

-/-

-/-

-1,352

-/-

-/-

-1,352

Net profit

-/-

-/-

36,233

-/-

-5,385

30,848

Distribution to minorities

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-399

-399

-8

-121

-/-

-/-

-/-

-129

1 January 2008

Own shares
Differences due to foreign
currency translation

-/-

-/-

-/-

272

-2

270

Change in scope of consolidation

-/-

-/-

-2,518

-/-

33,863

31,345

9,314

13,882

80,629

272

37,362

141,459

Consolidated
net retained
earnings

Other equity

31 December 2008

from 1 January to 31 December 2007
in EUR thousand

Subscribed
Capital

Capital
reserves

Minority
interests

Shareholders’
equity

613

8,701

1,939

-/-

305

11,558

8,402

154

-/-

-/-

-/-

8.556

Stock option plan

-/-

23

-/-

-/-

-/-

23

Net profit

-/-

-/-

47.065

-/-

9.733

56.798

Distribution to minorities

-/-

-/-

-96

-/-

-1.076

-1.172

Change in scope of consolidation

-/-

-/-

-642

-/-

323

-319

9,015

8,878

48,266

-/-

9,285

75,444

1 January 2007
Capital increase

31 December 2007
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1. Company Information Ber
AURELIUS AG, Munich (“AURELIUS AG” or “Company”) was founded 20 March 2006 with registered
office at Bavariaring 11, 80336 Munich, and registered at the Register Court Munich (HRB 161 677).
The business activity of AURELIUS AG encompasses the acquisition and restructuring of companies in transitional or exceptional situations, i.e. unresolved succession, modernizations, group
spin-offs or economic crises. AURELIUS acquires these companies to implement earnings increase
potentials by means of operating improvements.

1.1 Basis of preparation
With the adoption of the directive of the European Parliament and the Council of Ministers of the
European Union of 6 June 2002 to apply international accounting standards, all capital market
based companies are obliged to prepare their consolidated financial statement for the financial
years commencing after 31 December 2004 according to the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). AURELIUS AG shares have been traded on the open market of the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange since 26 June 2006, which is not an ‘organised market’ in terms of Section 2 (5) of the
WpHG [Securities Trade Act]. Thus, in terms of this ruling AURELIUS AG is not capital market driven. Consequently, the above IFRS consolidated financial statement of AURELIUS AG was prepared
according to Section 315a (3) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

1.2 Application of the International Financial Reporting Standards
The consolidated financial statement of AURELIUS AG (AURELIUS or Group) for the financial year
2008 was prepared in accord with the International Financial Reporting Standards as published by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) in London on 31 December 2008, and adopted by the European Union (EU) and applicable to the company. The consolidated financial statement was supplemented by a group management report and other mandatory information as
defined in Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB).
The consolidated financial statement of AURELIUS AG consists of the profit and loss statement, the
balance sheet, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow statement and
the notes. To improve clarity and informational value of the statements, individual entries are summarized in the balance sheet and the profit and loss statement and explained separately in the
notes. The consolidated financial statement is prepared in euro. Unless otherwise noted, all values
are stated in thousand euro.

1.3 Presentation method
The aggregated cost method is applied for the consolidated income statement. The “income from
reversing negative differences from the capital consolidation” is reported in accordance with the
IFRS regulations under other operating income, and is thus included under “Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)”. Earnings from associated companies are also
reported in EBITDA.
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Allgemeiner Teil
Konzernlagebericht
Corporate Governance
Konzern-Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung
Konzernbilanz
Konzern-Kapitalflussrechnung
Konzern-Eigenkapitalentwicklung
Anhang zum Konzernabschluss
Impressum

The consolidated balance sheet is classified by maturities, all assets and liabilities are considered shortterm if they mature within one year.
The consolidated financial statement is prepared under the premise of a going concern.

1.4 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statement of 31 December 2008 of the AURELIUS AG includes all domestic
and foreign companies where AURELIUS AG has an indirect or direct voting right majority, or is able to
control the company activity by any other means. Exceptions are the complementary companies of the
Berentz Group and the so-called “label companies” of the Berentz Group that do not have their own
business operations and are thus of no significance to the financial condition and results of AURELIUS
operations. Subsidiaries are always included in the consolidated financial statement (full consolidation)
as of the date control is transferred to the corporate group. Consolidation ends once the control ends.
Sales revenues, other operating income and expenses, accounts receivable, liabilities and provisions
among consolidated companies and interim results from group internal trade receivables and payables
that were not realised by sales to third parties are eliminated.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared by applying standard balance sheet and evaluation methods as applied in the parent company financial statement.

1.5 Business Combinations
The capital consolidation of subsidiaries follows the acquisition method set forth in IFRS 3 (Business
Combinations), by offsetting the acquisition costs with the fair value of the assumed assets, debt and
contingent liabilities at the time of purchase. The portion exceeding the acquisition costs (asset-side
difference) of the assessed net assets to be included with the fair value are reported as goodwill. If the
acquisition costs are less than the assessed net assets of the included fair value of the acquired subsidiaries (liability-side difference), the difference is recognised, after another assessment, in the profit
and loss statement (bargain purchase). The minority interest shares are recognised at the included fair
value of the reported assets and debt of the respective portion of minority interest. Depreciations of
shares in consolidated subsidiaries from unconsolidated financial statements are reversed in the consolidated financial statement.
During the financial year 2008 the KWE Group was sold and thus no longer consolidated. This Group –
in addition to KTDaythea and Pohland Men’s Clothing – is reported separately in the consolidated
financial statement as a “Surrendered Business Division” according to IFRS 5.31 et seq..
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1.6 Investments in associated companies
Companies that AURELIUS can significantly influence (associated companies), but has no control over
are assessed according to the equity method defined in IAS 28 (Investments in Associates).
Participations in associated companies are included in the amount corresponding to the proportionate newly assessed equity of the associated company. There are no prices listed on any active markets for
companies AURELIUS recorded on the balance sheet according to the equity method. A remaining difference to the acquisition costs of the investments is considered according to the acquisition method.
The balance sheet and evaluation methods in the associated companies are adapted to meet the valid
AURELIUS Group accounting and valuation principles.

1.7 Consolidated group
In addition to AURELIUS AG as the parent company, consolidation consists of the companies listed in
the following table:

2008

2007

Domestic

82

45

Foreign

23

15

Domestic

3

1

Foreign

4

2

Number of fully consolidated companies (Subsidiaries)

Number of companies consolidated at equity
(associated companies)

The balance sheet date of the included companies corresponds to the annual balance sheet of the parent
company with exception of the RTL Shop GmbH acquired during the reporting year.The conversion of the
balance sheet date will occur during the financial year 2009. The chart of AURELIUS’ shareholdings in
accordance with Section 313 (2) No.1 - 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is included in Section 5.9
of this Appendix.

1.8 Foreign currencies
The entries contained in the present consolidated financial statement are assessed based on the currency corresponding to the currency of the primary economic environment, also designated as the “functional currency,” representing the currency in which the respective company is operating, usually the national currency.
The results and the balance sheet entries of all corporate group companies with a functional currency
other than the currency of the group report (euro), are converted as follows into the reporting currency:
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•

Assets and debts of each balance sheet date are converted at the period-end exchange rate;
however, equity at historical rates

•

Revenues and expenses are converted for the profit and loss statement at the average rate of
exchange

•

Conversion differences are recorded as a separate entry under equity

None of the currencies included in the corporate group are currencies of hyper-inflated economies.
The exchange rates required for the currency conversion of significant currencies are presented in the
following table (equivalent to 1 euro).

Foreign Currency
1 Euro

Currency code

Period-end
exchange rate

Average
exchange rate

Great Britain

GBP

0.9740

0.7964

Norway

NOK

9.9296

8.2358

Poland

PLN

4.1529

3.5226

Switzerland

CHF

1.4881

1.5857

Slovakia

SKK

30.2364

31.3875

Czech Republic

CZK

26.5393

24.9066

1.9 Applying new standards and interpretations
The following standards and interpretations were applied for the first time in this financial year and
were correspondingly implemented, as far as applicable, by AURELIUS:
Changes IAS 39/IFRS 7: On 13 October 2008 the IASB resolved amendments to IAS 39 (“financial instruments: recognition and measurement”) and IFRS 7 (“financial instruments: information”). These changes allow, under extraordinary circumstances, the reclassification of certain financial instruments from
the category “held for trading purposes” into another category. The financial crisis on the money and
capital markets is considered an extraordinary circumstance, which justifies companies taking advantage of this option. AURELIUS did not however take advantage of this option.
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IFRIC 11: IFRIC published on 2 November 2006 the IFRIC 11 interpretation (“Group and Treasury Share
Transactions”) according to IFRS 2. IFRIC 11 answers the question about how IFRS 2 is to be applied to
shares based payment agreements that consist of company internal equity instruments, or equity
instruments from another company within the same corporate group. The interpretation will be
applied for the first time for reporting years starting on or after 1 March 2007. In comparison to the previous year, applying the interpretation has no significant effect on the assets, financial position and
results of operation of this financial statement.
IFRIC 12: On 30 November 2006 IFRIC published the IFRIC 12 interpretation (“Service Concession
Arrangements”). The interpretation regulates the balance sheet reporting of agreements, in which the
public authorities sign an agreement with private companies directed towards fulfilling public tasks. To
meet these obligations, private companies use infrastructures that remain within the control of the
public authority. The private company is responsible for the construction, operation and maintenance
of the infrastructure. The interpretation will be applied for the first time for the reporting years starting
on or after 1 January 2008. In comparison to the previous year, applying the interpretation has no significant effect on the assets, financial position and results of operation of this financial statement.
IFRIC 14: On 5 July 2007 IFRIC published the IFRIC 14 interpretations (“IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction”) as a supplement to the existing
regulations of IAS 19 on asset ceilings. This also regulates applying the asset ceiling for legal or contractual minimum funding requirements. The interpretation will be applied for the first time for reporting
years starting on or after 1 January 2008. In comparison to the previous year, applying the interpretation has no significant effect on the assets, financial position and results of operation of this financial
statement.

1.10 Early adoption of the accounting standards
The following IFRS, already published, adopted and recognised by the EU but up 31 December 2008 not
yet mandatory, was applied by the Group early:
IFRS 8: On 3 November 2006 IASB published IFRS 8 (“Operating Segments”). This standard contains new
requirements for segment reporting, according to which segmentation is performed using information processed for purposes of internal reporting and control (“Management Approach”). It replaces IAS
14 (“Segment Reporting"). IFRS 8 must be applied for financial years starting on or after 1 January 2009.
The IASB recommends early application. The EU adopted the standard in November 2007. AURELIUS has
already been reporting according to the new IFRS 8 standard since the financial year 2007. The early
application of IFRS 8 has no effects on the reported results, or the asset and financial position of the
Group.
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1.11 Published standards, interpretations and amendments not yet applied
The following IASB accounting standards issued but as yet not obligatory were not applied early:
•

Amendment to IAS 23 (“loan capital costs”) applicable to financial years starting on or after
1 January 2009.

•

Amendment to IAS 1 (“Presentation of the financial statement”) applicable to financial years
starting on or after 1 January 2009.

•

Amendment to IFRS 3 (“Corporate mergers”) and IAS 27 (“Consolidated and unconsolidated
financial statements according to IFRS"), applied to financial years starting on or after
1 July 2009.

•

Amendment to IFRS 2 (“Proportionate remuneration”) applicable to financial years starting on
or after 1 January 2009.

•

Amendments to IAS 32 (“Financial instruments: Presentation”), applicable to financial years
starting on or after 1 January 2009.

•

Improvements to IFRS – collective standard amending several IFRSs; applicable to financial years
starting on or after 1 January 2009, provided the standard does not specify otherwise.

•

Amendments to IAS 39 (“Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement”), applicable to
financial years starting on or after 1 July 2009.

•

Amendment to IFRS 1 (“Initial application of the International Financial Reporting Standard”)
applicable to the financial years starting on or after 1 January 2009.

•

IFRIC 13 (“Customer bonus programs”) applicable to financial years starting on or after
1 July 2008.

•

IFRIC 15 (“Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate”), applicable to financial years starting
on or after 1 January 2009.

•

IFRIC 16 (“Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”), applied to financial years
starting on or after 1 October 2008.

•

IFRIC 17 (“Distribution of non-cash assets to owners”), applicable to financial years starting on
or after 1 July 2009.

•

IFRIC 18 (“Transfers of assets from customers”), applicable to financial years starting on or after
1 July 2009.
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Application of the new standards, their interpretation and amendments will have no or no significant
impact on the assets, financial condition and results of operation in this financial statement, as far as
can be currently assessed.
An exception is the new regulation on treating catalogue costs as part of the improvement project. As
of 2009 catalogue costs may no longer be capitalized, rather must be immediately recorded as an
expense. This will reduce the result by about 10 million euro. Pursuant to IAS 8 the figures for the previous year will be adjusted accordingly in the 2009 financial statement.
Effects of the initial application of IFRS 3 and IAS 27 will depend on future company transactions. Since
these cannot be anticipated or planned from today’s perspective, expected effects of the initial application of this standard on future transactions cannot be estimated using current knowledge.
Furthermore, no decision has yet been made by AURELIUS regarding possible exercising of the voting
right on the full-goodwill method according to IFRS. In principle, amendments to this standard will
have effects on future AURELIUS financial statements.
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2. Accounting policies
The financial statements of the subsidiaries were all included in the basis of consolidation using the
same accounting policies applied by AURELIUS. The accounting policies, as well as the notes and disclosures regarding the IFRS consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2008, are generally
based on the same accounting policies applied in the consolidated financial statements 2007, with the
exception of those accounting standards whose application has been mandatory since 1 January 2008.
The main accounting policies applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements are presented below.

2.1 Revenue recognition
Sales revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of discounts, customer returns, VAT and other sales-related taxes. Sales revenue from the sale of goods is recognized if
the significant risks and benefits of ownership associated with the property are transferred to the purchaser, the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, the flow of economic benefits resulting from
the sale is sufficiently probable, the costs associated with the sale can be reliably measured and the
selling entity retains neither powers of decision, nor permanent control over the object sold. Revenue
from the sale of services is recognized according to the stage of completion in the ratio of services rendered to total services to be rendered in the financial year in which the services are rendered.
Details regarding revenue recognition on construction contracts are provided in the notes under 2.10.

2.2 Income and expense recognition
Other operating income is generally recognized if the service has been rendered, the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and the economic benefit will flow to the Group with sufficient probability. Operating expenses and interest are recognized in the period in which they occur.
Interest income and expense is recorded in the period in which it accrued, taking the outstanding loan
sum and the applicable interest rate into account. The applicable interest rate is precisely the interest
rate which discounts the estimated cash flows over the term of the financial asset to the net book
value of the asset. Dividend income is recognized when the shareholder’s claim arises, i.e. with the distribution resolution.
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2.3 Income taxes
Income tax expense represents the sum of current tax expense and deferred taxes. Deferred tax obligations arising from temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates are
recognized, unless the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled by the
Group and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. No deferred tax liabilities
were recognized for temporary differences between the net assets and carrying amount of subsidiaries
and associates for tax purposes, since AURELIUS can control the timing of the reversal and the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred taxes are the expected tax burden and/or refunds arising from the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the IFRS financial statements and the tax accounts, whereby the balance sheet liability method is applied. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable
temporary differences, while deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they are levied by the
same tax authority and the periods of payment are congruent.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced or adjusted
as necessary. Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the liability is settled or the asset is realized. Deferred taxes are generally recorded on the income statement,
except those items recognized directly in equity.

2.4 Intangible assets
Goodwill
The goodwill attributable within the scope of the consolidation represents the surplus of acquisition
costs of a company purchase over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary or joint venture at the time of acquisition. The goodwill is recognized at cost at the acquisition date, and measured at cost less all cumulative impairments
in subsequent periods. In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is not methodically amortised. Instead, it is
reviewed for impairment annually in accordance with IAS 36. For the purposes of the impairment test,
the goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. If necessary, the CGUs are written down to their recoverable amount (impairment-only approach). Amounts in excess are allocated proportionally to the other assets on the basis
of the carrying amounts of each asset within the unit. If triggering events (facts or circumstances suggesting potential impairment) occur during the year, an impairment test is conducted at time of the
event and the carrying amount is reduced to the lower recoverable amount if necessary. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use. A future reversal is not permitted. In the case of the sale of a subsidiary or joint venture, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the calculation of profit or loss from the sale.
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Customer base
The Group regularly purchases the customer potential of the investment companies it acquires. This
customer base is measured at its fair value, capitalised as an intangible asset in accordance with IAS 38
and amortised over its expected useful life.
Trademark rights
Trademark rights acquired in connection with mergers are measured at fair value, capitalised as intangible assets in accordance with IAS 38 and amortised over their expected useful life.
Family brands for a brand network exhibit an indefinite useful life. Consequently, they are not amortised, but instead subjected to an annual impairment test and written down to their recoverable
amount if necessary.
If triggering events (facts or circumstances suggesting potential impairment) occur during the year, an
impairment test is conducted at that time and the carrying amount is reduced to the lower recoverable
amount if necessary
Other intangible assets
Patents, licenses and brands as well as intangible assets which are purchased, but not related to investments in subsidiaries, are recognized at their historical cost. They have limited useful lives and are
reported at cost less cumulative amortisation.
Amortisation of intangible assets
The expected useful life of the customer base is based – depending on the type of asset – on the projected average termination rate and the average contractual term of the individual user contracts.
Intangible assets whose useful life can be determined are amortised according to the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life of the asset. Amortisation begins as soon as the intangible asset
is in operating condition. The useful lives are:
•
•
•
•
•

Customer base: 5 – 10 years
Software and licenses: 1 – 10 years
Patents, samples, trademarks, publishing/performance rights and copyrights: 3 – 5 years
Brands, company logos, ERP software and internet domain names: 5 – 10 years
Copyright software: 3 – 5 years

The expected useful life and the method of amortisation are reviewed at the end of the financial year,
taking all changes in estimates prospectively into account. If there is any indication of impairment (triggering events), the methodically amortisable intangible assets are subjected to an impairment test and
written down to the recoverable amount within the meaning of IAS 36 if necessary.
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2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less methodical depreciation according to the
straight-line or declining method. Costs of conversion include all costs directly attributable to the production process. These also include appropriate portions of production-related overhead, but not associated borrowing costs. Subsequent costs are only included as a component of the material asset if it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the costs can be reliably measured.
Property is not depreciated methodically, whereas all other assets reported under property, plant and
equipment are depreciated according to their economic loss in value.
Buildings are assigned useful lives between 10 and 50 years. Plant facilities as well as tools and equipment are assigned useful lives between three and ten years, assuming normal wear and tear. In contrast, machines and plants are depreciated over a period of 2 - 15 years.
The residual carrying amounts and economic lives are reviewed at every balance sheet date and adjusted if necessary. If the carrying amount of a material asset exceeds its recoverable amount, it is written
down beyond the amount of methodical depreciation to the recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is calculated as the higher of an asset’s fair value less selling costs (net fair value) and the
expected value in use. The net fair value is derived – if possible – from the most recently observed market transactions.
If it is not possible to forecast the expected inflow of economic benefits associated with an asset, the
inflow for the next larger group of assets is estimated and discounted using a risk-adjusted discount
rate; the recoverable amount of the asset group is then allocated to the individual assets proportional
to the carrying amounts.

2.6 Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale are measured at the lower
of carrying amount and net fair value. Depreciation ceases at the date of classification as held for sale.
Non-current assets and groups of assets are classified as held for sale if the associated carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This
requirement is considered to be met if a sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is
available for sale in its current condition.

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
In accordance with IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets, a company must estimate at each balance sheet date
whether there is any evidence suggesting that the carrying amount of an asset might be impaired. If
there is any such evidence, the asset’s recoverable amount is reestimated. Independent of whether
there is any evidence of impairment, a company must annually review intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or that are not yet ready to be used, as well as acquired goodwill. An asset is impaired
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if its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s net selling price and its value in use. If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount,
the difference represents an impairment which must generally be recognized in profit or loss. If an individual asset’s recoverable amount cannot be estimated, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is estimated. If an adequate and consistent basis of allocation can
be determined, the common assets are allocated to the individual cash-generating units. Otherwise,
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which an adequate and consistent
basis of allocation can be determined.
An impairment reversal is recognized to the extent that the reasons for impairment no longer apply;
however, the reversal may not exceed the carrying amount that would have applied without the previous impairment. Generally, the reversal is recognized in profit or loss, unless it relates to an asset whose
change in value is accounted for according to the revaluation method directly in equity.

2.8 Leases
Leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases. They are classified as a finance lease if
essentially all of the risks and benefits of ownership associated with the leased object are transferred
to the lessee according to the terms of the agreement. In this context, the contractually regulated criteria for the transfer of property, any possible favourable purchase options, the contractual term in relation to the useful life, the present value of the minimum lease payments and the nature of the leased
object (special leasing) are reviewed.
If the significant risks and benefits of ownership were not transferred, the agreement represents an
operating lease.
If the agreement is a finance lease, both an asset and an equal liability must be recognized at the commencement of the lease. The amount to be recognized corresponds to the fair value of the leased object
or the lower present value of the minimum lease payments, plus any incidental expenses carried by the
lessee. The lease payments are allocated to the interest expense and reduction in the lease obligation
such that interest is applied consistently to the remaining liability over the term of the lease. The
method of depreciation and useful life correspond to those of comparable acquired assets. If it is not
sufficiently certain at the commencement of the lease that the property will be transferred to the lessee, the asset must be completely written off over the shorter of the lease term or useful life.
Lease payments related to an operating lease are recognized as expense over the lease term.
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2.9 Inventories
The balance sheet item Inventories includes raw materials, consumables and supplies, payments on
account, (un-) finished goods and services and merchandise. They are measured as the lower of cost
and net realisable value at the balance sheet date.
Production costs include direct material and labour costs, but not overhead or borrowing costs, if applicable. Cost is calculated according to the weighted average method. The net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale, whereby generally the net realisable value of the final product is applied.
If necessary, write-downs are recognized for excess inventory, obsolescence and reduced marketability.

2.10 Construction contracts
If the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are
recognized respectively by reference to the stage of completion in accordance with IAS 11 at the balance
sheet date. As a rule, the stage of completion is based on the ratio of the contract costs incurred up to
the balance sheet date to the estimated total contract costs, including payments for deviations in the
overall contract, extra charges and premiums in the agreed amount.
As asset is shown on the balance sheet for all construction contracts in progress with a gross amount
due from customers, i.e. the sum of costs incurred including disclosed profits exceeds the sum of partial invoices plus disclosed losses. In contrast, a liability is recognized on all construction contracts in
progress with a net liability to customers.
If the outcome of the construction contract cannot be reliably measured, the contract revenues are only
recognized in an amount equal to the contract costs incurred which are likely to be recovered.
Furthermore, the contract costs are recognized as expense in the period in which they are incurred. If it
is probable that the total contract costs will exceed the total contract revenues, the expected loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

2.11 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method for non-interestbearing receivables.
In addition, an impairment is recognized when there are objective indicators suggesting that the
amounts owed cannot be completely recovered. The impairment is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows associated with this receivable, discounted using the effective interest rate. This impairment is
recognized in profit or loss. Reversals are recognized in profit or loss to the extent that the reasons for
impairments recognized in earlier periods no longer apply, Receivables denominated in foreign currencies are measured at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date.
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2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits and other current financial assets with a
remaining term to maturity of up to three months. They are measured at nominal value.

2.13 Financial assets
Financial assets can be broken down into the following categories:
1)
2)
3)
4)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and receivables
Financial assets held to maturity
Financial assets available for sale

Their classification depends on the purpose for which they were acquired and is reviewed at each
reporting date. Depending on their classification, they are subsequently measured either at amortised
cost or fair value.
1) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two subcategories: Financial assets that were originally classified as held for trading,
and those that were classified as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’. A financial asset is assigned to this
category if it was acquired principally with the intent to sell it in the short term, or it was accordingly
designated by management. Derivatives also belong to this category. Assets of this category are reported under current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within twelve
months after the balance sheet date.
2) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or ascertainable payments which
are not traded on an active market. They arise when the Group offers money, goods or services directly to a borrower and there is no intention of trading the receivables. Depending on their maturity, they
are reported as either Non-current or current assets. Loans and receivables are included in the balance
sheet under trade receivables and other assets.
3) Financial investments held to maturity
Financial investments held to maturity are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or ascertainable
payments and fixed maturities which Group management intends and can hold to maturity. Loans are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or ascertainable payments which are not quoted on an active
market. They are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method and deducting impairments. They are reported under Non-current assets to the
extent that their remaining term to maturity exceeds twelve months. They are reported under current
assets if their remaining term to maturity is less than twelve months.
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4) Financial assets available for sale
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that were not assigned to any
other of the categories presented above. They are assigned to Non-current assets if management does
not intend to sell them within twelve months after the balance sheet date.
All purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized at the trade date, i.e. the date at which the
Group commits to buy or sell the asset. Financial assets that do not belong to the category ‘at fair value
through profit or loss’ are initially recognized at fair value less transaction costs. They are derecognized
if the rights to receive payments from the investment are cancelled or were transferred and the Group
has transferred all significant risks and benefits of ownership associated with the property. Financial
assets available for sale and assets of the category ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ are measured initially at fair value. Loans and receivables and financial investments held to maturity are accounted for
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Realised and unrealised gains and losses from the change in fair value of assets of the category ‘at fair
value through profit or loss’ are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Unrealised
gains or losses from the change in fair value of non-monetary financial instruments of the category
‘financial assets available for sale’ are recognized directly in equity in a reserve for unrealised gains. If
financial instruments of the category ‘financial assets available for sale’ are sold or impaired, the cumulative fair value adjustments recognized in equity are recognized in profit or loss or as gains or losses
from financial assets.
The fair values of quoted shares are measured according to the current market price. If there is no active
market for financial assets or the assets are not quoted on an exchange, the fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation methods. These include reference to recent transactions between independent business partners, the use of current market prices of other assets that are essentially similar
to the observed asset, the discounted cash flow method and option price models that take the special
circumstances of the issuer into account.
At each balance sheet date, an objective review is conducted regarding whether there is any evidence
of impairment of a financial asset or a group of financial assets. In the case of equity instruments that
are classified as available for sale, a significant or permanent reduction in fair value below the cost of
the equity instrument is taken into account when determining how impaired the equity instruments
are. If there is such evidence related to available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss, measured
as the difference between the historical cost and the current fair value less any impairment losses previously recognized on the asset, is derecognized from equity and recognized in profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments recognized in profit or loss cannot be reversed.
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2.14 Provisions
In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are recognized when the Group currently has a legal or factual
obligation vis-à-vis third parties based on a past event, it is more likely than not that the settlement of
the obligation will result in an outflow of economic benefits and the amount of the provision can be
reliably measured. Other provisions are recognized for all foreseeable risks and contingent liabilities in
accordance with IAS 37. They represent uncertain liabilities that are recognized at the best possible estimate and are not offset with claims under a right of recourse. If there are a number of liabilities of the
same type, the probability of a reduction in assets is calculated based on the group of liabilities. Noncurrent provisions that will not lead to an outflow of economic benefits in the following year are discounted using the currently applicable market interest rate if the effect is significant.

2.15 Employee benefits
Pension obligations
AURELIUS only offers defined benefit plans. The pension provisions for the company pension scheme
were valued actuarially according to the projected unit credit method prescribed in IAS 19 (Employee
Benefits), whereby an actuarial valuation is conducted at each balance sheet date. The liabilities for
defined benefit plans are calculated separately for each plan by estimating the benefits earned in the
current and earlier periods in exchange for the work performed by the employee. These benefits are discounted to determine their present value from which the fair value of each plan asset is deducted. In
connection with the projected unit credit method, the known annuities and acquired vested benefits,
the expected future increases in salaries and annuities and the expected income from any possible plan
assets are taken into consideration.
Remaining provisions
The remaining provisions are recognized when there is an obligation vis-à-vis third parties who will
probably demand payment and the foreseeable amount of the necessary provision can be reliably estimated. Non-current provisions with a remaining term of more than one year are recognized at their
settlement amount discounted at the balance sheet date.

2.16 Legal disputes, compensatory damages and liability risks
AURELIUS’ companies are involved in various processes and official procedures as part of ordinary
course of business, or it is possible that such could be commenced or asserted in the future. Even if the
outcome of the individual procedures cannot be predicted, considering the imponderability associated
with legal disputes, according to a current assessment of the risks associated with liabilities or provisions recognized in the financial statements, there will be no significant negative effect on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group. Existing contingent liabilities arising
from issued financial instruments or liabilities assumed are presented separately in note 5.5. Identified
contingent liabilities acquired as part of a merger in accordance with IFRS 3 are recognized at the acquisition date at their fair value.
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2.17 Liabilities
Liabilities are measured at amortised cost. For current liabilities, this means that they are recognized at
their redemption or settlement amount. Non-current liabilities and financial debts are accounted for at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Liabilities from finance leases are reported at the
fair value of the leased object or the lower present value of the minimum lease payments.
Financial liabilities, in particular from purchase price adjustment clauses or earn-out clauses, are measured at the posting date at their fair value, which normally corresponds to the cost. However, a requirement for the recognition of such a liability is that it is probable at the acquisition date and the amount
can be reliably determined. If a financial liability does not bear interest or only bears a low rate of interest, the liability is recognized at the settlement or nominal amount. The difference from the payout
amount is subsequently recognized in profit or loss (‘financial liabilities measured at amortised cost’).
The financial liability thus recognized at fair value is subsequently compounded using the effective
interest method.

2.18 Stock option plan
Share-based remuneration with compensation via equity instruments granted to employees and others who render comparable services is measured at the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant
date. The stock option plan is calculated using accrual methods based on option price models, whereby the options for equity-settled plans are measured at fair value on the grant date.
The fair value determined when granting share-based remuneration compensated by equity instruments is recognized as an expense in equal proportions over the period until vesting, based on the
Group’s expectations regarding the equity instruments expected to vest. At each balance sheet date,
the Group must review its estimates regarding the number of equity instruments that will vest. The
effects of any changes in the original estimates must be recognized in profit or loss over the remaining
period until vesting with a corresponding adjustment of the reserves.
For share-based remuneration compensated in cash, a liability corresponding to the portion of goods
or services received must be recognized at the current fair value at each reporting date. The cash-settled plans are remeasured at each balance sheet date.
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2.19 Financial instruments and financial risk management
As an internationally operating corporate group, AURELIUS is exposed to various financial risks. These
include in particular
•
•
•

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk (includes: exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and market price risk)

The Group’s comprehensive capital management is focused on the unforeseeable nature of financial
market developments and is targeted at minimizing potential negative effects on the Group’s financial
position.
Risk management is conducted locally at AURELIUS AG and the Group’s separate operating units,
whereby the guidelines and principles set forth by the management board are taken into account.
Financial risks are identified, measured and hedged in close cooperation with the Group finance department. The development of a central and uniform risk management within the Group finance department is currently in planning. In this context, corresponding guidelines for the group-wide risk policy
oriented on statutory requirements and the minimum requirements for risk management at credit
institutions are being developed.
Credit risk
The credit risk arising from financial assets involves the risk of default on the part of a contractual partner and thus at most an amount equal to claims corresponding to the positive fair value against the
respective partner.
Allowances for the risk arising from primary financial instruments are made by value adjustments to
receivables. In addition, transactions are only entered into with creditworthy contractual partners
whose credit rating is reviewed via credit inquiries or using historical data from the previous business
relationship. Also, a detailed and permanent credit review is conducted for each customer using internal ratings (credit score method) at some operating units. In addition, most of the subsidiaries work
together to obtain trade credit insurance that covers the majority of any potential default. If it is not
possible to accordingly insure a contractual partner, there is also the possibility of delivery against
advance payment.
Owing to AURELIUS’ operations and its resulting diversification, there was no significant concentration
of risk in the financial year under review.
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The following overview shows the value adjustments to defaults on receivables in AURELIUS Group:

Credit risk of financial assets according to gross carrying amounts
in EUR thousand

Neither
overdue,
nor adjusted

Overdue,
but not
adjusted

Adjusted

Carrying amount
as
at 31/12/2008

Measured at amortized cost
Trade receivables

61,615

39,386

269

101,001

The associated age analysis of the receivables can be found under note 4.5.
Liquidity risk
The risk that a company presents regarding difficulties in meeting its financial obligations is designated as liquidity risk. As a result of the dynamic of the business environment in which AURELIUS operates, the Group finance department’s goal is to maintain the necessary financial flexibility. The Group’s
liquidity is constantly monitored by means of rolling liquidity planning, a liquidity reserve in the form
of cash and disposable credit lines.
The table below illustrates the undiscounted contractually agreed cash outflows of financial instruments:

Age analysis of undiscounted cash outflows of
in EUR thousand
Trade payables
Financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Total

Due within
one year

Due within
1 - 5 years

Due within
1 - 5 years

119,233

-/-

-/-

67,761

21,935

-/-

Carrying amount
as
at 31/12/2008
119,233
89,696

67,490

-/-

-/-

67,490

254,484

21,935

-/-

276,419

The composition of the balance sheet item Other liabilities is explained in note 4.21.
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EUR 78,111 thousand or 87,1 percent of the EUR 89,696 thousand in financial liabilities reported as at the
balance sheet date 31 December 2008 is collateralised. The collateral has the following structure:

Collateralisation of financial liabilities
in EUR thousand
Financial liabilities

Intangible
assets
3,847

Property and
buildings

Inventories

Trade receivables

Carrying
amount

in %

30,032

8,061

36,171

89,696

87.08 %

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of fluctuation of the fair value or future cash flows associated with a financial
instrument as a result of changes in market prices. Exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, and other price
risks are subsumed under market risk.
Exchange rate risks can arise from investments, financing measures and operational activities and are
based on changes in the exchange rates of various foreign currencies. In order to limit the resulting risk,
e.g. forward exchange transactions, currency options or swaps (interest rate and/or currency swaps)
can be employed as necessary. Although AURELIUS operates internationally, the Group was only exposed to an insignificant amount of exchange rate risk in financial year 2008, since the majority of transactions occurred in the euro area (functional currency). In connection with the management of currency risk, only one forward exchange transaction was entered into as at the balance sheet date to hedge
the US dollar in AURELIUS Group.
In order to present the market risks, a sensitivity analysis within the meaning of IFRS 7 is conducted,
whereby all foreign currencies with which AURELIUS Group operates represent risk variables. If the functional currency were valued 10 percent higher (lower) compared to other currencies in the Group at
the balance sheet date, profit or loss after taxes would have been EUR 30 thousand higher (lower).
Interest rate risk results from changes in market interest rates, in particular in medium and long-term
variable interest-bearing receivables and liabilities. Accordingly, none of the financial instruments with
fixed interest measured at amortised cost are subject to interest rate risk within the meaning of IFRS 7.
The sensitivity analysis for interest risk presents the effect of risk-variable market interest rates on equity and profit or loss. If the market interest rate level as at 31 December 2008 were 100 basis points higher (lower), profit or loss would have been EUR 568 thousand higher (lower). With respect to other price
risks, IFRS 7 requires in particular a presentation of the effects of hypothetical changes in risk variables
on the price of financial instruments, whereby risk variables include in particular stock market prices or
indices in addition to the risks associated with the procurement of raw materials.
In order to eliminate significant risks associated with the procurement of raw materials, master agreements with a contractual term of at least one year are concluded with suppliers at the affected operating units, in order to eliminate greater risks. If the relevant raw materials prices were 10 percent higher (lower) at 31 December 2008, net profit or loss would have been EUR 15,581 thousand lower (higher).
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If the relevant share prices of other quoted associates were 10 percent higher (lower) at 31 December
2008, profit or loss would have been EUR 184 thousand higher (lower).
The following table presents the reconciliation of balance sheet items to the classes and categories in
accordance with IAS 39:

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts to the categories of financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39
in EUR thousand

Note

Measurement
Carrying amount
category according
31/12/2008
to IAS 39

Fair value
31/12/2008

ASSETS
Current assets
Trade receivables

4.5

LaR

101,001

101,001

Other assets

4.7

LaR

52,289

52,289

Cash and cash equivalents

4.8

LaR

72,562

72,562

Assets classified as held for sale

4.9

Afs

44,957

44,957

Financial liabilities

4.13

FLAC

21,935

21,935

Other liabilities

4.14

FLAC

31,284

31,284

Financial liabilities

4.17

FLAC

67,761

67,761

Trade payables

4.18

FLAC

119,233

119,233

Liabilities from
percentage of completion

4.19

FLAC

8,247

8,247

Other liabilities

4.21

FLAC

67,490

67,490

Loans and receivables (LaR)

225,852

225,852

Available-for-sale financial
assets (Afs)

44,957

44,957

315,950

315,950

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Of which, aggregated according to measurement categories specified in IAS 39

Financial liabilities
Measured at amortised cost (FLAC)
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2.20 Capital management
Generally, the goal of capital management is to enable the Group to effectively achieve its goals and
strategies in the interest of all shareholders, its employees and the other stakeholders. AURELIUS concentrates on acquiring companies in exceptional situations of radical change. Consequently, the primary goal is the continued entrepreneurial existence of all subsidiaries and an optimum ratio of equity and external financing for the benefit of all stakeholders. Capital management is conducted mostly
in the Group’s operational units and monitored at the Group level on the basis of a regular reporting
process, so that support and optimizing assistance can be provided if necessary. In addition, specific
decisions on dividend payments or corporate action are made on the basis of internal reports and in
coordination with the subsidiaries.
In addition to current and non-current debtor positions, the capital to be managed also includes the
equity components. The development of the capital structure over time and the associated change in
dependency on external creditors are measured using a debt coefficient – the gearing ratio. This is calculated based on the reporting date, so the gearing ratio is not very informative compared to companies of other industries, owing to the special market environment in which AURELIUS operates and the
associated exceptional capital requirements, as well as the changes in the basis of consolidation.
Despite AURELIUS’ strong growth in the year under review, it was possible to reduce the debt coefficient.

Development of the gearing ratio
in EUR thousand

2008

2007

Non-current liabilities

100,822

90,109

Current liabilities

342,387

166,136

Total liabilities

443,209

256,245

141,459

75,444

3.1

3.4

Shareholders equity
"Gearing Ratio"
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Parallel to the gearing ratio, we also succeeded in reducing AURELIUS Group’s net debt by slightly less
than 25 percent:

Net debt
in EUR thousand

2008

2007

Non-current liabilities

100,822

90,109

Current liabilities

342,387

166,136

Total liabilities

443,209

256,245

72,562

38,949

Net liabilities

370,647

217,296

Shareholders equity

141,459

75,444

2.6

2.9

Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt

2.21 Hedge accounting
Individual non-derivative instruments can be designated when hedging cash flow and/or currency
risks. Taking advantage of the option permitted under IAS 39, hedges against exchange rate risk associated with fixed obligations are accounted for as cash flow hedges.
The effective portion of the change in the fair value of derivatives that are suitable for cash flow hedges and were designated as such is recognized in equity. Gains or losses attributable to the ineffective
portions are immediately recognized in profit or loss. Amounts recognized in equity are transferred to
the income statement in the period in which the underlying transactions are recognized in profit or
loss. Hedge relationships are no longer reported on the balance sheet if the Group dissolves the hedge
relationship, or the hedging instrument expires, is sold, ends or is exercised or ceases to be suitable for
hedging purposes. The entire gain or loss recorded at this point in time remains in equity and is only
recognized in profit or loss when the expected transaction is also recognized in the income statement.

2.22 Segment reporting
In accordance with IFRS 8 – Operating Segments, individual financial statement data must be presented separately according to segments and regions, whereby the breakdown is oriented on internal
reporting that enables a reliable estimate of the risks and revenues of the Group. The segmentation
should render transparent the profitability and prospects for success of the Group’s separate operations. AURELIUS separates the primary segment reporting format into business segments in coordination with its internal management (management approach).
AURELIUS structures the business divisions according to the primary activities (primary segmentation)
and according to geographic features (secondary segmentation). The primary segments are the units
Services and Solutions (S&S), Industrial production (IP), and Retail and Consumer Products (RCP).
The segment information is generally based on the same accounting policies applied to the consolidated financial statements.
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2.23 Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRSs requires assumptions and estimates
on the part of management that affect the reported amounts and associated disclosures. The discretionary decisions and estimates are mainly related to the assessment of the impairment of goodwill
and intangible assets, the establishment of uniform economic lives for property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets for the whole Group, and the accounting treatment and measurement of provisions. The discretionary decisions and estimates are based on premises in turn based on the most currently available information, considering in particular the expected future business development and
the circumstances prevailing when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. We have also
taken the future development of the business environment regarded to be realistic into consideration.
If the actual general conditions should differ from the premises or if developments occur which differ
from the underlying assumptions and cannot be influenced by management, the actual amounts can
differ from the originally expected estimates.
Our estimates are based on our experience and other assumptions that were regarded as accurate
under the given circumstances. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed continuously.
In general, estimates are also made during business acquisitions regarding the calculation of the fair
value of the acquired assets and liabilities. Property and buildings are normally measured according to
standard land values or by an independent expert as with technical plants and machines, whereas marketable financial instruments are recognized at their fair market value. If there are any intangible assets
– depending on the type of the asset and the difficultly in assessing its value – either an independent
external expert will be consulted or the fair value is calculated internally using an appropriate valuation method based in general on a forecast of all future cash flows. Depending on the type of asset and
the availability of information, various measurement techniques are applied that are differentiated
between the cost method, the market price method, and the net present value method.
AURELIUS considers the estimates made in relation to the expected useful lives of certain assets, the
assumptions regarding general macroeconomic conditions and the developments in the industries in
which AURELIUS operates as well as the present value estimate of future payments to be appropriate.
At the same time, corrections could be necessary if assumptions or circumstances change, which could
lead to the recognition of additional impairments or even impairment reversals in the future, if the
developments expected by AURELIUS should reverse.
The AURELIUS companies are obligated to pay income taxes, which requires assumptions in order to
calculate the tax provisions. There are transactions and calculations for which the final tax assessment
cannot be determined during the normal course of business. The Group measures the amount of provisions for the expected tax audits on the basis of estimates of whether and to what extent additional
taxes will be owed. If the final tax assessed on these transactions differs from the original assumptions, this will affect the actual and deferred taxes in the period in which the taxation is finally assessed.
As of when the consolidated financial statements were prepared, we do not expect any significant
changes in the underlying assumptions and estimates, so that no significant adjustments in the assets
and liabilities presented on the balance sheet in financial year 2009 are expected.
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3. Notes to the Income Statement
3.1 Revenue
The Group’s revenue is composed as follows:

in EUR thousand
Revenue from the sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of services
Revenue from percentage of completion
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total revenue

01/01-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

535,067

226,349

44,987

40,120

2,960

–

583,014

266,469

98,725

50,267

681,739

316,736

During the year under review, the revenue from long-term construction contracts is exclusively contributed by a portion of the total revenue of connectis.
A distribution by geographical region can be found in the segment reporting under item 5.1 of the
Notes.

3.2 Other operating income
The Group’s other operating income is composed as follows:
in EUR thousand

01/01-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

Income from disposal of financial investments

22,401

221

Bargain purchases

13,382

52,065

Income from the release of provisions

12,611

2,866

Income from costs charged to third parties

2,824

2,232

42,691

14,799

93,909

72,183

14,356

10,660

108,265

82,843

Other operating income
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total other operating income

The income from bargain purchases is reported according to IFRS 3.56 (b) to the extent that the fair values of the identifiable assets recognised, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceed the costs of amalgamation. Following reassessment of the remaining surplus, this must be recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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3.3 Share of profit of associates
Income from associates comprises: income from Mode & Preis Group amounting to EUR 3,178 thousand;
income from Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts amounting to EUR 2,700 thousand; income from RTL
Shop GmbH amounting to EUR 1,292 thousand; income from DMS Digitaler Medienservice GmbH
amounting to EUR 38 thousand.The first-time inclusion of Mode & Preis Group and RTL Shop GmbH in the
consolidated accounts of AURELIUS AG produced one-off effects amounting to EUR 4,878 thousand. The
income from associates in 2007 amounting to EUR 1,013 thousand resulted exclusively from Compagnie
de Gestion et des Prêts SA.

3.4 Cost of materials
in EUR thousand
Raw materials, supplies and consumables
Purchased services
Purchased goods
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total cost of materials

01/01-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

266,436

112,515

30,253

12,619

6,179

3,944

302,868

129,078

61,774

27,339

364,642

156,417

Der Materialaufwand entspricht in voller Höhe dem Wert der Vorräte, die im Geschäftsjahr als Aufwand
3.5
Personal
erfasst
wurden. expenses
in EUR thousand

01/01-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

Salaries and wages

96,742

45,572

Social security, pension costs and other benefits

22,034

10,565

Total continued operations

118,776

56,137

Discontinued operations

26,853

14,826

145,629

70,963

Total staff costs
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3.6 Other operating expenses
The Group’s other operating expenses are composed as follows: :
in EUR thousand

01/01-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

Marketing and commission

82,799

31,356

Freight and transportation costs

35,390

16,335

17,273

10,442

Buildings
Administration

12,426

6,577

Office supplies

10,462

2,807

Consulting expenses

9,809

7,125

2,374

2,014

Allowances for receivables and inventories
Other operating expenses
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total other operating expenses

16,773

13,091

187,306

89,747

22,786

7,238

210,092

96,985

Office supplies mainly comprise IT expenses, communication costs and expenses for office materials.
The main component of the administration expenses are insurance policies and fees, travel expenses
and accommodation expenses as well as vehicle costs. The buildings expenses mainly comprise rent
expenses, maintenance costs and other office space costs.
The buildings expenses include cash rent expenses from operating lease agreements amounting to
EUR 13,149 thousand (previous year: EUR 9,527 thousand).

3.7 Financial result
Amortization of financial investments relates mainly to the shares in ARQUES Industries AG, Starnberg,
and in Investunity AG, Munich, which were depreciated to their market price as of 31 December 2008,
due to probable permanent impairment losses.
Other interest and similar income amounting to EUR 1,491 thousand (2007: EUR 831 thousand) result
mainly from interest paid on current account balances and forward deposits. Other interest and similar expenses amounting to EUR 5,404 thousand (2007: EUR 1,810 thousand) result mainly from interest
charged on liabilities owed to banks.

3.8 Income taxes
The following reconciliation discloses the differences between the tax expense accounted for and the
theoretical tax expense. The theoretical tax expense is the product of the profit before tax multiplied by
the expected tax rate. The expected tax rate consists of statutory German corporation tax, solidarity tax
and trade tax, and totals approximately 30 percent (2007: 40%).The tax on income is composed as follows:
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The income taxes is composed as follows:
in EUR thousand

01/01-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

44,129

55,100

30%

40%

13,239

22,040

1,224

-9,596

-4,014

-14,118

Tax rates deviations from the group tax rate

972

-548

Trade tax adjustments

218

11

Non-deductible operating expenses

2,048

4,165

Tax-free result from the sale of investments

1,866

-3,216

Earnings before taxes from continuing operations
Expected tax rate
Expected income taxes

Deviating foreign taxation
Tax-free income resulting from bargain purchases

Tax-free revenues

-6,533

-56

Permanent differences in balance sheet items

-5,263

3,996

67

-124

Changes in provisions in the current year

10,963

-910

Other taxes on earnings relating to other periods

-4,902

308

946

126

–

2,228

Effective tax on earnings

10,831

4,306

Effective tax rate

24.5%

7.8 %

Effects of tax rate changes

Other effects
Effects of discontinued operations

The effective tax of EUR 10,831 thousand (2007: EUR 4,306 thousand) is composed of tax on earnings
of EUR 1,950 thousand (2007: EUR 1,605 thousand) and deferred taxes of EUR 8,881 thousand (2007:
EUR 2,701 thousand).
Tax revenue from the profit (loss) of ordinary activities of discontinued operations amounts to EUR 719
thousand (2007: EUR 0).

3.9 Net profit attributable to minority interests
The consolidated result of EUR 36,233 thousand (2007: EUR 47,409 thousand) takes account of shares in
the profits of other shareholders amounting to EUR 5,385 thousand (2007: EUR -9,733 thousand).

3.10 Earnings per share
The basic earnings per share is calculated according to IAS 33 by dividing the consolidated net income
after minority interest by the average weighted number of shares in circulation. For the calculation of
the diluted earnings per share, the average number of shares issued is adjusted by the number of all
potential diluted shares. These comprise exclusively the share options issued through the share option
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plan. In addition, the consolidated net income is adjusted to take account of the expense incurred for
the share option plan.
in EUR thousand

1/1 - 31/12/2008

1/1 - 31/12/2007

33,298

50,794

-5,385

9,733

38,683

41,061

-2,450

6,348

695

23

9,137,466

8,730,700

152,531

9,229

9,289,997

8,739,929

4.23

4.70

from discontinued operations

-0.27

0.73

from continuing and discontinued operations

3.96

5.43

4.24

4.70

-0.26

0.73

3.98

5.43

Net profit from continuing operation
Net profitattributable to minority interests
Net profitattributable to the shareholders of AURELIUS AG
Earnings from discontinued operations

Share option program costs

Average weighted number of shares issued
Effect of diluted potential ordinary shares:
weighted average of issued share options
Average weighted number of issued shares for the
diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EUR)
from continuing operations

Diluted earnings per share (EUR)
from continuing operations
from discontinued operations
from continuing and discontinued operations

3.11 Discontinued operations
The rules of IFRS 5 provide for specific instructions for reporting of discontinued operations. Moreover,
the standard also contains rules on assets and liabilities held for sale (disposal groups).
In order to improve transparency and comparability of the reporting of AURELIUS, the primary data presented is that for continued operations. The information on discontinued operations is given separately in the balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement.
Further information is provided in the Notes on the non-current assets and liabilities held for sale (see
item 4.9 of these Notes).
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KWE Group was disposed of during the year under review, on 28 July 2008. This is to be considered as a
discontinued operation as defined in IFRS 5. The disposal of KWE Group resulted in deconsolidation
earnings of EUR 1,839 thousand. The tax on earnings resulting from the disposal amounted to EUR 28
thousand. The table below provides an overview of the Group’s profit and loss account during its membership of the AURELIUS Group:

in EUR thousand
Result of KWE Group

01/01-28/07/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

Income

11,818

22,798

Current expenses

-11,241

-22,865

Financial result

-80

-90

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

497

-157

Income taxes

-197

-11

Result of discontinued operations before minority interests

300

-168

Furthermore, as at 31 December 2008, the disposal of Pohland Herrenbekleidung was considered to be
highly probable, and it too was considered as a discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5.7 in
conjunction with IFRS 5.8 and IFRS 5.12.
The table below shows a comparison of the Group’s profit and loss account for the year under review
and the previous year:
in EUR thousand
Result of Pohland Herrenbekleidung

01/01-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

Income

50,706

22,639

Current expenses

-52,700

-16,184

Financial result

-205

-4

-2,199

6,451

Income taxes

1,432

-278

Result of discontinued operations before minority interests

-767

6,173

Earnings before taxes (EBT)
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In addition, the insolvency application by KTDaythea on 13 February 2009, means that KTDaythea is also
classified as a discontinued operation in the context of IFRS 5.
The table below shows the profit and loss account of the Group during the year under review:

in EUR thousand
Result of KTDaythea

01/01-31/12/2008

Income

50,094

Current expenses

-51,489

Financial result

-72

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

-1,467

Income taxes

-516

Result of discontinued operations before minority interests

-1,983

The information on cash flows for the discontinued operations is provided in item 5.2 of these notes.
The sale of a 15 percent shareholding in Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts at the beginning of October
2008 has not been classified as a case for application of IFRS 5.
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4. Notes to the balance sheet
4.1 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are essentially comprised of software, industrial property rights, brands, orders on
hand, customer relations and goodwill.
Additions from company acquisitions originate only from the Berentzen Group and connectis. As part
of the purchase price allocation other intangible assets were identified and capitalized in addition to
the acquired intangible assets. For the initial consolidation, an additional EUR 18,516 thousand was
capitalized for the Berentzen Group. These are brands, customer relations, trademarks and laws pertaining to water and waterways. These include brands with an unlimited utilization period totalling EUR
15,173 thousand. For connectis an additional EUR 4,282 thousand were capitalized, which only include
the connectis client base.
The brands and goodwill with unlimited utilization period are allocated to cash generating units for
purposes of impairment tests. During the financial year 2008 there was no indication of extraordinary
write-downs.
For further information please refer to the statement of fixed assets (depreciation schedule).

4.2 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment of EUR 106,285 thousand (previous year: EUR 73,710 thousand) includes
leased operational and office equipment of EUR 214 thousand (previous year: EUR 10,738 thousand) and
leased technical systems and machines totalling EUR 9,021 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,930 thousand). Based on the structure of the leasing contracts, these applicable assets are classified as finance
leasing and apportioned to AURELIUS as economic ownership. The contracts refer to production plants
at the Berentzen Group, as well as a production plant and operational and office equipment at
Westfalia Van Conversion.
EUR 30,032 thousand (previous year: EUR 8,589 thousand) of property, plant and equipment is used as
collateral for long-term financial commitments.
As part of the impairment test according to IAS 36 there is a need for extraordinary depreciation of selected assets. This depreciation down to the attainable amount that is below the respective book value
totalled in the reporting year EUR 1,967 thousand (previous year: EUR 0).
For further information please refer to the statement of fixed assets (depreciation schedule).
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4.3 Financial assets
Investments in associates
Financial assets totalling EUR 23,834 thousand (previous year: EUR 20,450 thousand) essentially refer to
a EUR 15,576 thousand (previous year: EUR 19,103 thousand) investment in Compagnie de Gestion et des
Prets SA of 34.9 percent (previous year: 49.99%).
Furthermore, the shares of Mode & Preis Group and RTL Shops (future: Channel 21) are held via RH Retail
Holding GmbH (percentage share 24.8%). The book value of the Group is EUR 4,471 thousand (previous
year: EUR 0).
The assets and debts of portfolio companies that may be reported as shares in associates can be obtained from the following table in aggregated form:

Assets and Debts
in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

Assets

496,401

382,727

Debt

433,779

338,402

The period-end results of the individual companies are listed in the list of investments under annex 2
of the statements.
Shares in joint ventures
AURELIUS indirectly holds shares in DMS Digitale Medienservice GmbH held by the Richard Scherpe
Group, which in turn is controlled by AURELIUS. The book value of this joint venture as defined in IAS 31
calculated according to the equity method in the consolidation financial statement of AURELIUS is on
the balance sheet date EUR 66 thousand (previous year: EUR 48 thousand).
Assessed financial assets are recognized on the income statement at fair value
Financial assets consist of AURELIUS investments in ARQUES Industries AG, Starnberg, totalling EUR
1,538 thousand (previous year: EUR 0) and in Investunity AG, Munich, totalling EUR 290 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,226 thousand).
Property, plant and equipment further include shares of Berentzen Group in unconsolidated subsidiaries (EUR 595 thousand; previous year: EUR 0).
For further information please refer to the statement of fixed assets (annex 1).
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4.4 Inventories
The inventories comprise the following:
in EUR thousand
Raw materials, supplies and consumables
Unfinished goods and services
Finished goods and mechandise
Received Prepayments
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total inventories

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

31,171

21,301

31,472

22,420

56,900

45,479

8

-1,571

119,551

87,629

11,381

-/-

130,932

87,629

The finished products and goods are mainly comprised of the La Source Group totalling EUR 32,167 thousand (previous year: EUR 34,097 thousand), the Berentzen Group with EUR 13,165 thousand (previous year:
EUR 0), Westfalia Van Conversion with EUR 4,376 thousand (previous year: EUR 406 thousand), Einhorn
Mode Manufaktur with EUR 3,513 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,256 thousand) and connectis with EUR
2,059 thousand (previous year: EUR 0).
The inventory of raw materials, supplies and consumables stem mostly from Wellman International with
EUR 10,054 thousand (previous year: EUR 9,673 thousand), the Berentzen Group with EUR 8,368 thousand
(previous year: EUR 0), Westfalia Van Conversion with EUR 5,055 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,243 thousand), Schabmüller Group with EUR 1,612 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,521 thousand), Schleicher
Electronic with EUR 1,535 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,406 thousand) and Einhorn Mode Manufaktur
with EUR 1,044 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,090 thousand).
The unfinished goods and services are attributed to Wellman International with EUR 13,932 thousand (previous year: EUR 12,118 thousand), the Berentzen Group with EUR 8,007 thousand (previous year: EUR 0),
Schabmüller Group with EUR 3,012 thousand (previous year: 3,617 thousand) and Einhorn Mode
Manufaktur with EUR 939 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,030 thousand).
EUR 8,061 thousand (previous year: EUR 7,800 thousand) of inventories are used as collateral for non-current financial commitments.
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4.5 Trade receivables
EUR 51,797 thousand (previous year: EUR 0) are mainly attributable to the Berentzen Group, EUR 21,373
thousand (previous year: EUR 22,079 thousand) to Wellman International, EUR 10,120 thousand to
connectis (previous year: EUR 0), EUR 3,372 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,344 thousand) to
Schabmüller Group, EUR 2,762 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,298 thousand) to Westfalia Van
Conversion and EUR 5,443 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,259 thousand) to La Source Group.
All reported receivables are due within one year.
EUR 36,171 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,106 thousand) of accounts receivable are used as collateral
for non-current financial commitments.
The following accounts receivable are overdue, however were not recorded in the impairment loss provision because the receivable may not be impaired.
in EUR thousand
2008

overdue up to
30 days

Trade receivables

28.510

in EUR thousand
2007

overdue up to
30 days

Trade receivables

2.846

overdue
between
30 - 60 days

overdue
between
60 - 90 days

7.567
overdue
between
30 - 60 days

2.291
overdue
between
60 - 90 days

2.397

3.087
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overdue
overdue since
between
more than
90 - 120 days
120 days
638

380

overdue
overdue since
between
more than
90 - 120 days
120 days
489

1.024

Total

39.386
Total

9.843
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4.6 Tax assets
Receivables from taxes on earnings consist predominantly of La Source Group receivables totalling EUR
2,502 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,597 thousand), AURELIUS AG receivables totalling EUR 1,083 thousand (previous year: EUR 0), DFA – Transport und Logistik receivables totalling EUR 799 thousand (previous year: EUR 0) and the GHOTEL Group receivables totalling EUR 454 thousand (previous year: EUR
135 thousand).

4.7 Other assets
Reported other assets comprise the following:
in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

19,279

-/-

Capitalized catalogue costs

11,357

10,100

Tax receivables

6,626

2,780

Other assets from affiliated companies

Prepaid expenses
Other
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total other assets

1,230

1,799

13,797

14,102

52,289

28,781

2,327

-/-

54,616

28,781

The entry "Other" includes predominantly bonus receivables to suppliers totalling EUR 2,440 thousand
and insurance claims of EUR 923 thousand.
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4.8 Cash and cash equivalents
The record is mainly attributed to AURELIUS AG with EUR 21,786 thousand (previous year: EUR 8,733 thousand), La Source Group with EUR 15,236 thousand (previous year: EUR 14,963 thousand), Berentzen Group
with EUR 16,327 thousand (previous year: EUR 0), connectis with EUR 4,700 thousand (previous year: EUR
0), Westfalia Van Conversion with EUR 3,928 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,761 thousand) and GHOTEL
Group with EUR 2,516 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,604 thousand).
EUR 2,405 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,222 thousand) of inventory are pledged as collateral, i.e. restricted cash.

4.9 Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale
Three properties (EUR 10,801 thousand) in the Group were classified as assets held for sale. The time of
the sale is expected during the first half year of 2009. The fair value less selling costs due were determined using the present purchasing agreements and expert reports.
Furthermore, the record in the balance sheet “assets held for sale” and “liabilities held for sale” refer to
certain assets and liabilities of KTDaythea and Pohland Herrenbekleidung. In accordance with the regulations of IFRS 5, before reclassifying the property, plant and equipment entry, the assets held for sale
must be reviewed to see if the fair value less selling costs is below the book value. The following facts
are reported and recognized on the balance sheet at the cost between the fair value and current book
value, taking the expected cost of disposal into account. Here the fair value less cost of disposal is determined on an aggregate level and compared to the total book value.

105

AURELIUS Annual Report 2008

Notes

KWE Group
On 28 July 2008 the KWE Group was sold, recording a gain on deconsolidation of EUR 1,839 thousand.
The following summary lists the disposed assets and debts at the time of sale:

in EUR thousand
balance sheet

28/07/2008

ASSETS
Intangible assets

223

Property, plant and equipment

280

Inventories

2,693

Trade receivables and other current assets

2,677

Cash and cash equivalents

2,602

Assets from discontinued operations

8,475

LIABILITIES
Pension obligations

343

Provisions

2,212

Financial liabilities

1,500

Trade payables

1,623

Other liabilities

899

Liabilities from discontinued operations

6,577

Net assets from discontinued operations

1,898
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Pohland Herrenkleidung
Pohland Herrenbekleidung was classified on the balance sheet date 31 December 2008 as a “discontinued operation” in terms of IFRS 5, since the sale of this Group had already been negotiated with potential buyers. The following summary presents the existing assets and liabilities of the Group on 31
December 2008:
in EUR thousand
balance sheet

31/12/2008

ASSETS
Intangible assets

135

Fixed assets

12,047

Inventories

6,432

Trade receivables and other assets

1,845

Cash and cash equivalents

2,230

Assets from discontinued operations

22,689

LIABILITIES
Pension obligations

126

Provisions

3,433

Liabilities from percentage of completion

8,137

Other liabilities

7,042

Liabilities from discontinued operations

18,738

Net assets from discontinued operations

3,951
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KTDaythea
Effective 13 February 2009 KTDaythea filed insolvency proceedings at the responsible District Court in
Charlottenburg. Consequently, the IFRS 5 regulations must be applied and the company must be reported as a “discontinued operation.” The assets and liabilities are comprised as follows on 31 December
2008:
in EUR thousand
balance sheet

31/12/2008

ASSETS
Intangible assets

95

Property, plant and equipment

360

Inventories

4,949

Trade receivables and other assets

4,606

Cash and cash equivalents

1,457

Assets from discontinued operations

11,467

LIABILITIES
Pension obligations

3

Provisions

3,859

Liabilities from percentage of completion

8,162

Other liabilities

2,052

Liabilities from discontinued operations

14,076

Net assets from discontinued operations

-2,609
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4.10 Shareholders equity
The EUR 9,322,250 of share capital of AURELIUS AG (previous year: EUR 9,015,500) is fully paid and divided
into 9,322,250 registered shares with no par value, each with a notional value of 1.00 euro. On 31 December
2008 the number of issued shares totalled 9,313,871.The nominal amount of existing treasury shares on the
balance sheet date 31 December 2008 was offset in accordance with IAS 32 using the subscribed capital.
By utilizing the empowering resolution of the Annual General Meeting dated 10 July 2008 the company
completed a capital increase from the authorized capital on 6 August 2008. During the course of this transaction, 306,750 registered shares were issued at an issue price of 16.30 euro. The number of shares increased to 9,322,250 and the share capital after capital increase totalled EUR 9,322,250.
Capital reserve
The capital reserve of the AURELIUS Group is EUR 13,882 thousand. This amount essentially includes the
capital reserve of AURELIUS AG totalling EUR 14,485 thousand (previous year EUR 9,792 thousand). The
capital reserve was increased by the EUR 4,430 thousand issue price of the new shares during the financial year 2008.
The capital reserve of EUR 13,882 thousand includes an entry for stock options of EUR 444 thousand issued to employees.
The acquisition value amount of EUR 121 thousand exceeding the par value of the acquired treasury stock
was offset in accordance with IAS 32 by the capital reserve.
Minority interests
The adjustment item for minority shareholders totalling EUR 37,362 thousand is especially attributable to
the Berentzen Group included for the first time this financial year (EUR 26,804 thousand) and Wellman
International (EUR 6,862 thousand; previous year: EUR 8,193 thousand).
Appropriation
Based on the resolution of the General Meeting of 10 July 2008 a EUR 1.352 million distribution to shareholders from the balance sheet profits of EUR 6.789 million of AURELIUS AG of the financial year 2007 were
distributed. This corresponds to a distribution of 0.15 Euros per ordinary share.
According to the German Companies Act the dividends distributed to shareholders are measured by the
balance sheet profit reported in AURELIUS AG’s annual financial statement and recognized under German
commercial law. The appropriation proposal of the Board of AURELIUS AG intends to distribute a dividend
of 0.50 Euros per share from the balance sheet profit of EUR 19,413 thousand reported in the 2008 annual
financial statement. This corresponds to a distribution amount totalling EUR 4,661 thousand. EUR 14,752
thousand are carried forward onto new account. If on the date of the Annual General Meeting, the company still holds treasury shares that according to Section71 b of the German Companies Act are not entitled to be used as dividend payments, then the amount attributable to these shares are carried forward to
the new account.
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Authorized capital
A portion of the authorized capital of 27 June 2007 (“Authorized Capital 2007/I”), EUR 427,200 was utilized and totalled at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2007 EUR 3,866,950. With the resolution of
the Annual General Meeting of 10 July 2008 the existing authorized capital (“Authorized Capital
2007/I”) was cancelled. With the same resolution, new authorized capital (“Authorized Capital 2008/I”)
was created. As a result, upon approval from the Supervisory Board, the Management Board is authorized to increase the share capital by 9 July 2013, one time or in partial amounts by a total of up to EUR
4,507,750 by issuing up to 4,507,750 new registered shares each with a notional value of EUR 1.00 and
full dividend rights. Upon approval from the Supervisory Board, the Management Board may exclude in
certain cases the subscription right of the shareholders. Upon approval from the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board may decide on the provisions governing the share rights and the terms of share
issue, as well as details of capital increase. Based on the capital increase of EUR 306,750 completed
according to the Commercial Register entry of 18 August 2008, the authorized capital totalled on the
balance sheet date EUR 4,201,000.
Capital increase
With the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 27 June 2007 and the entry in the Commercial
Register of 16 August 2007, as well as the articles of association of 27 August 2007 the company’s share
capital was increased by up to EUR 1,717,660, by issuing new registered shares each with a notional
value of EUR 1.00 and full dividend rights ("Capital increase 2007/I”). The Capital Increase 2007/I is used
to grant conversion rights or subscription rights of up to 200,000 in convertible bonds at a nominal
amount of EUR 100.00 each, which the Management Board can issue until 26 June 2012, based on the
authorization received at the Annual General Meeting of 27 June 2007 and that will be executed accordingly. With the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 27 June 2007 and the entry in the
Commercial Register of 16 August 2007, as well as the entry in the articles of association of 27 August
2007, the company’s share capital was increased by up to EUR 343,560, by issuing new registered shares each with a notional value of EUR 1.00 and full dividend rights ("Capital increase 2007/I”). The capital increase 2007/II is used to grant options to selected members of the Management Board of the
company, selected members of the management of affiliated companies, and selected employees of
the company or of its affiliated companies (“Entitled to Options”) as part of the AURELIUS stock option
plan 2007. By the balance sheet date a total of 229,985 options were granted to beneficiaries.
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Purchase of treasury stock
With the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 27 June 2007 the Management Board is authorized in accordance with Section 71 (1) No.8 of the German Companies Act to acquire treasury shares of
up to 10 percent of the current share capital by 26 December 2008. This resolution was annulled with
the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 10 July 2008 and replaced by a new authorization
effective until 9 January 2010. The new resolution authorizes the Management Board in accordance
with Section 71 (1) No. 8 of the German Companies Act to acquire treasury shares of up to 10 percent of
the current share capital by 09 January 2010. The Management Board of AURELIUS AG made use of this
resolution during the financial year 2008. On the balance sheet date the company owned 8,379 shares.
The shares were acquired in October at an average price of EUR 15.41 per share. The portion of treasury
shares corresponds to 0.09 percent of AURELIUS AG share capital. The authorization is used to provide
the Management Board the opportunity of offering company stock for sale to institutional investors
domestically and abroad, to adjust equity to the respective business needs while maintaining shareholders interests and to be able to quickly react to stock exchange situations. The authorization further
allows the company the opportunity to utilize treasury shares as payment in kind, as an acquisition currency for the acquisition of companies or investments in companies. Ultimately, the company will have
the opportunity to utilize stock options for treasury shares, issued as part of the SOP 2007 to selected
members of the Management Board, selected members of the management of companies affiliated
with the company, and selected employees of the company and its affiliated companies.

4.11 Pension obligations
Total provisions of EUR 22,779 thousand (previous year: EUR 12,850 thousand) are mainly attributed to
the Berentzen Group with EUR 10,611 thousand (previous year: EUR 0), the Richard Scherpe Group with
EUR 4,848 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,052 thousand), Einhorn Mode Manufaktur with EUR 3,484
thousand (previous year: EUR 3,625 thousand), Schabmüller Group with EUR 2,010 thousand (previous
year: EUR 1,928 thousand) and Westfalia Van Conversion with EUR 1,656 thousand (previous year: EUR
1,601 thousand). The increase is predominantly due to the initial consolidation of the Berentzen Group.
The benefit obligations of the pension liabilities reported among the AURELIUS companies based on
the defined benefit plans developed as follows:
in EUR thousand

2008

2007

Balance as at 01/01

12,850

8,144

Acquisitions consolidation

10,730

7,351

-460

-2,597

794

363

-1,046

-472

-174

-/-

Disposals consolidation
Interest expense
Pensions paid
TRepayment of losses / earnings
Current service expense
Total provisions 31/12
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The provisions for pension obligations are derived as follows
in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

20,672

11,902

2,107

948

22,779

12,850

Benefit obligation of the pension obligations
unrecorded actuarial earnings

The following was recorded in the pension expense for the financial year:
1/1 - 31/12/2008

1/1 - 31/12/2007

Accumulation of expected pension obligations

in EUR thousand

794

363

Repayment of losses / earnings

-174

-/-

85

61

705

424

Service expense
Total pension expense

The corridor amortization method is used for repayment. In other words, a repayment is due, only for
the excess portion, if the unpaid amount is greater than 10 percent of the defined benefit obligation.
The repayment period used is based on the expected average remaining service, calculated based on
the accounting principles for the planned asset portfolio on the computation date. In the Group this
does not exceed 6.5 years.
The computations are based on the following actuarial assumptions:
in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

Discount rate

6.00%

5.50%

Salary growth

0.00% - 2.00%

0.00% - 2.00%

Pension growth

1.00% - 2.00%

2.00%

Fluctuation

0.00% - 4.50%

0.00%
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Pension plan assets
Wellmann International has two pension plans that are processed using their own trust companies
(Wellmann International Trustees Staff Ltc. and Wellmann International Trustees Works Ltc.). The status
of the net pension plan assets at year-end, as well as the amounts included in the fair value of the pension plan assets for each financial instrument category with expected rate of return of the assets are
comprised as follows:
Category

Expected
rate of return
31/12/2008

Included fair
value
31/12/2008

Expected
rate of return
31/12/2007

Included fair
value
31/12/2007

in EUR thousand
Unit value

7.75%

27,236

7.70%

49,647

Real estate

6.75%

2,768

6.70%

4,529

Bonds

4.25%

10,917

4.70%

9,892

Other assets

3.00%

3,471

7.00%

2,047

Total expected rate of return

6.40%

44,392

7.00%

66,115

This is the total amount of the pension fund, used only for purposes of meeting the pension commitments and is not available to creditors in case of insolvency.
The trend based on actuarial expert reports of the net assets exceeding pensions obligations as of the
time of adding an investment to the consolidation appears as follows:
in EUR thousand

2008

2007

Included fair value of plan assets

44,392

66,115

Included fair value of pension obligations

-66,471

-69,372

22,122

3,554

43

297

unrecorded actuarial earnings/losses
Net plan assets

Net plan assets 1.1.

297

-/-

Net plan assets at initial consolidation

-/-

206

Profit

-254

91

43

297

Net plan assets 31/12
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The benefit obligation of the pension obligations, reported based on the pension plan assets developed
as follows:
in EUR thousand
Balance as of 01/01
Acquisitions consolidation

2008

2007

69,372

-/-

-/-

70,138

Interest expense

3,778

1,545

Current service expense

1,947

813

Pensions paid

-1,357

-617

Actuarial earnings / losses

-7,269

-2.,507

Balance as at 31/12

66,471

69,372

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

5.60%

5.50%

Salary growth

3.50%

4.00%

Pension growth

2.00%

2.50%

Inflation rate

2.00%

2.50%

Actuarial assumptions for pension plan assets:

Discount rate
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4.12 Provisions
in EUR thousand

Restructuring

1/1/2008

Change
consolidation

Utilization

Allocation

Release

31/12/2008

14,105

-2,454

-928

2.068

-5,582

7,209

Warranty

3,186

410

-442

1.349

-1,138

3,365

Personnel

4,413

148

-2,201

524

-666

2,218

Contingent losses

1,843

-/-

-270

-/-

-52

1,521

676

-/-

-235

64

-/-

505

9,677

-430

-2,455

2.080

-834

8,038

33,900

-2,326

-6,531

6.085

-8,272

22,856

Provisions
Remaining other
provisions
Total other provisions

The restructuring provisions of EUR 7,209 thousand (previous year: EUR 14,105 thousand) predominantly
result from provisions for staffing measures, risk provisions and moving expenses.
The provisions for warranty obligations of EUR 3,365 thousand (previous year: EUR 3,186 thousand) are
mainly attributable to the Schabmüller Group and Westfalia Van Conversion.
Staffing provisions of EUR 2,218 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,413 thousand) only include provisions for
anniversaries totalling EUR 1,685 thousand (previous year: EUR 216 thousand) and provisions for partial
retirement totalling EUR 533 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,883 thousand).
The remaining other provisions of EUR 8,038 thousand (previous year: EUR 9,677 thousand) mainly refer
to revitalization obligations and various individual obligations.
The maturities of the provisions are divided as follows:
in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

Long-term provisions

6,931

31/12/2007

17,744

Short-term provisions

15,925

16,156

Total other provisions

22,856

33,900
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4.13 Non-current financial liabilities
The non-current financial liabilities are comprised as follows:
in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

Bank liabilities

15,139

10,451

Other financial liabilities

6,796

17,031

Total continued operations

21,935

27,482

-/-

-/-

21,935

27,482

Discontinued operations
Total non-current financial obligations

Bank liabilities originate predominantly from the Berentzen Group with EUR 5,390 thousand (previous
year: EUR 0) and DFA - Transport und Logistik with EUR 5,239 thousand (previous year: EUR 6,536 thousand).
Other financial liabilities can be attributed to connectis with EUR 6,796 thousand (previous year: EUR
0) and essentially consist of liabilities to the pension funds.

4.14 Other non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities include all obligations from purchase price adjustment clauses (earnouts), where the occurrence is possible and is the result of acquiring company shares.
The included fair value of commitments of the financial liabilities measured at amortised costs of the
assessment category totals EUR 31,284 thousand (previous year: EUR 22,263 thousand) at the balance
sheet date of 31 December 2008. The fair values were determined during the purchase price calculation of acquired companies according to the acquisition method and are - provided they are based on
forecasted results - updated according to the respective budget plans.
The liabilities of the assessment categories classified as liabilities have a remaining maturity from one
to five years.
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4.15 Financial leasing liabilities
Property, plant and equipment of the Group include technical systems and machines, as well as operating and office equipment that are classified as economic property of the Group based on the structure of the leasing agreements (finance leases). The resulting leasing commitments of the Group for the
reporting year and previous year can be obtained from the following table:
in EUR thousand on 31/12/2008

Nominal value

Discount amount

Cash value

776

177

599

2,084

228

1,856

- Remaining maturity up to one year
- Remaining maturity between one and five years
- Remaining maturity over five years

80

2

78

2,940

407

2,533

-/-

-/-

-/-

2,940

407

2,533

Nominal value

Discount amount

Cash value

- Remaining maturity up to one year

4,531

531

4,000

- Remaining maturity between one and five years

11,533

774

10,759

16,064

1,305

14,759

-/-

-/-

-/-

16,064

1,305

14,759

Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total liabilities from finance leases

in million Euros on 31/12/2007

Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total liabilities from finance leases

Noteworthy AURELIUS leasing agreements are particularly for the operating and office equipment at
the Berentzen Group and for the technical systems and machines at Berentzen Group and Westfalia
Van Conversion.

4.16 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
Deferred taxes are the result of different valuations between the IFRS and tax balance sheet values of
the respective Group companies and consolidation measures.
Deferred tax assets
No deferred tax assets were stated for the losses carried forward under the corporate income tax and
trade tax acts. The total of losses carried forward amounts to EUR 140,018 thousand (previous year: EUR
83,267 thousand) for corporate income tax and EUR 25,527 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,462 thousand) for trade tax. If there are fiscal losses carried forward the positive tax result in Germany may be
offset up to EUR 1,000 thousand, however, only at 60 percent with corporate or trade tax losses carried
forward (minimum taxation rate). The losses carried forward are in principle not subject to any time
constraints, but since the adoption of the German Act on Fiscal Measures Accompanying the
Introduction of European Companies and Amendment of further Fiscal Regulations of 31 December
2006, they may no longer be transferred to other companies via mergers or similar transactions. In
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Germany Section 8c of the German Corporate Income Tax Act introduced along with the 2008 company
tax reform must be followed. Capitalizing deferred tax assets on existing losses carried forward are not
completed for company acquisitions on the acquisition date. A separate review on the balance sheet
date will determine if fiscal losses carried forward can be used in the future. Based on the business
model characteristics of AURELIUS, an individual planning period of one to four years is expected for
recognizing deferred tax assets resulting from tax loss carry-forwards.
For determining deferred tax assets and liabilities the following balancing was completed:

Deferred tax assets
in EUR thousand
Inventories
Current assets

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

-/-

468

-/-

672

Pension obligations

1,445

1,957

Other provisions

2,207

2,483

Liabilities

5,589

135

Tax losses carried forward

33,377

18,111

-33,377

-18,111

9,241

5,715

in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

Intangible assets

4,830

1,516

Property, plant and equipment

1,978

4,415

Financial assets

5,089

147

Impairments
Total deferred tax assets

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Inventories
Receivables and other current assets
Other current assets
Capitalized catalogue costs

46

-/-

2,434

76

11

-/-

3,357

3,332

Accrued expenses

148

-/-

Other provisions

-/-

284

17,893

9,770

Total deferred tax liabilities
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4.17 Current financial liabilities
The current financial liabilities mainly refer to the Berentzen Group with EUR 33,676 thousand (previous year: EUR 0), Wellmann International with EUR 24,889 thousand (previous year: EUR 12,517 thousand) and DFA – Transport und Logistik with EUR 2,088 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,334 thousand).

4.18 Trade payables
Trade payables are due to third parties. They are recorded at the nominal value or repayment amount
and are due in full within one year. The record of EUR 119,233 thousand (previous year: EUR 87,565 thousand) is mainly attributable t0 La Source Group with EUR 59,334 thousand (previous year: EUR 47,915
thousand), Wellmann International with EUR 16,679 thousand (previous year: EUR 22,894 thousand),
Berentzen Group with EUR 13,717 thousand (previous year: EUR 0), Westfalia Van Conversion with EUR
6,470 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,089 thousand) and Einhorn Mode Manufaktur with EUR 3,839
thousand (previous year: EUR 3,346 thousand).

4.19 Liabilities from percentage of completion
The liabilities from non-current orders mainly refer to connectis with EUR 8,045 thousand (previous
year: EUR 0).

4.20 Liabilities from tax on liqours
The liabilities from tax on liqours of Berentzen Group refer to the Spirits Monopoly Act which are due
to payment at the 5th of January and February.
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4.21 Other current liabilities
Other current liabilities were structured as follows during the reporting year:
in EUR thousand

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

Sales commitments

13,392

-/-

Other taxes

9,930

4,062

Other staff expenses

9,443

6,994

Operating leases

9,071

6,225

Customer credit notes

5,391

6,540

Salaries and wages

3,824

5,387

Outstanding invoices

2,346

2,393

Social security contributions

1,873

3,779

Prepaid expenses

1,308

1,240

10,912

4,332

67,490

40,952

5,568

-/-

73,058

40,952

Other current liabilities
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total other current liabilities
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5. Other disclosures
5.1 Segment reporting
AURELIUS specializes in the acquisition of companies in exceptional circumstances or in transition, so
that its portfolio includes companies in a great variety of industries,
Its internal organization and management structure as well as its internal reporting to the
Management and Supervisory Boards provide the basis for determining the primary segment reporting format at AURELIUS. Accordingly, the breakdown of the business segments remains unchanged
from the previous year, comprising “Services & Solutions (S&S),”“Industrial Production (IP),” and “Retail
& Consumer Products (RCP),” as well as “ Other.”
The components of the primary business segments are as follows:
1) The S&S segment comprises companies that operate specifically in the service sector. This includes
DFA – Transport und Logistik, the GHOTEL Group as well as connectis.
The companies in the KWE Group and KTDaythea that are reported in the present consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS 5 (Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations) are also included in this Segment.
2)

The RCP segment comprises companies that market their products directly to the end customers.
These include the La Source Group, Einhorn Mode Manufaktur and the Berentzen Group.
Pohland Herrenbekleidung, which is reported under discontinued operations in the present finan
cial statements, is also assigned to this segment.

3)

The IP segment, which comprises companies that are primarily engaged in operations in the area
of industrial production, includes the Richard Scherpe Group, the Schabmüller Group, Schleicher
Electronic, Westfalia Van Conversion and Wellman International

4) The “Other” segment primarily comprises AURELIS AG as well as additional intermediate holding companies, thus bundling Group controlling as well as general and administrative activities.
Transfer prices charged between business segments correspond to prices that would also be obtained
in arms-length third party transactions. Management and administrative services are charged in addition through cost allocations.
The segment information for the primary business segments of the AURELIUS Group for 2008 breaks
down as follows:
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2008
in EUR thousand

Notes

Services & Industrial
Retail &
Solutions Production Consumer
Products

Other

Consolidation

AURELIUS
Group

Revenue

132.161

216,508

332,323

747

-/-

681,739

- discontinued operations

54,217

-/-

44,508

-/-

-/-

98,725

Intercompany revenue
Revenue
Earnings (EBIT) from
continuing operations

38

35

365

7,310

-7,748

-/-

132,199

216,543

332,688

8,057

-7,748

681,739

4,292

5,679

12,756

29,450

-/-

52,177

Depreciation on financial assets

-4,135

Interest result

-3,913

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

44,129

Income taxes

-10,831

Netprofit
from continuing operations

33,298

Result from
discontinued operations

-2,450

Net profit attributable
to minority interest

5,385

Net profit

36,233

Balance sheet - assets
Segment assets
Financial assets;
consolidated at equity

65,405

131,862

307,540

42,304

547,149

-/-

66

20,754

1,828

22,648

Unallocated assets

14,871

Total assets

584,668

Balance sheet - liabilities
Segment liabilities

54,942

54,714

190,882

4,647

305,185

Unallocated liabilities

138,024

Total liabilities

443,209

Other disclosures
Current capital expenditures
Capital expenditures for acquisitions
Depreciation and amortization
of assets
Interest income
Interest expenses
Share of profit of associates

2,509

4,476

2,732

12,642

22,359

3,331

-/-

22,130

-/-

25,461

-4,194

-8,818

-7,262

-95

-20,369

252

196

788

255

1,491

-1,113

-3,014

-1,450

173

-5,404

-/-

38

7,170

-/-

7,208
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2007
in EUR thousand
Revenue
- discontinued operations
Intercompany revenue
Revenue
Earnings (EBIT) from
continuing operations

Notes

Services & Industrial
Retail &
Solutions Production Consumer
Products

Other

Consolidation

AURELIUS
Group

64,435

114,608

136,435

1,258

-/-

316,736

24,314

10,957

14,996

-/-

-/-

50,267

9

225

24

3,075

-3,333

-/-

64,444

114,833

136,459

4,333

-3,333

316,736

3,460

41,142

10,747

903

-/-

56,252

Depreciation on financial assets

-173

Interest result

-979

Earnings before taxes (EBT)

55,100

Income taxes

-4,306

Netprofit
from continuing operations

50,794

Result from
discontinued operations

6,348

Net profit attributable
to minority interest

-9,733

Net profit

47,409

Balance sheet - assets
Segment assets
Financial assets; measured
using the equity method

31,802

138,123

122,051

9,788

-/-

301,764

-/-

-/-

19,103

1,347

-/-

20,450

Unallocated assets

9,475

Total assets

331,689

Balance sheet - liabilities
Segment liabilities

22,319

97,941

93,558

-14,782

-/-

Unallocated liabilities

199,036
57,209

Total liabilities

256,245

Other disclosures
Current capital expenditures
Capital expenditures for acquisitions
Depreciation and amortization
of assets
Interest income
Interest expenses
Share of profit of associates

7,104

1,752

3,706

-/-

-/-

12,562

-/-

4,042

2,019

-/-

-/-

6,061

-3,038

-3,711

-1,165

-65

-174

-8,153

130

122

384

195

-/-

831

-629

-1,150

-31

-/-

-/-

-1,810

-/-

-/-

1,013

-/-

-/-

1,013
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The segment information for the primary business segments of the AURELIUS Group for 2008 breaks
down as follows:
in EUR thousand

01/01/-31/12/2008

01/01-31/12/2007

Germany

193,284

66,536

Europe - EU

350,742

195,038

34,613

1,177

Rest of Europe - non EU
Other countries
Total continuing operations
Discontinued operations (Germany)
Revenue

4,375

3,718

583,014

266,469

98,725

50,267

681,739

316,736

5.2 Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows net changes in cash and cash equivalents at AURELIUS in both the
reporting period and in the previous year. In accordance with the rules under IAS 7, the statement
breaks the classification of the cash inflows and cash outflows down into cash flows from operating
activities as well as cash flows from investing activities and from financing activities. The translation
differences arising from the amounts reported by foreign companies in foreign currencies are not
shown separately, since there are not material, either individually or in aggregate.
AURELIUS is characterized by very rapid growth. In this connection, AURELIUS grows especially through
the acquisition of companies that are undergoing a restructuring or realignment process. When looking at cash flow it is thus necessary to consider that the calculation eliminates those changes that arise
from additions to the scope of consolidation. Changes in working capital are therefore only reported as
cash items from the date of the first-time consolidation.
Cash and cash equivalents in the amount of EUR 72,562 thousand (previous year: EUR 38,949 thousand)
corresponds to the balance sheet line item Cash and cash equivalents, which is primarily composed of
bank balances. Checks, cash on hand as well as financial instruments with an original maturity of up to
three months are also reported under this balance sheet item. Of the total cash and cash equivalents,
EUR 2,405 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,222 thousand) serve as securities for liabilities and not available to AURELIUS for operating activities.
AURELIUS expended EUR 25,461 thousand (previous year: EUR 5,821 thousand) on new acquisitions of
equity interests in companies. This was offset by acquired cash and cash equivalents in the amount of
EUR 11,083 thousand (previous year: EUR 18,619 thousand). On balance, the purchase of equity interests
in companies in 2008 resulted in a reduction of cash and cash equivalents of EUR 14,378 thousand (previous year: EUR 12,798 thousand).
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The net cash flows for discontinued operations as defined in IFRS 5 are broken down as follows in accordance with IFRS 5.33c:
•
•
•

Cash flow from operating activities EUR 1,510 thousand (previous year: EUR 365 thousand)
Cash flow from investing activities EUR -5,828 thousand (previous year: EUR -382 thousand)
Cash flow from financing activities EUR -608 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,153 thousand)

Free cash flow decreased year-on-year from EUR 23,642 thousand to EUR 14,410 thousand. This is mainly attributable to the fact that the acquisitions in the 2007 financial year included higher cash funds
than those in the 2008 financial year, and that the acquisition of the Berentzen Group and of connectis represented acquisitions of companies for which the purchase price paid in line with their market
position was relatively higher when compared to those in the 2007 financial year.

5.3 Notes on business combinations
The company acquisitions transacted in the 2007 and 2008 financial years are disclosed in aggregate as
defined in IFRS 3.68.
The companies acquired and consolidated as part of the Group in the financial year just ended were KTDaythea effective 1 January 2008, connectis effective 30 June 2008 and the Berentzen Group effective 30
September 2008. The date on which control passed is reported as the respective acquisition date for the
company.
The aggregate of the purchase prices for the acquired companies was EUR 25,914 thousand (previous year:
EUR 26,745 thousand).The aggregate of the purchase prices to be settled in cash was equal to EUR 16,729
thousand (previous year: EUR 5,821 thousand); EUR 9,185 thousand (previous year: EUR 20,684 thousand)
are treated as additional acquisition costs on the basis of a purchase price adjustment clause since it is
probable that this will be realized. Incidental expenses attributable to the acquisition and included in the
aggregate of the purchase prices were equal to EUR 400 thousand (previous year: EUR 241 thousand).
These payment flows and the acquired assets and liabilities resulted in a negative goodwill amount of
EUR 18,202 thousand (previous year: EUR 59,286 thousand) that was recognized through profit and loss
and is disclosed in the income statement under other operating income.
The aggregate net loss for the acquired companies from the date of their initial consolidation through
31 December 2008 was equal to EUR -14,183 thousand (previous year: EUR -5,794 thousand). This net result already includes all start-up and take-over losses as well as the losses from the restructuring. It does
not include other operating income from the reversal negative goodwill amounts arising on first-time
consolidation (bargain purchase). The contributions to earnings from 1 January 2008 until the acquisition date were not calculated, since the associated amounts were irrelevant to the consolidation.
The acquired cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations were equal to EUR 11,083 thousand
(previous year: EUR 18,619 thousand), which resulted in an aggregate net outflow of cash in the amount
of EUR 14,378 thousand (previous year: net inflow of cash in the amount of EUR 12,798 thousand).
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in EUR thousand

Carrying amounts

Carrying amounts

Fair value

Fair value

1

1

01/01 -31/12/08

1

01/01 -31/12/071

38,105

11,026

01/01 -31/12/08
Intangible assets

01/01 -31/12/07

22,741

Land and leasehold rights

18,140

3,312

3,917

3,708

3,663

Buildings

26,977

12,990

17,826

21,234

Technical equipment and machinery

24,759

22,545

22,495

23,254

Other non-current assets

8,087

30,416

8,087

28,216

Total non-current assets

85,875

88,008

90,220

87,393

Inventories

54,828

103,124

53,384

102,408

59,245

47,193

59,245

47,193

Trade receivables
Other current assets

2

6,658

33,766

6,658

33,766

16,054

18,619

16,054

18,619

1,533

-/-

9,774

-/-

138,318

202,702

145,116

201,986

21,119

37,030

22,531

37,030

Trade payables

23,096

78,299

23,096

78,299

Other liabilities

104,035

80,810

106,893

80,810

Cash and cash equivalents
Deferred tax assets
Current assets

Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

725

1,597

8,483

7,209

Liabilities

148,975

197,736

161,003

203,348

Net assets

75,218

92,974

74,332

86,031

1

carrying amounts and fair values as of first time consolidation

2

incl. pre-paid expenses

The acquisition of the Berentzen Group involved the acquisition of a total of 79.5 percent of the outstanding voting ordinary shares and 25.5 percent of the outstanding nonvoting preferred shares of the
Berentzen Group. This is corresponds to an equity interest of 52.5 percent of the share capital of the
Berentzen Group.
No business units were discontinued or divested in connection with the company acquisitions. KTDaythea, which was consolidated for the first time as of 1 January 2008 is reported under discontinued
operations as of 31 December 2008 as a result of the insolvency application filed on 13 February 2009. KTDaythea is included in the notes above at a contribution to earnings in the amount of EUR -7,149 thousand, having resulted on the date of the first-time consolidation in an inflow of cash and cash equivalents of EUR 4,853 thousand as well as a negative goodwill amount from the first-time consolidation (bargain purchase) in the amount of EUR 4,820 thousand.
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5.4 Other financial commitments
As of the balance sheet date, the Company carried other financial liabilities primarily from rental and
lease agreements for buildings, land, machinery, tools, office furniture and other office equipment. The
total of future payments from fixed-term contracts breaks down by maturity as follows:
in EUR thousand
Liab. for rental and lease payments, due

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

- within one year

11,039

19,223

- in two to five years

18,636

49,971

9,710

12,279

39,385

81,473

- in more than five years
Total continued operations
Discontinued operations

55,239

-/-

94,624

81,473

31/12/2008

31/12/2007

1,017

994

- in two to five years

517

465

- in more than five years

-/-

155

1,534

1,614

258

-/-

1,792

1,614

Total liabilities for rental and lease payments

in EUR thousand
Other liabilities, due
- within one year

Total continued operations
Discontinued operations
Total other liabilities

5.5 Contingencies
As at the 31 December 2008 balance sheet date, the Company carried contingent liabilities in the amount of EUR 4,009 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,286 thousand).
They primarily represent commitments from guarantees in the amount of EUR 1,768 thousand at the
Berentzen Group and AG.
AURELIUS AG has further issued a comfort letter to the Kreissparkasse Reutlingen savings bank. In this
connection, the Company has agreed to offset a net loss for the year at Einhorn Mode Manufaktur GmbH
& Co. KG by contributing cash funds up to a maximum amount of EUR 1,500 thousand.
In addition, Unicorn Beteiligungs AG has furnished a guarantee for the benefit of Prominent Apparel Ltd.
in the amount of EUR 500 thousand for vendor liabilities of Einhorn Mode Manufaktur GmbH & Co. KG.
Furthermore GHOTEL GmbH has contingencies amounting to EUR 141 thousand from deposited securities.
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DFA – Transport und Logistic GmbH carries commitments for a total of EUR 100 thousand arising from
guarantees.

5.6 Share-based remuneration
In a resolution dated 27 September 2007, the Management Board, with the approval of the Supervisory
Board, decided on the terms and conditions for the AURELIUS Stock Option Plan 2007 (“SOP 2007”) adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2007. Under this plan, the Supervisory Board is authorized to grant options on new bearer shares, either on a one-time basis or in several tranches, to selected
members of the Management Board, and the Management Board is authorized to make such grants
with the approval of the Supervisory Board to selected members of the Management Boards of affiliated companies as well as to selected employees of the Company and of its affiliates. This will be done
subject to the proviso that if options are granted to Management Board members and employees of affiliated companies, the Company must directly or indirectly hold a minimum equity interest of 75 percent
in any such entity. The authorization relative to all groups in aggregate covers a total of up to 343,560
options (“total volume”) through 30 June 2010. The options break down between the individual groups
of beneficiaries as follows:
•
•
•

for members of the Management Board of the Company a maximum of 50 percent (or up to 171,780
options);
for members of the Management Boards of affiliated companies a maximum of 25 percent (or up to
85,890 options);
for employees of the Company and of its affiliated companies a maximum of 25 percent (or up to
85,890 options);

Within the scope of the SPO 2007, every beneficiary is granted the right to purchase one share of the
Company (“AURELIUS Share”) at a fixed price (“exercise price”) for each option granted.
Options may be granted in each case on a one-time basis or in several tranches within 45 (forty-five) days
from the announcement date of the results for the financial year just ended, or, respectively, within 45
(forty-five) days from the announcement date of the results for the first, second or third quarter of a current financial year, but no later than two weeks before the end of the respective current quarter. The date
on which the options are awarded (“Award Date”) is to be uniform for the tranches and will be determined by the Supervisory Board to the extent that members of the Management Board are concerned, and
by the Management Board in all other cases.
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Options have a total term to maturity of 5 years from the award date and can only be exercised after the
expiration of a vesting period. The vesting period is a minimum of 2 years. Options that are not exercised
at the end of their term expire without substitution or compensation. Options may not be exercised in
the period extending from one month before the publication date of the relevant numbers listed in the
published financial calendar up to and including the first trading date after the official publication, as
well as during the period between the publication of the invitation to, and the date of, the ordinary
Annual General Meeting of the Company (“Blocking Period.”) For the remainder, the beneficiaries must
comply with the restrictions flowing from general laws and regulations, such as the German Securities
Trading Act [Wertpapierhandelsgesetz] (insider trading regulations.)
a) Performance target: The authoritative price for determining the performance target shall be the
opening price of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the date on which the option is exercised. The option can only be exercised if the opening price of the AURELIUS share on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the exercise date exceeds the exercise price by a minimum of 20 percent
(“Performance Target.”)
b) Exercise price: The exercise price for one AURELIUS share for the exercise of an option corresponds
to the arithmetic average of the opening prices of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange on the five trading dates on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange before the relevant option Award
Date. The minimum amount to be paid as the exercise price is the lowest issue amount within the
meaning of Section 9 (1) of the German Companies Act (AktG).
The terms and conditions for the options stipulate that the beneficiaries may, alternatively and at the
Company’s discretion, receive either shares held as treasury shares by the Company or a cash settlement
in lieu of AURELIUS shares from the Contingent Capital 2007/II created for this purpose. In the event of
a cash settlement, the amount paid out will be the difference between the exercise price and the opening price of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the date on which the option is
exercised. The decision what alternative will be offered to the beneficiaries in a specific case will be made
by the Supervisory Board to the extent that the beneficiaries are members of the Company’s
Management Board, or by the Management Board in all other cases.
:
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The measurement of the options was based on following underlying parameters:

Measurement date
Interest rate
Expected volatility

Cycle 1

Cycle 2

Cycle 3

Cycle 4

29/11/2007

15/4/2008

15/7/2008

15/10/2008

3.76%

3.58%

4.20%

3.78%

47.64%

46.08%

45.29%

46.54%

34,40

23,00

15,49

10,85

Closing price (in EUR)

Expected dividend payments
Year / in EUR

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Cycle 1

0,67

0,83

1,00

1,05

1,10

-/-

Cycle 2

0,15

0,35

0,55

0,60

0,63

-/-

Cycle 3

-/-

0,35

0,55

0,60

0,63

0,66

Cycle 4

-/-

0,35

0,55

0,60

0,63

0,66
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The expected volatility was derived from the price history of the AURELIUS share from 26 June 2006 forward as well as the share price performance history of comparable companies. The following options
had been granted as of the balance sheet date:
Cycle

Grant date

End of the
minimum
holding
period

Maturity

Exercise price Fair value per Number of
(Euro)
option(Euro)
Options

Fair value
(Euro)

Cycle 1

29/11/2007

28/11/2009

27/10/2012

31.63

12.63

24,300

306,909.00

Cycle 1

29/11/2007

28/11/2010

27/10/2012

31.63

13.03

12,150

158,314.50

Cycle 1

29/11/2007

28/11/2011

27/10/2012

31.63

13.26

12,150

161,109.00

Cycle 1

29/11/2007

28/5/2012

27/10/2012

31.63

13.36

12,150

162,324.00

Cycle 1

29/11/2007

2/1/2010

27/10/2012

31.63

12.69

25,000

317,250.00

Cycle 1

29/11/2007

2/1/2011

27/10/2012

31.63

13.07

25,000

326,750.00

Cycle 2

15/4/2008

14/4/2010

15/4/2013

23.24

8.07

3,950

31,876.50

Cycle 2

15/4/2008

14/4/2011

15/4/2013

23.24

8.36

1,975

16,511.00

Cycle 2

15/4/2008

14/4/2012

15/4/2013

23.24

8.54

1,975

16,866.50

Cycle 2

15/4/2008

14/10/2012

15/4/2013

23.24

8.55

1,975

16,886.25

Cycle 2

15/4/2008

14/4/2010

15/4/2013

23.24

8.07

1,250

10,087.50

Cycle 2

15/4/2008

14/4/2011

15/4/2013

23.24

8.36

1,250

10,450.00

Cycle 3

15/7/2008

14/7/2010

15/7/2013

16.47

4.68

6,000

28,080.00

Cycle 3

15/7/2008

14/7/2011

15/7/2013

16.47

4.81

3,000

14,430.00

Cycle 3

15/7/2008

14/7/2012

15/7/2013

16.47

4.89

3,000

14,670.00

Cycle 3

15/7/2008

14/1/2013

15/7/2013

16.47

4.94

3,000

14,820.00

Cycle 4

15/10/2008

14/10/2010

15/10/2013

11.20

6.43

10,000

64,300.00

Cycle 4

15/10/2008

14/10/2011

15/10/2013

11.20

6.49

5,000

32,450.00

Cycle 4

15/10/2008

14/10/2012

15/10/2013

11.20

6.48

5,000

32,400.00

Cycle 4

15/10/2008

14/4/2013

15/10/2013

11.20

6.50

5,000

32,500.00

163,125

1,768,984.25

In addition to the options described above, optional payments depending on the performance of the
Aurelius share have been agreed with one member of the Management Board as part of his remuneration. Since these rights have been individually structured in relation to the Company, they include a
number of special features in contrast to the standard options described above, which were taken into
account in the measurement of these options. The share-based remuneration of the Management
Board breaks down into two possible cash payments and a grant of up to 25,000 stock options under
the Stock Option Plan 2007. The amount of the cash payments will be determined by the performance
of the AURELIUS shares up until 30 April 2009 and 30 April 2010 respectively. The possible exercise of
the stock options under the Stock Option Plan 2007 is tied to the achievement of an absolute performance target. To this end, the opening price of the AURELIUS share on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on
the exercise date must exceed the exercise price of EUR 23.24 by a minimum of 20 percent. The grant
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date of the stock options is 15 April 2008; the maturity date is 15 April 2013. The fair value of the 25,000
stock options as at 31 December 2008 is EUR 186,871.10, on the basis of an interest rate of 2.28 percent.
With the exception of the options for one member of the Management Board as described above, the
SOP 2007 is defined as “equity settled” within the meaning of IFRS 2. Accordingly, the options in question are measured once as of their respective grant date. The corresponding personnel expense is amortized on a straight-line basis over the period until maturity and recognized as an addition to capital
reserves. The measurement is based on a binomial model. The share-based remuneration of the
Management Board is defined as “cash settled” pursuant to IFRS 2. They are measured as of the respective current reporting date. The corresponding personnel expense is adjusted accordingly, amortized
over the period until maturity and recognized as an addition to capital reserves. A Monte Carlo simulation is used for these measurements. In the financial year just ended, a total of EUR 695 thousand was
recognized as personnel expense and as a corresponding addition to capital reserves.
On the balance sheet date, all options granted were also outstanding. Any and all options may only be
exercised at the end of the minimum holding period. No options were therefore eligible to be exercised
on the balance sheet date. The measurement is based on a report from an independent expert.

5.7 Governing bodies of the Company
Management Board
The following persons make up the member of the Management Board:
•
•
•
•

Dr. Dirk Markus (Chair), Feldafing
Donatus Albrecht , Munich
Gert Purkert, Munich
Ulrich Radlmayr, Schondorf a. A.

The other governing roles and responsibilities of the Management Board members mainly encompass
their functions as Supervisory Board members, Management Board members or Managing Directors of
affiliated companies and/or subsidiaries of AURELIUS AG. The Management Board members specifically perform the following additional functions in controlling bodies within the meaning of Section 125
(1) sentence 3 AktG:
Dr. Dirk Markus
Supervisory Board appointments and appointments to controlling bodies within the meaning of
Section 125 (1) sentence 3 AktG:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Chair)
Berentzen Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselünne (as of 8 September 2008)
Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts, Saran/France
Investunity AG, Munich (Chair)
Lotus AG, Feldafing (Chair)
Quelle La Source SA, Saran/France
SMT Scharf AG, Hamm (Chair)
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Donatus Albrecht
Supervisory Board appointments and appointments to controlling bodies within the meaning of
Section 125 (1) sentence 3 AktG:
• Aurelius Industries AG, Munich
• Berentzen Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselünne (as of 8 September 2008)
• KDT Kommunikationstechnik Holding AG, Munich (Chair)
• Unicorn Beteiligungs AG, Munich
Gert Purkert
Supervisory Board appointments and appointments to controlling bodies within the meaning of
Section 125 (1) sentence 3 AktG:
• AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich
• AURELIUS Enterprises AG, Munich (Chair) (as of 6 July 2008)
• AURELIUS Enterprises Holding AG, Munich (Chair) (as of 6 August 2008)
• AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG, Munich (Chair) (as of 17 December 2008)
• Berentzen Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselünne (Chair) (as of 8 September 2008)
Ulrich Radlmayr
Supervisory Board appointments and appointments to controlling bodies within the meaning of
Section 125 (1) sentence 3 AktG:
• AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG, Munich (Deputy Chair)
• AURELIUS Enterprises AG, Munich (from 17 June 2008 until 16 July 2008)
• AURELIUS Enterprises Holding AG, Munich (Chair) (as of 18 December 2008)
• Berentzen Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft, Haselünne (as of 8 September 2008)
• Compagnie de Gestion et des Prêts, Saran/Frankreich (from 27 March 2008 until 8 October 2008)
• Quelle La Source SA, Saran/France
• SMT Scharf AG, Hamm
Supervisory Board
The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board in the 2008 financial year:
Dirk Roesing (Chair of the Supervisory Board)
Management Board member, Munich
Eugen Angster (Deputy Chair)
Management Board member, Munich
Sven Fritsche
Attorney at law, Munich
Supervisory Board appointments and appointments to other controlling bodies within the meaning of
Section 125 (1) sentence 3 AktG:
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Buchanan Capital Holding AG, Starnberg (until 5 Febuary 2008)
DKK Kautionsgemeinschaft AG, Munich (from 9 July 2008 until 27 November 2008)
Investunity AG, Munich)
Schöne Aussicht Liegenschaftsverwaltungs AG, Pöcking
SRI Holding, Kempten (from 5 November 2008 until 8 December 2008)
Wertgrund Immobilien AG, Starnberg

5.8 Remuneration report
Management and Supervisory Board Remuneration
In the financial year 2008, fixed, results-independent remuneration of the AURELIUS AG Management
Board amounted to EUR 120 thousand each for Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert, and 155 thousand each
for Donatus Albrecht and Ulrich Radlmayr. Besides the fixed remuneration in the financial year 2008,
two Management Board members also receive a variable remuneration amounting to EUR 2 thousand
for Ulrich Radlmayr and EUR 40 thousand for Donatus Albrecht. The two Management Board members,
Donatus Albrecht and Ulrich Radlmayr, participate in the AURELIUS Stock Option Plan ("SOP 2007“). A
more detailed description is available in the comments found under subheading 5.6 of the Notes. As at
31 December 2008, Donatus Albrecht’s current time value of stock options amounts to EUR 644 thousand and EUR 187 thousand for Ulrich Radlmayr. Moreover, Dr. Dirk Markus and Gert Purkert hold a significant percentage of the AURELIUS AG stock and are enjoying the value appreciation.
In the financial year 2008, the members of the Supervisory Board received fixed remuneration in the
amount of EUR 30 thousand, which was divided into three equal parts among the three members of
the Supervisory Board. Executive officers from AURELIUS AG’s parent and subsidiary companies were
guaranteed no advances and no credits; no securities or guarantees were assumed for these persons in
leadership.
Shares held by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board
The AURELIUS AG Management Board members’ direct and indirect holdings amount to 41.7 percent of
the stock issued. Of this amount, Dr. Dirk Markus accounts for 3,081,364 shares, direct and indirect, or
33.1 percent and Gert Purkert accounts for 770,014 shares, direct and indirect, or 8.3 percent.
Members of the Supervisory Board received 114,711 shares or 1.2 percent at the balance sheet date.
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5.9 Included companies
The subsidiaries and associated companies of AURELIUS are listed in the ownership list (annex 2).

5.10 Related party disclosures
According to IAS 24, closely related persons or closely affiliated companies are defined as those who can
be influenced by the reporting company or who can exercise influence on the company. These include
on one hand controlled, controlling or associated companies, and on the other, natural persons with significant voting power influence, members of management in key positions (Management Board and
Supervisory Board members) and their family members. IAS 24.10 requires disclosure of the economic
nature of such relationships and transactions.
From the viewpoint of AURELIUS, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of AURELIUS AG,
their family members and any companies exercising significant influence on these persons are among
the closely related persons or closely affiliated companies, in addition to the companies included in the
consolidated financial statements and those named in 5.9 in the Notes. This includes Investunity AG, in
which the [reporting] company also has a holding.
Dirk Roesing is the Chairman of AURELIUS AG’s Supervisory Board and amongst others the chairman of
the Management Board of SHS Viveon AG. SHS Viveon AG provided various consultation services to
CRM/Marketing Analysis for La Source SA, Saran France, during the financial year 2008 as a part of normal business activities. Revenues from these consultation services amount to EUR 147 thousand for the
past financial year. On the balance sheet date of 31 December 2008, there were no receivables from the
above-mentioned services. The contracts are commensurate with normal market conditions.
There was no significant business conducted between the company and the closely related persons in
the previous financial year.
Pursuant to Section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act and pursuant to Section 6.6 of the
German Corporate Governance Code, members of AURELIUS AG’s Management Board and Supervisory
Board report securities transactions involving AURELIUS’ stock on a voluntary basis. Moreover, security
transactions by closely related persons are to be reported. AURELIUS AG reported a total of three transactions in which a member of the Management Board acquired a total of 3,500 AURELIUS AG shares.
Pursuant to Section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act, AURELIUS AG announced this transaction
without delay on their website www.aureliusinvest.de.

5.11 Employees
AURELIUS employed an average of 3,160 employees in the financial year 2008 (previous year: 1,769
employees). 1,240 were hourly wage earners (previous year: 1,030 hourly wage earners) and 1,920 salaried
employees (previous year: 739 salaried employees). As at the balance sheet date of 31 December 2008,
the total number of employed persons amounted to 3,179 (previous year: 2,800 employees).

136

AURELIUS Annual Report 2008

Notes

5.12 Statement on the German Corporate Governance Code
AURELIUS AG is not listed on the stock exchange as set forth by the German Companies Act (compare
with subheading 1.1 of these Notes); however, it has volunteered to be subject to the regulations of the
German Corporate Governance Code. The Management Board and the Supervisory Board have accordingly submitted the declaration prescribed by Section 161 of the German Companies Acton 26
September 2008 and have made it permanently available to shareholders at www.aureliusinvest.de
and in the 2008 annual report. Any deviations from the German Corporate Governance Code have been
correspondingly documented and noted.

5.13 Information pursuant to § 160 Para. 1 No. 8 of the German Companies Act
In the financial year 2008, there were no reports made about exceeding or falling short of thresholds
for voting rights percentages pursuant to Section 20 of the German Companies Act. As reported last
year, Lotus AG stills holds more than 25 percent of the stock to AURELIUS AG.

5.14 Subsequent events
The AURELIUS Group signed contracts at the end of December on the acquisition of the biggest British
mail order bookseller called Book Club Associates (BCA) from Bertelsmann AG. This transaction closed
on 15 January 2009. Besides being a traditional book club with a general focus, Book Club Associates
combines six special book clubs that address different target groups. The company’s customer base currently amounts to around 700,000 members. In the financial year 2008, BCA’s revenue reached into
middle double-digitmillions and were generated exclusively within the club model.
AURELIUS Group signed contracts at the end of December on the acquisition of the trade and component parts business marketed under "Blaupunkt“ from the Car Multimedia business unit of Robert
Bosch GmbH. The closing took place on 9 March 2009. The trade and component parts business should
be managed in the future as an independent company group under the well-known, traditional brand
Blaupunkt and be positioned as a specialist in the field of "Car Infotainment“. Blaupunkt’s palette of
products includes car radios, car hi-fi components and the latest navigation equipment. This field of
business achieved sales revenue of around EUR 200 million in the previous financial year.
At the beginning of January, AURELIUS Group acquired one of the leading IT service providers for SAP
and individual systems in Germany, the Thales Information Systems GmbH, from the French parent
company Thales. The closing took place on 31 January 2009. Thales Information Systems GmbH is
among the premium SAP systems integrators in Germany; and has more than 250 employees and well
over one hundred successfully completed SAP projects. In the financial year 2008, the company made
a total revenue of around EUR 50 million. Thales Information Systems GmbH’s customers are German
and international companies in the engineering, automotive, financial, transportation and logistics
sectors.
With a group of investors, the AURELIUS Group acquired the LD Didactic Group mid-January 2009. LD
Didactic Group is one of the market’s leading providers of teaching materials in the natural sciences.
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Effective on 1 January 2009, AURELIUS acquired 20 percent of the company’s stock. AURELIUS acquired
the remaining 80 percent of the stock on 3 March 2009, subsequent to the anti-trust clearance on 28
February. LD Didactic Group’s main specialities are in development, production and sales of laboratory
furniture, laboratory systems and specialized journals in the natural sciences and technology. In the
financial year 2008, LD Didactic Group made revenue from sales of around EUR 40 million.
On 5 February 2009, AURELIUS announced the temporary withdrawal from discussions with ARQUES
Industries AG, Starnberg, regarding a possible combination of their activities. Due to the dissolution of
the investor group, AURELIUS reported on 6 February 2009 that their percentage of voting rights in
Arquest Industries AG fell below the threshold of five percent and three percent.
On 13 February 2009, KTDaythea Kommunkationstechnik GmbH filed to institute insolvency proceedings at the district court in Charlottenburg. The insolvency lawyer stated that business activities could
be maintained at least until 30 April 2009. The bankruptcy results from the failure of negotiations on
financing solutions integrating all involved parties. Pursuant to IFRS 5, KTDaythea Kommunikationstechnik GmbH is shown in AURELIUS AG’s consolidated financial statements as a discontinued business
activity.
Also on 13 February, AURELIUS announced that the increasing economic crisis in the past months has
led to a significant fall of revenue for Pohland Herrenkleidung resulting in exhaustion of any restructuring gains. The company was sold on 27 February in the course of a management buyout to men’sfashion & lifestyle GmbH in Cologne.
On 25 February 2009, AURELIUS acquired the remaining 30 percent of company stock in Wellman
International. Since then, it has been a full subsidiary of the AURELIUS company.

5.15 Release of the consolidated financial statements pursuant to IAS 10.17
On 19 March 2009, the Management Board released the current consolidated financial statements for
publication.
Munich, 19 March 2009
Dr. Dirk Markus
Chairman of the Management Board

Donatus Albrecht
Management Board Member

Gert Purkert
Management Board Member

Ulrich Radlmayr
Management Board Member
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Statement of fixed assets 2008
Historical costs
in EUR thousand

Commissions, trade marks and
similar rights and securities

As at
1 January
2008

Discontinued
operations

Continued
operations

Additions to
group of
consolidated
companies

Additions

Disposals

Reclassifications

Foreign currency
translation

7,827

385

7,442

28,887

415

-213

-/-

335

569

-/-

569

197

325

-/-

-/-

-/-

9,537

-/-

9,537

8,837

967

-145

-/-

511

23

-/-

23

-/-

628

-87

-/-

3

Total intangible assets

17,956

385

17,571

37,921

2,335

-445

-/-

849

Land, equivalent titles

6,182

-/-

6,182

3,257

4

-101

-/-

-7

Buildings including
buildings on leased land

29,649

9,983

19,666

14,033

700

-509

-/-

-173

Technical systems, plant and machinery

40,042

450

39,592

21,780

4,410

-2,166

61

-11

Other tools and equipment,
office fixtures

40,920

10,633

30,287

7,063

9,971

-7,999

65

48

Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Downpayments

Paid downpayments
and construction in progress

1.311

-/-

1,311

-/-

-/-

-672

-126

3

Total property, plant and equipment

118,104

21,066

97,038

46,133

15,085

-11,447

-/-

-140

Shares in associated companies

20,340

-/-

20,340

7,147

8,495

-9,199

-/-

-/-

110

-/-

110

1,288

529

-741

-/-

-/-

20,450

-/-

20,450

8,435

9,024

-9,940

-/-

-/-

Other financial assets
Total financial assets
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Depreciation & amortization
As at 31
December
2008

As at
1 January
2008

Discontinued
operations

Continued
operations

Additions

Impairment
test (IAS 36)

Disposals

Foreign
currency
translation

As at
31 December
2008

Carrying
amounts

36,866

-1.441

-354

-1,087

-1,827

-/-

-/-

-480

-3.394

33.472

1.091

-/-

-/-

-/-

-4

-/-

-/-

-/-

-4

1.087

19,707

-2,109

-48

-2,061

-2,998

-/-

100

-28

-4.987

14.720

567

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

567

58,231

-3,550

-402

-3,148

-4,829

-/-

100

-508

-8.385

49.845

9,335

-315

-/-

-315

-12

-/-

1

-/-

-326

9.009

33,717

-9,584

-3,985

-5,599

-1,219

-/-

-/-

43

-6.775

26.942

63,666

-13,672

-321

-13,351

-6,806

-1,949

1,905

5

-20.196

43.470

39,435

-20,823

-6,814

-14,009

-5,536

-18

6,471

5

-13.087

26.348

516

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

516

146,669

-44,394

-11,120

-33,274

-13,573

-1,967

8,377

53

-40.384

106.285

26,783

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-4,135

-/-

-/-

-4.135

22.648

1,186

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

1.186

27,969

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-4,135

-/-

-/-

-4.135

23.834
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Statement of fixed assets 2007
Historical costs
in EUR thousand

Commissions, trade marks and
similar rights and securities

As at
1 January
2007

Discontinued
operations

Continued
operations

Additions to
group of
consolidated
companies

Additions

Disposals

As at
31 December
2007

902

421

481

7,265

90

-9

7,827

2,089

1,520

569

-/-

-/-

-/-

569

Other intangible assets

3,519

2,009

1,510

8,409

241

-600

9,560

Total intangible assets

6,510

3,950

2,560

15,674

331

-609

17,956

Land, equivalent titles

4,834

2,703

2,131

4,051

-/-

-/-

6,182

Goodwill

Buildings including
buildings on leased land

20,476

10,255

10,221

19,441

36

-49

29,649

Technical systems, plant and machinery

20,813

12,207

8,606

31,324

1,137

-1,025

40,042

Other tools and equipment, office fixtures

18,753

2,272

16,481

22,872

10,792

-9,225

40,920

368

368

-/-

1,062

266

-17

1,311

65,244

27,805

37,439

78,750

12.231

-10,316

118,104

Paid downpayments and
construction in progress
Total property, plant and equipment

Shares in associated companies
Other financial assets
Total financial assets

11

-/-

11

17,890

2,439

-/-

20,340

-/-

-/-

-/-

577

-/-

-467

110

11

-/-

11

18,467

2,439

-467

20,450
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Depreciation & amortization
in EUR thousand

As at
1 January
2007

Discontinued
operations

Continued
operations

Additions to
group of
consolidated
companies

Additions

Disposals

As at
31 December
2007

Carrying
amounts

Commissions, trade marks and
similar rights and securities

-741

-350

-391

-984

-72

6

-1.441

6,386

Goodwill

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

569

Other intangible assets

-133

-54

-79

-1,656

-968

593

-2,109

7,451

Total intangible assets

-874

-404

-470

-2,640

-1,040

599

-3,550

14,405

Land, equivalent titles

-153

-39

-114

-200

-2

-/-

-315

5,867

Buildings including
buildings on leased land

-6,444

-1,621

-4,823

-4,329

-476

43

-9,584

20,065

Technical systems, plant and machinery

-16,251

-9,699

-6,552

-5,215

-2,800

895

-13,672

26,370

Other tools and equipment, office fixtures

-11,578

-1,968

-9,610

-13,734

-3,662

6,184

-20,823

20,097

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

1,311

-34,426

-13,327

-21,099

-23,478

-6,940

7,122

-44,394

73,710

Shares in associated companies

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

20,340

Other financial assets

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

110

Total financial assets

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

-/-

20,450

Paid downpayments and
construction in progress
Total property, plant and equipment
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Ownership list
Company

Registered office

Currency

Interest in
%
Incl.
management

Equity 2

Net
profit 2

Excl.
management

AURELIUS Activity Invest GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

25

-/-

AURELIUS Asset Development GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

62

37

AURELIUS Beteiligungsberatungs AG

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

62

23

AURELIUS Beteiligungsholding GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

90,01

51

32

AURELIUS Commercial Investments GmbH

Munich

EUR

70,00

70,00

-110

-367

AURELIUS Corporate Development GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

-1

AURELIUS Corporate Holding GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

-3.271

-3.296

AURELIUS Enterprises AG

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

48

-2

AURELIUS Enterprises Holding AG

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

48

-2

Aurelius Industriebeteiligungen GmbH
(future: WVC Holding GmbH)

Munich

EUR

100,00

90,00

96

38

Aurelius Industriekapital GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

3.307

1.126

Aurelius Industries AG

Munich

EUR

100,00

95,25

34

-219

AURELIUS Information Technology GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

94,00

1.007

982

(future: Pohland Beteiligungsholding GmbH)

Munich

EUR

100,00

92,00

-1.012

-1.044

AURELIUS Logistik Holding GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

1.049

-56

Aurelius Managment GmbH (in liquidation)

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

153

124

AURELIUS Media Holding GmbH
(future: RSG Media Holding GmbH)

Munich

EUR

100,00

90,00

-60

-34

AURELIUS Opportunity Development GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

-607

-657

Aurelius Investbeteiligungen GmbH

AURELIUS Portfolio Management AG

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

49

-1

AURELIUS Strategy Holding GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

50

-/-

Aurelius Value Development GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

25

-/-

Aurelius Value Holding GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

1.017

198

Aurelius Wertbeteiligungen GmbH
(future: WVC Beteiligungs GmbH)

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

523

466

BD Beverage Distribution GmbH
(previously: AURELIUS Germany Invest GmbH)

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

17

-6

BD Active Beverage Distribution GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

2.529

4

Berentzen Distillers International GmbH

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

71

-125
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Registered office

Currency

Interest in
%
Incl.
management

Equity 2

Net
profit 2

Excl.
management

Berentzen Distillers CR spol. s.r.o.

Slapanice u Burna / Czech Republic

CZK

100,00

100,00

54.356

5.924

Berentzen Distillers Slovakia s.r.o.

Bratislava / Slovakia

SKK

100,00

100,00

14.773

4.276

Berentzen-Gruppe Aktiengesellschaft

Haselünne

EUR

52,49

52,49

48.486

-27.613

connectis AG
(previously: sunrise business communications AG) Zürich / Switzerland

CHF

100,00

100,00

17.810

40.184

Der Berentzen Hof GmbH 3

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

26

-/-

Flensburg

EUR

100,00

100,00

2.482

-/-

DFA Beteiligungs GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

147

-95

DFA - Budowa Srodowisko Logistyka Sp.z.o.o.

Gorzów Wielkopolski / Poland

EUR

100,00

99,00

13

-/-

DFA GmbH

Langenstein / Austria

EUR

100,00

90,50

322

115

DFA Transport und Logistik GmbH

Ronneburg

EUR

100,00

90,50

857

339

DFA Verwaltungs GmbH

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

23

-1

Die Stonsdorferei W. Koerner GmbH & Co. KG 1

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

1

-/-

Doornkaat AG 3

Norden

EUR

100,00

100,00

56

-/-

London / United Kingdom

GBP

100,00

100,00

-/-

-/-

E+A Hotel GmbH

Bonn

EUR

100,00

100,00

163

146

EINHORN Mode Manufaktur
Beteiligungs GmbH

Kirchentellinsfurt

EUR

100,00

100,00

17

-/-

EINHORN Mode Manufaktur GmbH & Co. KG

Kirchentellinsfurth

EUR

100,00

100,00

565

60

EINHORN Service GmbH

Kirchentellinsfurth

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

-1

EUROPEAN DIRECT SALES GROUP SAS
(previously: Quelle SAS)

Saran / France

EUR

100,00

100,00

34.797

-9.394

London / United Kingdom
(previously: Mullagh / Ireand)

GBP

100,00

100,00

118

83

GHOTEL Deutschland GmbH

Bonn

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

-1

GHOTEL Germany GmbH

Bonn

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

-1

GHOTEL GmbH

Bonn

EUR

100,00

83,00

1.490

-16

GHOTEL Hotel und Boardinghaus
Deutschland GmbH

Bonn

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

-1

Grüneberger Spirituosen
und Getränkegesellschaft mbH 1

Grüneberg

EUR

100,00

100,00

26

-/-

Dethleffsen Spirituosen GmbH

3

Double Q Whiskey Company Ltd.

1

FIBRES Finance Ltd.

3
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Excl.
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HWD Druck GmbH

Düren

EUR

100,00

100,00

62

-3

IMS Infrastruktur & Montageservice GmbH

Leipzig

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

-67

Jürgen Weber Gesellschaft
mit beschränkter Haftung 1

3

Elsfleth

EUR

100,00

100,00

26

-/-

Kornbrennerei Berentzen GmbH 1

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

47

1

KTDaythea Kommunikationstechnik GmbH

Berlin

EUR

100,00

100,00

515

-2.100

KTD Kommunikationstechnik Holding AG

Munich

EUR

100,00

95,01

-182

-246

Elsfleth

EUR

100,00

100,00

26

-/-

Dublin / Ireland

EUR

100,00

100,00

-37

-32

Berlin

EUR

100,00

100,00

27

1

Arnheim / Netherlands
(previously: Tolkamer / Netherlands)

EUR

100,00

100,00

1.002

91

MSK Kommunikationstechnik GmbH

Karlstein am Main

EUR

100,00

75,20

-58

-83

MSL Kommunikationstechnik GmbH

Lehrte

EUR

100,00

75,20

-39

-64

MSW Kommunikationstechnik GmbH

Wiesmühl

EUR

100,00

75,20

-19

-44

NE Ventures Holdings Limited

Dublin / Ireland

EUR

100,00

100,00

-5

-/-

Elsfleth

EUR

100,00

100,00

26

-/-

Elsfleth

EUR

100,00

100,00

33

-/-

LANDWIRTH`S GmbH

1 3

MAAFS Limited
Mampe - Markenvertrieb GmbH

1

MJR BV

Noris Weinbrennereien GmbH 1

3

Pabst & Richarz Vertriebs GmbH
Pierre Louge & Cie. GmbH

1 3

1 3

Elsfleth

EUR

100,00

100,00

26

-/-

Pohland Herrenbekleidungs GmbH & Co. KG

Cologne

EUR

100,00

100,00

6.941

-3.778

Pohland Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Cologne

EUR

100,00

100,00

33

-/-

Berlin

EUR

100,00

100,00

31

-/-

Quelle La Source SA

Saran / France

EUR

99,99

99,99

9.785

-11.124

Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co. KG

Krefeld

EUR

100,00

100,00

558

36

Richard Scherpe GmbH & Co. KG

Düren

EUR

100,00

100,00

-632

-232

Norderstedt

EUR

100,00

100,00

-424

-441

Puschkin International GmbH

1

Richard Scherpe Grafische Betriebe GmbH
Rumhaus Hansen GmbH & Co. KG

1

Flensburg

EUR

100,00

100,00

1

-/-

Schabmüller GmbH

Berching

EUR

100,00

80,01

4.050

2.340

Schabmüller s.r.o.

Asch / Czech Republic

CZK

100,00

100,00

-4.396

-2.998

Scherpe Verwaltung GmbH

Krefeld

EUR

100,00

100,00

41

-/-

Schleicher Electronic SRL

Mailand / Italy

EUR

100,00

100,00

12

2

Schleicher Electronic GmbH & Co. KG

Berlin

EUR

100,00

100,00

424

5

Schleicher Electronic Verwaltungs-GmbH

Berlin

EUR

100,00

100,00

30

-/-
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Excl.
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Schloß Löwenberg Mineralbrunnen GmbH 1

Grüneberg

EUR

100,00

100,00

15

-/-

SE Berlin Beteiligungs-GmbH

Berlin

EUR

100,00

100,00

31

-/-

SE Berlin Grundstücksverwaltung
GmbH & Co. KG

Berlin

EUR

100,00

100,00

499

-2

Sechsämtertropfen G. Vetter Spolka z.o.o.

Jelenia Gora / Poland

PLN

100,00

100,00

-/-

-/-

Kaiserslautern

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

1

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

45

2

Unicorn Beteiligungs AG

Munich

EUR

100,00

90,01

20

-22

Vandicon Limited

Dublin / Ireland

EUR

100,00

100,00

495

405

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

2.968

1.523

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

160

10

Wellman France SARL

Verdun / France

EUR

100,00

100,00

1.235

133

Wellman International
Handelsgesellschaft mbH

Dortmund

EUR

100,00

100,00

-12

39

Dublin / Ireland
(previously: Mullagh / Irland)

EUR

100,00

100,00

22.845

-4.629

SM Elektrosysteme GmbH
Strothmann Spirituosen Verwaltung GmbH

Vivaris Getränke GmbH & Co. KG
Vivaris Getränke Verwaltung GmbH

1

Wellman International Ltd.

1

Wellman International Trading Ltd.

Dublin / Ireland
(previously: Mullagh / Ireland)

EUR

100,00

100,00

23.215

625

Wellman International Trustees Staff Ltd.

Dublin / Ireland
(previously: Mullagh / Ireland)

EUR

100,00

100,00

3

-/-

Wellman International Trustees Works Ltd.

Dublin / Ireland
(previously: Mullagh / Ireland)

EUR

100,00

100,00

3

-/-

Wellman Recycling Branch of WILL

Arnheim / Niederlande
(previously: Mullagh / Ireland)

EUR

100,00

100,00

-/-

-/-

Wellman Recycling UK Ltd.

Bradford / United Kingdom

GBP

100,00

100,00

-/-

-/-

Westfalia Van Conversion GmbH

Rheda-Wiedenbrück

EUR

100,00

100,00

1.259

496

Winterapfel Getränke GmbH 1

Haselünne

EUR

100,00

100,00

26

-/-

WVC Einkaufs- und Vertriebs GmbH

Rheda-Wiedenbrück

EUR

100,00

100,00

24

-1

WVC Service GmbH

Rheda-Wiedenbrück

EUR

100,00

100,00

21

-3

Kloster Zinna

EUR

100,00

100,00

28

-/-

3

Zinnaer Klosterspirituosen GmbH

3
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Associated companies
Compagnie de Gestion et des Prets

Saran / France

EUR

34,90

34,90

50.000

5.675

DERET e. QLS SAS

Saran / France

EUR

49,00

49,00

100

-/-

DMS Digitaler Medienservice GmbH

Norderstedt

EUR

50,00

50,00

169

37

Freiherr v. Cramm Brennereigut
Harbarnsen GmbH 1 3

Harbarnsen

EUR

48,00

48,00

26

-/-

GBS + QLS SAS

Paris / France

EUR

49,00

49,00

-207

-244

RH Retail Holding GmbH

Munich

EUR

24,80

24,80

178

-12

Munich

EUR

100,00

95,00

-21

-46

Cologne (future: Hanover)

EUR

100,00

100,00

8.103

-/-

Hanover

EUR

100,00

100,00

25

-/-

Munich

EUR

100,00

100,00

25

-/-

Monheim am Rhein (future: Munich)

EUR

100,00

90,00

6

-17

- Mode & Preis Versandhandels GmbH Lörrach

EUR

100,00

100,00

7.878

-426

- AURELIUS Asset Invest GmbH
(future: M&P Service GmbH)

Munich (previously: Lörrach)

EUR

100,00

97,50

209

185

- Mode & Preis GmbH

St. Gallen / Switzerland

CHF

100,00

100,00

13

-430

- Mode & Prix SARL (in liquidation)

Schiltigheim / France

EUR

100,00

100,00

-/-

-/-

- Moda Plus Sp. z.o.o. (in liquidation)

Posen / Poland

PLN

100,00

100,00

207

-/-

- Moda Plus d.o.o. (in liquidation)

Maribor / Slovenia

EUR

100,00

100,00

-91

-230

- Moda Plus s.r.o.

Hradec Králové / Czech Republic

CZK

100,00

100,00

280

-164

Bratislava / Slovakia

SKK

100,00

100,00

179

-55

Oslo / Norway

NOK

26,90

26,90

-/-

-/-

- AURELIUS Equity Development GmbH
- RTL SHOP GmbH
(future: Channel 21 GmbH)

3

- Asia Sourcing GmbH
- Channel 21 Broadcasting GmbH
- Fashion Retail Holding GmbH
(previously: AURELIUS Retail Holding GmbH)

- Moda Prima s.r.o.
Sucra AS (in liquidation) 1

The information on equity and earnings depend in part on unaudited financial statements and relate to the most
recent available annual financial statements.
1

) These companies are not consolidated for reasons of materiality.
) Amounts given in thousand monetary units of the local currency
3
) No information provided because of profit & loss transfer agreement
2

EUR
CHF
SKK
CZK
GBP
PLN
NOK

Euro
Swiss franc
Slovak koruna
Czech koruna
Pound sterling
Polish zloty
Norwegian krone
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Independent Auditors’ Report
We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by AURELIUS AG, Munich, – com-prising the income statement, the balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equityand the notes to the consolidated financial statements – and the group management report for the
business year from 1 January to 31 December 2008. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law
pursuant to Section 315a(1) HGB (“German Commercial Code”) and supplementary provisions of the
arti-cles of incorporation are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
ex-press an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report
based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 317 HGB
and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that
misstate-ments materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of
opera-tions in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the appli¬cable financial
reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance.
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures.
The effective-ness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are
examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the
annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities
to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Our audit has not led to any reservations except for the following: contrary to IFRS No. 3 entity-specific
disclosures on the entitites acquired were not made.
In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements of AURELIUS
AG, Munich, with the above exceptions, comply with IFRS, as adopted by the EU, the additional re-quirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315a Abs. 1 HGB and supplementary provisions
of the articles of incorporation and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The group management report
is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the
Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.
Munich, 26 March 2009
Deloitte & Touche GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
(Aumann)
Wirtschaftsprüfer
German Public Auditor

(Hager)
Wirtschaftsprüfer
German Public Auditor
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